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1. Corporate Policy 
 

 

Rural Bank of San Mateo (Isabela), Inc. continues to be the most trusted bank in the 

locality and the neighboring towns of San Mateo and in the Region. For the past 59 years, 

the bank’s commitment to the community has always been the best service to its 

clientele. We serve because we care. 
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THE RBSMI VISION STATEMENT 

 

“A market leader in the Region committed to provide quality financial products and 

services through digital advancement for the benefit of its stakeholders. 

 

 

THE RBSMI MISSION STATEMENT 

 

A dynamic Rural Bank in the Region that uplifts the lives of its stakeholders; 

- By providing topnotch financial products and services; 

- By delivering the best customer service with the aid of technological 

advancement; 

- By empowering its personnel through capacity building and promoting overall 

wellness; 

- By strengthening its internal control processes; 

- By initiating a responsive and holistic Corporate Social Responsibility Program; 

and 

- By providing value for its stockholders 

 

 

THE RBSMI CORE VALUES 

 

Christ-centered 

Professionalism 

Resourcefulness 

Dedication     

 Pro-Active    

Teamwork 

 

 

THE BANK’S BRAND AND BUSINESS MODEL 

 

“Ang Inyong Kabalikat sa Pag-Unlad” 

 

 Rural Bank of San Mateo (Isabela), Inc. is focused on providing high quality and 

responsive financial products to its clients within the Cagayan Valley Region. We 

contribute to the local economy by providing credit facilities to constituents.  

 

 Deposit-wise, we offer various deposit products according to the needs of its 

clients, both young and old. The Bank also facilitates real-time transactions through 

partnership with a digital technology platform. 
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  Certainly, in entering the 2nd year of this global pandemic, the rural 

economy, and thereby the bank, faced challenges as some business sectors 
struggled to make it through the extended period of lockdowns and business 

interruptions.. Our many years of operations, however, have taught us 
resilience and grit. Our depositors continued to show confidence in us and 
we expect a rebound in growth for 2022 as the economy picks up.  
 
 Last month, the bank concluded our Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 
examination. Thank you shareholders, by the way, for being flexible and 
allowing us to move the date of the annual meeting in order to 
accommodate the examination. At our exit conference with Bangko 
Sentral, the examiners repeatedly noted the significant improvements 

made in the bank’s procedures and policies, which we are quite proud of. 
In truth, this has been a continuing work of the Board especially this past 

year. There have been many updates to the Bank’s operation manuals, most 
recently in the Risk Management System and Internal Audit manuals for 

instance, bringing them in line with the latest guidelines set forth by the Bangko 
Sentral.  

 
 On another note, the Board is very happy to announce despite the slowdown in the economy last year, the 
bank earned a Net Income of P 11 Million, the bank will distribute P 4 million in dividends this year. As we continue to 
grow, we intend to increase future dividend distributions as well. 
 
 Lastly, and President Trina will elaborate on this later, the bank hit its goal of P1 billion in assets in 2021, a 
major milestone in the rural banking industry. We can now call ourselves a billion-peso bank! 
 
 So, we went through a tough year together, but we forged ahead and didn’t stop. With most forecasts pointing 
to a stronger economy, we are poised for more robust performance next year. Mark Victor Hansen, co-author of the 
Chicken Soup for the Soul series said, “Put your future in good hands – your own.” We are building on a foundation of 
60 years of hard work put in by Papa and Mama, Tito Dodo and his family, Tito Nel, and other esteemed directors, and 
the future now lies in our hands. May we build strong and may we build well.  
 
 Thank you for your support. 
  
       PATRICIA ROSARIO MARIA G. REMIJAN 
         Chairperson of the Board 
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 In 2021, we have seen our global economic recovery continues even as 

the Covid 19 remained. Despite this condition and threat, we kept defying the odds 

by being steadfast and resilient in serving our customers who bank with us as 

we bank on them.   

With our vision, mission and core values in mind, we took a Bold 

Step by building up our agricultural and commercial loans where we 

surprisingly became a market favorite while at the same time lever the pale 

performance of other loan products. These loan types substantially 

contributed to the 96% accomplishment rate in our loan portfolio. 

Our net income before income tax of P 17.817 million was 

considered acceptable and respectable during this pandemic; however, we 

managed to maintain a portfolio with lower non-performing loans increasing 

our chance of improving our earning assets in subsequent years. Across our 

balance sheet, we saw favorable results as exemplified by our good financial 

indicators.  

As we navigate through our business, numerous changes in the Bank’s operations and support systems were 

implemented not because they are alternatives but are vital to improve customer service and retention, enhance 

financial performance and be protected to regulatory attacks. We need to embrace these changes in the new normal 

economy to sustain our operations. 

Despite the various challenges in the Banking Industry, the Board of Directors, Management and Staff of 

RBSMI are confident to see the silver lining as we tread to our Financial Roadmap. As of December 2021, the Bank’s 

5-year Strategic Goal to reach P1.00 billion resources came to reality. This significant milestone is an indication of 

established customer’s trust and confidence in our products and services as we drive across a crowded market. This 

milestone made our position that there is no other way but to go up by increasing assets and strengthening our capital 

but cautioning ourselves that it is not a God-given right that, because you achieve something, you will achieve them 

again. Past performance does not guarantee future results thus we remained watchful not to fall into a trap of the risks 

of being overconfident.   

Moving forward, RBSMI intends to meet its aspirations, maintain a competitive edge through digital 

transformations and provide better customer service. 

The foregoing is a testament to the management ability to transform the company to a different business 

landscape.  As we mentioned in our Financial Roadmap, we keep on looking on what makes us good as a company 

rather than focusing on competitors. 

“Success is not final, failure is not Fatal; it is the courage to continue that counts” - Winston Churchill 

KATRINA MARIE P. PILAPIL 

                          President-CEO 
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2. Financial Summary 
 

    
2021 

  
2020 

  Profitability 

  Net Interest Income 70,090,467 62,901,324 

  Total Non-Interest Income 19,197,516 9,049,973 

  Total Non-Interest Expense 72,509,498 56,293,582 

  Pre-Provision profit 28,844,787 15,657,715 

  Provision for credit losses 17,752,036  4,218,881 

  Net Income 11,092,751 11,438,834 

    

Selected Balance Sheet data   

  Liquid Assets 406,612,894 394,934,965 

  Gross Loans 622,304,763 570,527,961 

  Total Assets       1,055,913,334  985,479,546 

  Deposits 880,884,087 820,758,721 

  Total equity 146,380,880 133,804,608 

      

Selected Ratios   

  Return on Equity 8.12% 8.79% 

  Return on Assets 1.12% 1.23% 

  CAR 14.69% 15.73% 
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS  
(in millions of pesos) 
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3. Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

 

a. Review of the bank’s operations and result of operations for the 

financial year including details and explanations for any significant 

change during the year 

 

The 2020 pandemic has brought many uncertainties especially in the economy and the 

way we live. Nonetheless, we are still grateful that the Bank’s Total assets showed a stable 

growth from 886 million in 2019 to 986 Million in 2020 and 1.086 billion in 2021. 

The growth is driven by the increase in Loan Portfolio, the biggest asset of the Bank which 

comprises 54% of the Total Assets. 

The Bank’s Target Loan Portfolio for 2021 is P649 million however actual accomplishment 

is P 622 million only. But there are various approved loan accounts not yet released as of 

2021 amounting to P 58 million. The 96% accomplishment rate on Loan Portfolio is still 

commendable considering the challenges we have encountered for the past years. One 

of these challenges is the mandatory lockdowns which prevented us from implementing 

market saturation thereby shifting to social media platforms as a means of advertisement.  

For 2021, the Lending Department focused on Agricultural Loan and Commercial Loan 

Products as they are deemed more saleable and profitable. However, due diligence was 

strictly done in to determine credit capacity of borrowers and to comply with internal 

and regulatory limits. 

The Bank’s Total Liabilities was also on upward trajectory from 757 million in 2019 to 849 

million in 2020 up to 912 million in 2021. From these figures, we can clearly see that we are 

highly leveraged. 

The biggest composition in the Total Liabilities is the Deposit Liabilities which comprises 

96%. Our projected reduction in the deposit level did not materialize we opened 52 

million new deposits with 843 counts.  

Actual Deposit level as of 2021 amounting to 880 million was higher by 57 million over the 

2021 budget guidance of 823 million.  The Special Savings Deposit decreased of 108 

million was due to transfer to Regular Savings Deposit. 

These deposit funds was used to finance lending activities and some went to investing 

activities, thus our liquidity position improved further. 
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Total Equity shot from 129 million in 2019 to 137 million in 2020 up to 143 million in 2021. 70% 

of the Total equity is the Retained Earnings that also showed an 8% increase from 92 

million in 2020 to 100 million this 2021. 

Due to revenue earned from disposing the ROPA account of J.Lidang property in 2019, 

with gross income of 93 million was higher than in 2020’s Gross income of 81 million. Actual 

Gross Income in 2021’s P96 Million was also higher than the target of P 85 Million.  

Major factors contributing to the higher Gross Income is the amount recovered from 

Insurance Company amounting to 7 million previously booked as expense. Also, some 

loan accounts with downgraded Allowance Credit Losses rate caused higher amount of 

Recovery.  

Although the actual accomplishment in Gross Income was higher than the target, 

significant amount came not from bank operations but from extraordinary items. This 

indicator is a misaligned patchwork where management should focus on improving the 

Lending Operations as a major source of operating revenue. 

Actual cost incurred in 2021 amounting to 72 million is higher than the actual cost incurred 

in 2020 amounting to 70 million and  lower than the targeted cost of 86 Million in 2021.  

The sudden increase in cost utilization is caused by a non-operating expense. Actual cost 

incurred on Provision is 16 million higher than what was targeted, for conservatism 

purposes the bank decided to record in full its staggered booking of ACL amounting to 

3.1 million and additional provision for various borrowers with credit impaired accounts.  

As a result, actual net income for 2021 is 10.383 million. Considering all the challenges we 

have encountered for the past two years we are still grateful to achieve this figure to 

support our operations. However, we need to strive more to continuously enhance our 

operations especially on utilizing efficiently and appropriately our resources while 

considering all the inherent risks involved.   
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Financial Ratios 

The Bank’s net interest margin as of 2021 is slightly higher 7.22%  than 2020 ratio of 7.10%. 

, while the percentage of other income to total revenue of 19.38% in 2021 is higher than 

in 2020’s figure of 11.07%. Other income growth was up to 105.89% while cost to income 

ratio is almost 80%. This is one of the challenges that the Bank needs to address to 

enhance profitability growth. Due to higher provision recorded in 2021, the Bank’s net 

profit of 10.383 million is lower than last year’s figure of 11.438 million resulting to a -21.37% 

net profit growth. The RBSMI team will do a lot better this next year 2022. 

The Bank’s target for Loan to deposit ratio should be at least 80%, however due to the 

sudden increase in deposit level only 70% of these funds was utilized in lending operations. 

Non-performing Loans for 2021 is now 11.09%. The remedial department has already 

formulated a comprehensive plan how to reduce this figure. 

The Bank’s Capital Adequacy Ratio, the indicator of bank’s financial strength, has 15.75% 

figure in 2021. This is 5.75% higher than the required BSP rate of 10%. 

Liquidity has never been the bank’s concern for the past years. In 2021, we have 46.16% 

liquidity ratio which indicates that we have the capability to meet all maturing 

obligations. 

Return on Asset ratio is 1.02% in 2021 compared to the Industry’s rate of and slightly lower 

than in 2020’s figure of 1.41% since we missed also our target in net income. 

Return on Equity of 7.40% is also lower than last year’s rate of 9.91%. 

Last year’s performance may not be perfect as it seems, but we must be grateful that 

despite the various obstacles we have encountered, we remained steadfast in pursuing 

our mission and vison as a financial institution. The trust and confidence of the clients in 

our products and services is continuously improving.  Hopefully with the end of this 

PANDEMIC  the RBSMI team assures a better 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  P a g e  11 |Annual Report 2021 

 

 

b. Highlights of major activities during the year that impact operations 

 

2021 is another remarkable year; the extensive social and economic impacts of the 

COVID-19 pandemic in the banking industry has now come to reality. Though this year 

has brought numerous unprecedented events, we aspire that, by strengthening our 

foundation, we can turn the obstacles to opportunities and growth; both personal and 

for business progress. 

At the first quarter of the year, a key event took place with the merger of the Department 

and the Risk Management Unit, retaining the Chief Compliance Officer as the lead 

officer of the unit. We were able to cope and adjust easily with the new environment as 

the former RMU Head is accustomed to the function of the Compliance Office.  

Our main goal for 2021 is to strengthen the bank’s compliance risk management 

framework by having a pro-active and independent compliance office. This was 

achieved by first amending and enhancing the Bank’s Compliance Manual. The 

Compliance Program for 2021 was also set and duly approved by the Board of Directors. 

The Program defines the Compliance Office’ schedule of compliance testing for 2021 

plans for enhancing and developing the bank’s manuals and creating an atmosphere 

of first-hand compliance within each units and departments. 

One of our objectives is to assist in strengthening the Bank’s Corporate Governance 

Structure. Through this, we sought for the BSP confirmation of the Internal Audit 

Department Head and the Chief Compliance Officer as required by Circular 969 and 

was immediately confirmed. Also, we found it easy to seek for the BSP Confirmation of 

the newly elected Independent Director. The Office also developed and formalized the 

charters of the Credit Committee, Asset and Liabilities Committee and the Product 

Committee.  

In support to the Bank’s goal in strengthening the quality of the credit portfolio, the 

compliance office was able to secure a P100 Million Guarantee Line with the Philippine 

Guarantee Corporation under the MSME and SCGF Program. Consistent training and 

lectures were conducted by the Department to the Lending Group to keep all loan 

personnel knowledgeable and aware of the changes in the lending policies, both 

external and internal 

As of the year ending December 2021, Loan Department has released a total  loan of P 

372 million (consolidated)  serving  706 clients and  have reached an actual loan portfolio 

of P622 million. We may not have achieved 100% of our Loan Target, but overall,  the 

Loan Portfolio increased by   9% compared to last year.    
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The Marketing Department Head in collaboration with the Credit Committee and Head 

Marketing Support remains steadfast in rolling out essential policy updates, amendments, 

development  and innovation of  products and services that are suited to the changing 

customer needs in order to adapt the changing customer preferences and anticipate 

the shifts in competition.   

 

 

c. Major strategic initiatives of the bank 

 

The Bank conducts strategic planning annually to give clear directions as to where 

it should go. The objectives of the Bank are backed up by strategies to make sure that its 

goals are met. The major objectives and strategies of the bank are: 

1. Improved financial performance 

2. Expansion and market saturation 

3. Enhanced internal management processes through: 

a. Efficient marketing 

b. Efficient credit administration 

c. Efficient remedial processes 

d. Improved cash management 

e. Improved accounting system 

f. Efficient compliance 

g. Effective internal audit processes 

h. Effective corporate services 

i. Increased safety and security 

4. Satisfied loyal clients 

5. Responsive and high-quality products 

6. Effective risk management 

7. Efficient technology management 

8. Responsive corporate social responsibility 

9. Effective human resource management 
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Some of the strategies that contributed to the increase of loan portfolio are the following: 

 

1. Rewards/freebies were given to our new loan borrowers and loyal borrowers as a 

compliment in availing our loan product.  

2. Referral Incentive Policy was adopted and was implemented, borrowers, 

employees, officers and directors of the bank enjoyed the benefit. 

3. Continuous posting of advertisement on social media (FB page) 

4. Re-availment of clean up payment. 

5. Extension of Regulatory Relief on Single Borrowers Limit (SBL  set by BSP  from 25% to 

30%  from Capital 

 

d. Challenges, opportunities, and responses during the year 

 

 

Every day, we face challenges and difficulties that may seem insurmountable. But 

we firmly believe that every challenges brings opportunity to improve our skills, 

and develop our strength and capability to perform diligently. 

The requirement of AMLC of the digitization of customer records is one of the key 

challenges the bank was able to surpass for 2021. Considering the several skeletal 

forces the bank has continuously implemented throughout the year due to 

employees getting infected with the COVID-19, it was a tough one for the Bank 

to complete the DigiCur before end of September 30, 2021. With the use of 

technology, the Bank was able to achieve an almost 100% compliance before 

the first deadline, before the AMLC extended it by 2022. The Bank invested to 

assets capable of easily-doing the scanning of documents and digitization of 

customer records. 

Last July 6, 2021, the initial findings of the BIR for 2018 taxable year was received 

by the Bank with an initial assessment of 10 million. The Controllership Department 

has done a thorough reconciliation of accounts in order to contest the said 

amount. The Controller together with the Compliance Officer presented the 

reconciliation including the necessary supports gathered to the BIR Examiner and 

RDO. And upon complying of the additional requirements, the final assessment 

including other charges was down to Five hundred ninety three thousand pesos. 
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4. Risk Management Framework Adopted 
 

a. Overall risk management culture and philosophy 

 

In compliance with BSP Circular 971 on Risk Governance issued on August 22, 2017, 

the bank sets forth the creation of the Risk Management Unit with the following functions: 

1) Overseeing the risk-taking activities across the bank, as well as evaluating 

whether these remain consistent with the bank’s risk-appetite and strategic 

directions; 

2) Responsible for identifying, measuring, monitoring and reporting risk on a 

bank-wide basis as part of the second line of defense; 

3) Maintains the bank’s overall credit risk exposure within the parameters set by 

the Board; 

4) Assess adequacy of loan loss provisioning and credit review function; 

5) Risk management policy development; and  

6) Directly report to the Board of Directors on the different risk exposures of the 

bank. 

 

CREDIT RISK 

The Bank continues its risk-based lending mechanism in order to strengthen credit risk. The 

Bank continually adheres to the concepts of separate risk rating on the borrower 

(Borrower’s Risk Rating) and facility (Facility Risk Rating). Loan pricing methodology has 

been changed also to a more complex and detailed formula integrating the cost of 

funds, the credit risk percentage plus the spread set by the board. Loan limits has been 

regularly monitored and reported to the Board of Directors also. The Bank also adopted 

an internal SBL, lower than the regulatory limit, as a prudent process. To minimize the 

impact of the pandemic, the Bank applied for the staggered booking of allowance for 

credit losses. Credit Stress Testings were regularly performed. 

 

LIQUIDITY RISK 

Liquidity position and gap reporting policy were put into place to mitigate liquidity risk 

arising from mismatches in the timing at which assets and liabilities mature. This is made 

possible through the combined effort of the Controllership Department who is tasked 

mainly of day-to-day funds management together with the Credit Administration 

Department, Marketing Department and Branch Managers. Liquidity Stress Testings were 

conducted on a weekly basis during the onset of the pandemic to closely monitor the 

potential impacts of massive withdrawals. The Bank’s Contingency Funding Plan was 

likewise timely reviewed and enhanced. 

 

OPERATIONS RISK 

The adoption of the RBSOFTECH System made it probable for the bank to monitor all 

reportable incidents on a bank-wide scale. Incident reports can now be entered into the 

system as the bank’s database of such reports. Business Continuity Plan testing was 

consistently implemented.  
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b. Risk appetite and strategy 

 

RISK APPETITE STATEMENT 
 

Rural Bank of San Mateo (Isabela), Inc. having mandated to make needed credit 

available and readily accessible in the rural areas by virtue of Rural Banking Act (R.A. 

7353) shall provide loans primarily for countryside development and as also embodied 

by the institution’s mission and vision statement. 

 

The bank shall have high risk appetite for credit facilities primarily for the purpose of 

meeting the normal credit needs of farmers, fishermen or farm families owning or 

cultivating land dedicated to agricultural production as well as those in the agri-business 

sector.  

RISK APPETITE – INDUSTRY CLASS 

 

The bank has high risk tolerance to growing and high performing industries and low risk 

tolerance to industries with adverse historical background. 

 
RISK APPETITE – ECONOMICALLY INTERDEPENDENT BORROWERS 

 

The bank does not limit itself in granting loans to borrowers who are economically 

interdependent however, such borrowers’ aggregated loans shall be subject to large 

exposure monitoring and Single Borrower’s Limit monitoring when it exceeds the 

qualifying capital of five percent (5%) and twenty-five (25%) respectively. 

 
RISK APPETITE – OUT-OF-TERRITORY BORROWERS 

 

The bank is not aggressive in extending credit facilities to out-of-territory (Region 2 and 

CAR) borrowers which includes loans whose collaterals are outside of bank’s business 

operations and shall set a determined loan limit on a group scale. 

Out-of-territory borrowers – should not exceed 10% of the loan portfolio (group-wide) but 

not exceeding the SBL. 
 

RISK APPETITE – TYPE OF COLLATERAL/SECURITY 

 

The bank recognizes diverse type of collaterals that can be offered by borrowers ranging 

from those secured by Real Estate Mortgage, Chattel Mortgage, Hold-out of deposit and 

even those loans that are unsecured in nature. The bank has high risk appetite for loans 

that are fully secured and low risk appetite for those that are not. 

• Real Estate Mortgage – no defined limit 

• Chattel Mortgage – 20% of the Loan Portfolio 

• Unsecured loan – 10% of the Loan Portfolio 
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RISK APPETITE – LOAN CLASSIFICATION 
 

The bank shall adhere with the following minimum percentage of compliance with the 

standard set by the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP), as follows; 

 Agrarian Reform Loans – 10% 

 Other Agricultural Credit Loans – 15% 

 Micro and Small-Scale Enterprise loan – 8% 

 Medium Scale Enterprise Loan – 2% 

c. Bank-wide risk governance structure and risk management process 

 

The Bank’s risk management policies cover the following: 

   

1) Structure of limits and guidelines to govern risk-taking. These shall include 

actions that shall be taken when risk limits are breached, including notification 

and escalation to higher level of Management and corresponding sanctions 

for excessive risk taking;   

2) Clearly delineated responsibilities for managing risk based on the three (3) lines 

of defense;   

3) System for measuring risk;   

4) Checks and balances system; and   

5) Framework for risk data aggregation and risk reporting. 

 

The degree of sophistication of the risk management and internal control processes 

and infrastructure shall keep pace with developments in the bank such as balance sheet 

and revenue growth; increasing complexity of the business; risk configuration or 

operating structure; geographical expansion; mergers and acquisitions; or the 

introduction of new products or business lines, as well as with the external risk landscape; 

business environment; and industry practice. This should enable a dynamic, 

comprehensive, and accurate risk reporting.  

 

In this respect, the bank shall ensure that the risk data aggregation capabilities meet 

the following principles:   

 

1) Accuracy and integrity - this refers to the capability to generate accurate and 

reliable risk data to meet normal and stress reporting accuracy requirements.   

 

2) Completeness - this refers to the capability to capture and aggregate all material 

risk data across the banking group. Data should be available by business line, legal 

entity, asset type, industry, as relevant for the risk in question, and should permit 

the identification and reporting of risk exposures, concentrations, and any 

emerging risks.   
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3) Timeliness - this refers to the capability to generate aggregate and up-to-date risk 

data in a timely manner while also meeting the principles relating to accuracy 

and integrity, completeness and adaptability. Timing shall depend upon the 

nature and potential volatility of the risk being measured as well as its criticality to 

the overall risk profile of the bank. Timing shall also depend on the bank-specific 

frequency requirements for risk management reporting, under both normal and 

stress/crisis situations, set based on the characteristics and overall risk profile of the 

bank.   

 

4) Adaptability - this refers to the capability to generate aggregate risk data to meet 

a broad range of on- demand, ad hoc risk management reporting requests, 

including requests during stress/crisis situations, requests due to changing internal 

needs and requests to meet supervisory queries.   

 

d. AML governance and culture, and description of the overall Money Laundering 

(ML)/ Terrorist Financing (TF) risk management framework to prevent the use of 

the bank for ML/TF activities 

 

In conformity with the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas’ policy on Anti-Money 

Laundering, Rural Bank of San Mateo (Isabela), Inc. has adopted the Money 

Laundering and Terrorist Financing Prevention Program Manual.  

 

This is a compilation of the policies and procedures adopted to: 

 

(a)  protect the integrity and confidentiality  of  bank  accounts and  ensure  that  

the  Philippines,  in  general,  and  the  covered  persons,  in  particular, shall  

not  be  used,  respectively,  as  a  money  laundering  site  and  conduit  

for  the proceeds  of  an  unlawful  activity  as  herein  defined;  and   

 

(b)  to  protect  life,  liberty and  property  from  acts  of  terrorism  and  to  

condemn  terrorism  and  those  who support  and  finance  it  and  

reinforce  the  fight  against  terrorism  by  criminalizing  the financing  of  

terrorism  and  related  offenses. 
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5.  Corporate Governance 
 

a. Overall corporate governance structure and practices 

 

The Board of Directors and the Management of the RURAL Bank OF SAN MATEO 

(ISABELA), INC. (RBSMI) commit themselves to the principles and best practices 

contained in the bank’s Manual on Corporate Governance – even as they acknowledge 

that the conscientious and strict adherence to the provisions of this Manual will positively 

guide the attainment of the bank’s corporate goals – mission and vision. 

 

The provisions of the Corporate Governance Manual institutionalize the general and 

special principles and tenets of good corporate governance of the Rural Bank of San 

Mateo (Isabela), Inc. and all layers of the organization, including the Board of Directors 

and the various levels of Management. 

 

 

 

b. Selection process for the board and senior management 

 

The Board of Directors shall consist of seven (7) members, two (2) of whom are 

independent directors.  

 

All directors shall be elected by and from among the stockholders (owning at least 

one (1) share of corporate stock of the bank). For independent directors, their nomination 

and election must comply with the requirements set forth under the Manual of 

Regulations for Banks (MORB) of the BSP.  

 

Annual election of directors is done during the annual stockholders’ meeting every 

13th of February. Directors are selected from a pool of candidates who possess the 

qualifications as stated in the bank’s by-laws. Seven directors are elected based on the 

number of votes obtained from the election held. Members of the Board of Directors 

undergo performance appraisal annually using the format set by the Bank. 

 

The Board of Directors select senior management based on factors such as 

performance and length of service. Annual performance appraisal is conducted to 

assess each senior management’s accomplishments for the year. Promotion and/or any 

movement of senior management is subject to Board approval. 
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c. Board’s overall responsibility 

 

The board  of  directors  is  primarily  responsible  for  defining  the  Bank  vision  and  

mission. It  shall  approve  and  oversee  the implementation  of  strategies  to  achieve  

corporate objectives.  It  shall  also  approve  and oversee  the  implementation  of  the  

risk  governance  framework  and  the  systems  of checks  and  balances.  It shall establish 

a sound corporate governance framework.  The board  of  directors  shall  approve  the  

selection  of  the  CEO  and  key  members  of  senior management  and  control  functions  

and  oversee  their  performance.  

 

a.  The  board  of  directors  shall  define  the  Bank’s  corporate  culture  and  values.  

It  shall establish   a   code  of  conduct  and   ethical  standards  in  the   Bank’s   

and   shall institutionalize  a  system  that  will  allow reporting  of  concerns  or  violations  

to  an appropriate  body.  In this regard, the board of directors shall:  

 

(1) Approve  a  code  of  conduct  or  code  of  ethics,  which  shall  

articulate acceptable  and  unacceptable  activities,  transactions  and  

behavior  that  could result  or  potentially  result  in  conflict  of  interest,  

personal  gain  at  the  expense of  the  Bank’s  as  well  as  the  corresponding  

disciplinary  actions  and  sanctions. The  code  of  conduct  shall  explicitly  

provide  that  directors,  officers,  and  all personnel  are  expected  to  

conduct  themselves  ethically  and  perform  their job  with  skill,  due  care,  

and  diligence  in  addition  to  complying  with  laws, regulations,  and  

company  policies.  

 

(2)  Consistently  conduct  the  affairs  of  the bank with  a  high  degree  of  

integrity and  play  a  lead  role  in  establishing  the  Bank’s  corporate  culture  

and  values. The  board  of  directors  shall  establish,  actively  promote,  and  

communicate  a culture  of  strong  governance  in  the  Bank’s,  through  

adopted  policies  and displayed  practices.  The  board  of  directors   shall  

ensure  that  the  CEO  and executive  team  champion  the  desired  values  

and  conduct,  and  that  they  face material  consequences  if  there  are  

persistent  or  high  profile  conduct  and value  breaches.  

 

(3)  Oversee  the  integrity,  independence,  and  effectiveness  of  Bank’s  

policies  and procedures  for  whistleblowing.   It  shall  allow  employees  to  

communicate, with  protection  from  reprisal,  legitimate  concerns  about  

illegal,  unethical  or questionable   practices   directly  to  the   board   

of  directors   or  to   any independent  unit.  Policies  shall  likewise  be  set  

on  how  such  concerns  shall  be investigated  and  addressed,  for  example,  

by  an  internal  control  function,  an objective  external  party,  senior  

management  and/or  the  board  of  directors itself.  It  shall  prevent  the  

use  of  the  facilities  of  the  Bank’s  in  the  furtherance  of criminal  and  other  

improper  or  illegal  activities,  such  as  but  not  limited  to financial  

misreporting,  money  laundering,  fraud,  bribery  or  corruption.  

 



 

  P a g e  20 |Annual Report 2021 

 

b. The  board  of  directors  shall  be  responsible  for  approving the Bank’s  objectives  

and strategies  and  in  overseeing  management's  implementation  thereof.  

In this regard, the board of directors shall:  

 

(1)  Ensure  that  the  Bank’s  has   beneficial  influence  on  the  economy  by  

continuously providing  services  and  facilities  which  will  be  supportive  

of  the  national economy.  

 

(2) Approve the Bank’s strategic objectives and business plans.  These  shall  take 

into  account  the  Bank’s  long-term  financial  interests,  its  level  of  risk  

tolerance, and  ability  to  manage  risks  effectively.  In  this  respect,  the  

board  of  directors shall  establish  a  system  for  measuring  performance  

against  plans.  

 

(3)  Actively  engage  in  the  affairs  of  the  Bank’s  and  keep   up  with  material  

changes in  the  Bank’s  business  and  regulatory  environment  as  well  as  

act  in  a  timely manner  to  protect  the  long  term  interests  of  the  Bank.  

 

(4) Approve  and  oversee  the  implementation  of  policies  governing  major  

areas of  the  Bank’s  operations.  The  board  of  directors  shall  regularly  

review  these policies,  as  well  as  evaluate  control  functions with  senior  

management  to  determine  areas for  improvement  as  well  as  to  

promptly  identify  and  address  significant  risks and  issues.  

 

c. The board of  directors  shall  be  responsible  for  the  appointment/selection  of  

key members  of  senior  management  and  heads  of  control  functions  and  

for  the approval  of  a  sound  remuneration  and  other  incentives  policy  for  

personnel.  in  this regard,  the  board  of  directors  shall:  

 

(1) Oversee  selection  of  the  CEO  and  other  key  personnel,  including  

members  of senior  management  and  heads  of  control  functions  based  

on  the  application of  fit  and  proper  standards.  Integrity,  technical  

expertise,  and  experience  in the  Bank’s  business,  either  current  or  

planned,  shall  be  the  key  considerations n  the  selection  process.  

Moreover,  since  mutual  trust  and  a  close  working relationship  are  

important,  the  members  of  senior  management  shall  uphold the  general  

operating  philosophy,  vision  and  core  values  of  the  Bank.  

 

(2) Approve  and  oversee  the  implementation  of  performance  standards  

as  well as  remuneration  and  other  incentives  policy.  

 

(3) Oversee  the  performance  of  senior  management  and  heads  of  

control functions:  
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(a)  The   board   of  directors   shall   regularly   monitor   and   assess   

the performance  of  the  management  team  and  heads  of  control  

functions based  on  approved  performance  standards.  

(b) The  board of  directors  shall  hold  members  of  senior  

management accountable  for  their  actions  and  enumerate  the  

possible  consequences if  those   actions   are   not   aligned   with   

the   board of directors' performance  expectations.  These 

expectations shall include adherence to   the   Bank’s   values,   risk   

appetite   and   risk   culture,   under   all circumstances.  

(c) The  board  of  directors  shall  regularly  meet  with  senior  

management  to engage  in  discussions,  question,  and  critically  

review  the  reports  and information  provided  by  the  latter.  

(d)    Non-executive  board  members  shall  meet  regularly,  other  than  

in meetings  of  the  audit,  risk  oversight,  corporate  governance,  and  

related party  transactions  committees,  in  the  absence  of  senior  

management, with  the  external  auditor  and  heads  of  the  internal  

audit,  compliance and  risk  management  functions.  

(4) Engage  in  succession  planning  for  the  CEO  and  other  critical  positions,  as 

appropriate.  In  this  respect,  the  board  of  directors  shall  establish  an  

effective succession  planning  program.  The  program  should  include  a  

system  for identifying  and  developing  potential  successors  for  the  CEO  

and  other  critical positions.  

 

(5) Ensure that personnel's expertise and knowledge remain relevant.  The  board 

of  directors  shall  provide  its  personnel  with  regular  training  opportunities  as 

part  of  a  professional  development  program  to  enhance  their  

competencies and  stay  abreast  of  developments  relevant  to  their  areas  

of  responsibility.  

 

(6)  Ensure  that  employee  pension  funds  are  fully  funded  or  the  corresponding 

liability  appropriately  recognized  in  the  books  of  the  Bank’s  at  all  times,  

and that  all  transactions  involving  the  pension  fund  are  conducted  at  

arm's  length terms.  

 

d. The  board  of  directors  shall  be  responsible  for  approving  and  overseeing 

implementation  of  the  Bank’s  corporate  governance  framework.  In this regard, 

the board of directors shall:  

 

(1) Define  appropriate  governance  structure  and  practices  for  its  own  work,  

and ensure  that  such  practices  are  followed  and  periodically  reviewed. 
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(2) Develop  a  remuneration   and  other  incentives  policy  for  directors  that  shall  

be submitted  for  approval  of  the  stockholders.   The  board  of  directors  

shall ensure  that  the  policy  is  consistent  with  the  long-term  interest  of  the  

Bank’s, does  not  encourage  excessive  risk-taking,  and  is  not  in  conflict  

with  the director's  fiduciary  responsibilities.  

 

(3) Adopt  a  policy  on  retirement  for  directors  and  officers,  as  part  of  the 

succession  plan,  to  promote  dynamism  and  avoid  perpetuation  in  power.  

 

(4) Conduct  and  maintain  the  affairs  of  the  Bank’s  within  the  scope  of  its  

authority as  prescribed  in  its  charter  and  in  existing  laws,  rules  and  regulations.  

 

(5) Maintain,  and  periodically  update,  organizational  rules,  by-laws,  or  other 

similar  documents  setting  out  its  organization,  rights,  responsibilities  and  

key activities.   

 

(6) Oversee   the   development, approve, and   monitor   implementation   of 

corporate governance policies.   The board  of  directors  shall  ensure  that 

corporate  governance   policies  are  followed  and  periodically  reviewed  

for ongoing  improvement.  

 

(7) Approve the policy  on  the  handling  of  RPTs  to  ensure  that  there  is effective  

compliance  with  existing  laws,  rules  and  regulations  at  all  times, that  these  

are  conducted  on  an  arm's  length  basis,  and  that  no  stakeholder  is 

unduly  disadvantaged. 

 

(8) Define an appropriate  corporate  governance  framework  for  group  

structures, which  shall  facilitate  effective  oversight  over  entities  in  the  

group.  The  board of  directors  of  the  parent  company  shall  ensure  

consistent  adoption  of corporate  governance  policies  and  systems  across  

the  group.   

 

e. The board  of  directors  shall  be  responsible  for  approving  Bank’s  risk  

governance framework  and  overseeing  management's  implementation  

thereof.  
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d. Description of the role and contribution of executive, non-executive, and 

independent directors, and of the chairman of the board 

 

Role and Major Contribution of the Chairperson of the Board of Directors 

 

The Chairperson of the board of directors shall provide leadership in the board of 

directors.  He  shall  ensure effective  functioning  of  the  board  of  directors,  including  

maintaining  a  relationship of  trust  with  members  of  the  board  of  directors.   He shall:   

 

(1)  Ensure  that  the meeting  agenda  focuses  on  strategic  matters  including  

discussion  on  risk  appetites, and  key  governance  concerns;  

(2)  Ensure a sound decision making process;  

(3)  Encourage and promote critical discussion;   

(4)  Ensure  that  dissenting  views  can be  expressed  and   discussed  within  the  

decision-making  process;  

(5)  Ensure  that members  of  the  board  of  directors  receives  accurate,  

timely,  and  relevant information;   

(6)  Ensure  the  conduct  of  proper  orientation  for  first  time  directors and  

provide  training  opportunities  for  all  directors;  and  

(7)  Ensure  conduct  of performance  evaluation  of  the  board  of  directors  at  

least  once  a  year.  

 

Role and Contribution of Executive Directors: 

 

(1) Board Governance. Works with board in order to fulfill the organization 

mission. 

(2) Financial Performance and Viability. Develops resources sufficient to ensure 

the financial health of the organization. 

(3) Organization Mission and Strategy. Works with board and staff to ensure that 

the mission is fulfilled through programs, strategic planning and community 

outreach. 

(4) Organization Operations. Oversees and implements appropriate resources 

to ensure that the operations of the organization are appropriate. 

 

Role and Contribution of Non-Executive Directors: 

 

(1) Strategy. Non-Executive Directors should constructively challenge and help 

develop proposals on strategy. 

(2) Performance. Non-Executive Directors should scrutinize the performance of 

management in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the 

reporting of performance.  

(3) Risk. Non-Executive Directors should satisfy themselves on the integrity of 

financial information and that financial controls and systems of risk 

management are robust and defensible.  

(4) People. Non-Executive Directors are responsible for determining appropriate 

levels of remuneration of executive directors, and have a prime role in 



 

  P a g e  24 |Annual Report 2021 

 

appointing, and where necessary removing, executive directors and in 

succession planning.  

 

Role and Contribution of Independent Directors: 

 

Independent directors have an important role to play in the progress of the Bank. 

They are considered as both a safeguard and a significant source of competitive 

advantage.  

 

The role of independent directors broadly includes improving corporate credibility 

and governance standards, functioning as watchdog, maintaining balance in a 

promoter dominated scenario, play vital role in risk management. Their main role in the 

company is to protect the interests of the minority shareholders vis-à-vis the promoters. 

 

The main role of independent directors is to improve corporate governance 

standards. Independent directors help in the proper functioning of the corporate 

because of the fact that they do not have any pecuniary interest in the company and 

that they will represent the interest of the shareholders.  

 

The independent directors on corporate board lies takes an independent decision 

on a given subject without being influenced in any manner. They provide transparency 

in respect of the disclosures in the working of the company as well as providing balance 

towards resolving conflict areas. They have a significant role in protecting the 

stakeholders’ interests. 

 

The independent directors also play a key role as a member of the audit 

committee of the company. The chairman of the audit committee is an independent 

director.  
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e. Board composition 

 

 

 

NAME 

 

 

TYPE OF 

DIRECTORSHIP 

 

NUMBER OF 

YEARS SERVED 

AS DIRECTOR 

 

# OF 

SHARES 

HELD 

PERCENTAGE 

OF SHARES 

HELD TO TOTAL 

OUTSTANDING 

SHARES  

Patricia Rosario Maria G. Remijan Non-executive 3 5,000 1.0526% 

Ronald Melchor D. Silverio Non-executive 12 260 0.0547% 

Katrina Marie P. Pilapil Executive 16 25,349 5.3366% 

Michelle Christine P. Arcenal Non-executive 2 14,315 3.0137% 

Ma. Soledad S. Petines Non-executive 3 18,640 3.9242% 

Jose Romeo S. De La Cruz Non-executive 9 3 0.0006% 

Jonathan B. De Veyra Non-executive 1 2 0.0004% 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 2021 
 
 

 

Name of Director: PATRICIA ROSARIO MARIA G. REMIJAN

  

Age & Nationality:  54 / Filipino 

Board Position:  Chairperson of the Board 2021-present 

                                  Vice Chairperson 2020-2021 

 Non-executive Director 2019-2020 

 

Education: BS Economics, Massachusetts Institute 

 of Technology 

 BS Mathematics, Wellesley College 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Name of Director:   Ronald Melchor D. Silverio 

 

Age & Nationality:  51 / Filipino 

Board Position:        Vice Chairperson 2021-present 

            Former Audit Committee – Chairperson 

                                  Independent Director 2009-2021 

 

Education: BSC Accounting, University of Santo Tomas 

 Bachelor of Laws and Letters, University of 

Santo Tomas, undergrad 

 

Affiliations: Proprietor – Bankers Printing Press 
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Name of Director:  KATRINA MARIE P. PILAPIL 

  

Age & Nationality: 51 /  Filipino 

Board Position:      Executive Director since 2005 

                               Chief Executive Officer since 2020 

                               President since 2014 

                               Chief Operating Officer since 2005 

                               Asst. General Manager since 1997 

   

  

   

Education: BSC Accounting - De La Salle University 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Name of Director:  ARCH. MICHELLE CHRISTINE P. ARCENAL 

  

 Age & Nationality:  49 / Filipino 

 Board Position:  Non-executive Director since  

                                       February 2020 

     

 Education:  BS Architecture – Magna Cum Laude, 

University of the Philippines - Diliman 

   

 

 Affiliations: President – Arkigrafix Corporation 

    President – Arkiprint Corporation 

    Stockholder, Treasurer – Arkiprintshop 

    Corporation 
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Name of Director:   MA. SOLEDAD S. PETINES  

 

Age & Nationality:   69 / Filipino 

Board Position:         Non-Executive Director since February  

                                 2019 

Committee:            Audit Committee Member  

 

Education: BS major in Mathematics, University 

of the Philippines – Diliman 

 Master of Statistics – University of the 

Philippines - Diliman 

 

Banking-related experiences:  

10 years experience in multinational banks, 9 years in 

Information Technology on auditing and outsourcing 

companies and 11 years information technology 

experience on manufacturing companies, banks and 

insurance companies. 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Name of Director:  ATTY. JOSE ROMEO S. DE LA CRUZ 

  

 Age & Nationality:  51 / Filipino 

 Board Position:  Chairperson of the Board 2019-2021 

    Independent Director 2013-2021 

  

 Education:  AB Political Science – Summa Cum 

Laude, Saint Louis University 

  Bachelor of Laws, University of the 

Philippines - Diliman 

 

 Affiliations: Founding Partner – The Law Office of 

Atty. Jose Romeo S. de la Cruz 

 

  Dean and Professor – University of La 

Salette – College of Law 
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Name of Director: ACCT. JONATHAN B. DE VEYRA 

  

Age & Nationality: 50 / Filipino 

Board Position:       Chairperson - Audit Committee  

                                 Independent Director – 2021-present 

  

Education:  B.S. In Business Administration /     

 Commerce major in Accounting,  

 Northeastern College 

 

 Masters in Business Administration 

 Northeastern College 

 

Affiliations: Proprietor – J. B. DE VEYRA Accounting    

 & Consultancy Services 

 

Dean – University of Perpetual Help    

System – College of Business & Accountancy 
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f. Board qualification 

 

To qualify for directorship to the Board of Directors of RBSMI, the following qualifications 

are considered: 

 

(1) Integrity and Probity: 

 Have strong moral principles; 

 Must have a record of integrity in his/her personal and professional 

dealings, a good reputation and willingness to place the interests of the 

Bank above any conflicting self-interest; 

 Must not have any relationship or potential conflict of interests that the 

candidate or any of his or her related interests has with the bank or its 

affiliate; and 

 Honesty and decency. 

 

(2) Physical/Mental Fitness:  

 Must be physically and mentally fit; and 

 Must have firm commitment to regularly attend and be prepared for Board and 

committee meetings. 

 

(3) Relevant Education: 

 Must be a Graduate of any 4-year course; and 

 Have basic knowledge of the banking Industry, financial regulatory system, and 

laws and regulations that govern bank operations. 

 

(4) Financial Literacy/training: 

 Must have attended Corporate Governance Training and Seminar; 

 Must have a financial and business acumen; and 

 Must have training on financial analysis and basic accounting or any related 

course. 

 

 

g. List of Board-level committees including membership and function 

 

Audit Committee - The audit committee shall be composed of at least three (3) members 

of the board of directors, who shall all be non-executive directors, majority of whom shall 

be independent directors, including the Chairperson: Provided, that the Chairperson of 

the audit committee shall not be the Chairperson of the board of directors or of any other 

board-level committees. The audit committee shall have accounting, auditing or related 

financial management expertise or experience commensurate with the size, complexity 

of operations and risk profile of the Bank.  
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Duties of the Audit Committee – The audit committee shall oversee the financial reporting 

framework, monitor and evaluate the adequacy of internal control system, oversee the 

internal audit and external audit function, oversee the implementation of corrective 

actions, investigate significant issues/concerns raised and establish whistle blowing 

mechanism. 

 
The Audit Committee shall assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight 

responsibilities for: 

  

1. The integrity of the financial statements of the Company; 

2.  The systems of internal controls over the Company’s financial reporting, audit 

process, compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and code of ethics 

that management and the Board of Directors have established as well as the 

conduct of the regular review of the internal control system, at least annually;  

3. The qualifications and independence of the Company’s registered public 

accounting firm (the “External Auditor”); and  

4. The performance of the internal audit function and the external auditor. 
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h. Directors’ attendance at Board and Committee meetings 

 

NAME Position BOARD 

MEETINGS 

AUDIT 

COMMITEE 

1. Remijan, Patricia Rosario Maria G. Chairperson of the 

Boards 

21/21  

2. Silverio, Ronald Melchor D. Vice Chairperson of the 

Board 

20/21  

3. Pilapil, Katrina Marie P. Executive Director/ 

President/CEO 

20/21  

4.Arcenal, Michelle Christine P. Director 19/21  

5. Petines, Ma. Soledad S. Director 21/21 5/5 

6. Dela Cruz, Jose Romeo S. Independent Director 19/21 5/5 

7. De Veyra, Jonathan B. Independent Director 20/21 5/5 
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i. Executive Officers/ Senior Management  

 

 

President - Katrina Marie P. Pilapil  

Age and Nationality: 51 yrs. old, Filipino 

Ms. Pilapil is a graduate of BSC Accounting at De La 

Salle University. She has more than 2 decades of 

banking experience since 1997. She first joined 

RBSMI as Assistant General Manager to General 

Manager and as Chief Operating Officer. On year 

2014, she was appointed as the new Bank’s 

President and by 2020, the Bank’s Chief Executive 

Officer. 

 

 

 

 

 

Chief Compliance Officer – Joseph John S. Ronquillo  

Age and Nationality: 28 yrs. old, Filipino 

Rank: Senior Manager 

Mr. Joseph John S. Ronquillo has more than eight (8) 

years of banking experience since May 2013. Prior to his 

appointment as the Bank’s Chief Compliance Officer, he 

is the Head of Risk Management Unit from June 2018 – 

October 2020. He is also the Compliance Assistant from 

October 2017 – May 2018. A Licensed Professional 

Teacher and currently on his 3rd year level as a Juris 

Doctor Student. 
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Internal Audit Head – Elsa Marie Pierangela Chan  

Age and Nationality: 59 yrs. old, Filipino 

Rank: Senior Manager 

Ms. Elsa Marie Pierangela G. Chan is a Certified 

Public Accountant.  She has been leading the 

Bank’s Internal Audit Department since February 

2006. Prior to her joining the RBSMI, she has been 

working with auditing firms for decades. One of 

which was the renowned Sycip, Gorres, Velayo 

and Co. (SGV) where she worked as a Supervisor 

from 1983 to 2001. From 2001 to 2003, she was 

employed as Internal Auditor/Supervisor to 

private companies. As of this writing, Ms. Chan is 

already retired and is succeeded by Ms. Jhoanna 

Gonzales, the former Internal Audit Officer. 

 

 

 

Lending Division Head – Maritess Hermosura 

Age and Nationality: 48 yrs. old, Filipino 

Rank: Senior Manager 

Ms. Maritess C. Hermosura is a graduate of BSBA 

Major in Marketing Management.  She has been 

with the Bank since 2014 and held various 

positions as Teller, Loan Officer, Head of Credit 

Administration Department and currently as 

Head of Lending Division.  
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j. Performance Assessment Program 

 

 The Bank performs performance assessment of its officers and employees on an 

annual basis. Evaluation is done using the performance appraisal module on the Core 

Banking System. Department Heads evaluate their subordinates and measure their 

performance. 

 

k. Orientation and Education Program 

 

Orientation Program for New Employees 

Rural Bank of San Mateo (Isabela) aims to provide the new employee the 

guidelines to start right in the Company, and to bridge the gap between the selection 

process and the day-to-day working relationships of the new employee in his job. 

 

The Bank follows certain procedures in the New Employee Orientation. It sets out 

the guidelines in the preparation of before a new employee arrives, on his first day of 

work, and in the succeeding period of time until he becomes a regular employee of the 

bank.  

 

Education Program 

 The Bank encourages officers and employees to attend seminars and trainings to 

further enhance their capabilities and to broaden their knowledge in the banking 

industry. Seminars and trainings conducted by Rural Bankers Association of the Philippines 

(RBAP) and other group/training providers are essential to the officers and staff. 

 Cost of seminars and trainings is shouldered by the Bank, and is usually budgeted 

per department. 
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 l. Retirement and Succession Policy 

 

RETIREMENT AND SUCCESSION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS 

Policy Statement It is the objective of the Company to establish a 

policy on retirement and remuneration for directors in 

order to give due recognition to the valuable 

contributions of the retiring members of the Board. 

 

Terms and Conditions 

 

1. Age- the bank recognizes the importance of experience and expertise of its 

directors and with it comes long years of practice and exposure in the business. 

Hence, the bank sets the age limit of retirement to eighty(80) years old but the 

Board may opt to waive depending on the following conditions: 

a. Result of the Annual Self/Peer Evaluation of the Board and effective “fit and 

proper” assessment for more effective board refreshment. 

b. The Board shall also evaluate all facts and circumstances when considering a 

director’s tenure in accordance with good governance practices, including 

(without limitation) to accommodate the transition of a new Chairman or new 

directors or to provide continuity to further strategic objectives or address 

external factors affecting the bank. 

 

2. Only the Executive Director is entitled to receive regular retirement benefits as an 

employee of the bank. An Executive Director is one who is involved in the day-to-

day operations of the bank. Non-Executive Directors shall not receive any 

retirement benefits. 

 

3. Retirement of Officers is done with the requisite succession planning and in 

accordance with the bank’s policies and implementing guidelines of its retirement 

plan for all employees, the bank’s amended By-Laws, Labor Code and the 

Corporation Code of the Philippines. 

 

4. Only Independent Directors has a term limit of nine (9) years reckoned from year 

2012. 

 

1.1 Procedures 

1.1.1 The replacement of any Board of Director shall be governed by 

the Constitution and By-Laws of the Bank. 

1.2 Qualifications for Board of Directors: 

Fit and Proper for the Position of Director must have: 
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Integrity and Probity: 

Have Strong Moral Principles 

Must have a record of integrity in his/her personal 

and professional dealings, a good reputation and 

willingness to place the interests of the Bank 

above any conflicting self-interest. 

Must not have any relationship or potential 

conflict of interests that the candidate or any of 

his or her related interests has with the bank or its 

affiliate. 

Honesty and Decency 

Physical/Mental Fitness: 

Must be Physically and Mentally Fit 

 

Must have firm commitment to regularly attend 

and be prepared for Board and committee 

meetings. 

Relevant Education: 

Must be a Graduate of any 4 yrs. course  

Have basic knowledge of the Banking Industry, 

Financial regulatory system, and laws and 

regulations that Governs Bank Operation 

 

Financial Literacy/training: 

Must have Corporate Governance Training and 

Seminar 

Must have a Financial and Business Acumen 

Must have Training on Financial Analysis, Basic 

Accounting 

 

Competencies relevant to the Job 

Must know the existing Laws and Regulations of 

BSP 

Must have Basic financial knowledge including 

how to read Balance Sheet and Income 

Statement. 

Previous Employment with the Bank is an 

advantage or any similar Industry 
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Knowledge & Experience, skills, diligence and independent 

mind 

1. Must have Previously Managed a Business, or from 

a banking or similar industry or a Lawyer or 

Accountant  

2. Must have a basic understanding of Banking, 

regulatory systems, laws and regulations 

3. Possess a skill set that complements those of the 

other directors 

4. Has skills that supports banks long range Vision 

 

Sufficiency of time to carry out responsibilities 

Learn the Business 

Commit to Board Activities: 

Prepare for and Attend Meetings 

Review Examination and Audit Reports 

and Ensure responsiveness 

Keep up with the affairs of the Bank; 

Pursue professional development 

opportunities 

1.3 Assessing Directors: 

 Integrity/probity, consideration shall be given to the 

director’s market reputation 

 Observe conduct and Behavior 

 His/her ability to continuously comply with company 

policies and applicable laws 

 

 The Director shall submit to BSP the required 

certification and other documentary proof within 20 

banking days from the date of Election. 

 Non Submission of complete documentary 

requirement shall be construed as his failure to 

establish his qualification and results in his removal 

from the Board of Directors. 
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RETIREMENT POLICY FOR EMPLOYEES 

 

1. RETIREMENT 

 

The Company respects the security of tenure of its employees and recognizes their 

continual contribution to the Company’s mission and objectives. 

 

An employee who has reached the age of 60 years  and has rendered at least  

ten (10) years of service in the  Company may avail of the retirement benefit of 

200% of current monthly basic pay x no. of years of service. 

 

 The proceeds of this retirement pay shall not be taxable provided that the bank 

has a BIR approved retirement plan.  

 

The BOD has the discretion, upon proper evaluation, to give additional benefit 

or rewards, financial or otherwise, to any employee or officer of the RBSMI based 

on his/her exemplary work, outstanding performance and proven loyalty to the 

Bank that contributed greatly to its growth and development. 

 

Succession Plan  

1.1. Purpose and Use 

Succession Plan is being published by Rural Bank of San Mateo (Isabela), Inc. 

(RBSMI) because of its desire to ensure that all critical positions of the 

Company should have a backup in case employees leave for whatever 

reason. This Plan should be read and understood by all members of the Board 

of Directors (BOD). The Human Resources Development and Management 

(HR Mgmt. Section Head) Unit shall assist the BOD in implementing the policies 

and procedures stated herein. 

 

All RBSMI employees are encouraged to be familiar with this Plan and to 

coordinate with their immediate Superiors regarding Training and 

Development Plan details to fully understand their career path in the 

Organization. 

 

The Board of Directors and President positions in the Company are the central 

elements in the Organization’s success. Therefore, ensuring that the functions 

of the President including Section/Department Heads are well-understood 

and even shared among Senior Management. It is important to safeguard the 

organization against unplanned and unexpected change in leadership. This 

kind of risk management is equally helpful in facilitating a smooth leadership. 
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This document outlines a leadership development and emergency succession 

plan for Rural Bank of San Mateo (Isabela), Inc. and reflects the Bank’s 

Succession Plan and its commitment to sustaining a healthy functioning 

Organization.  

 

The purpose of this plan is to ensure that the Bank’s leadership on specific 

Section/Department in general will have adequate information and strategies 

to effectively manage the bank in the event that any Board of Director, the 

President and/or Division/Department/Section Heads are unable to fulfill their 

duties due to resignation, termination, retirement or incapacity.   

 

1.2. Principle 

RBSMI shall subscribe to the following principles in connection with Succession 

Plan: 

1.3.1 RBSMI communicates to its employees that they are valuable and 

that RBSMI shall nurture and develop employees from within 

RBSMI. Those who have skills, knowledge, qualities, experience 

and desire can be groomed to move up to fill specific positions. 

1.3.2 RBSMI commits to develop employee career paths and 

acknowledges the fact that communication with employees 

regarding their career path and plan is being done effectively. 

1.3.3 Mentoring and coaching is a continued process and endeavor 

for RBSMI officers and employees so that there is a continued 

transfer of learning on all levels of the organization. 

1.3.4 RBSMI is an employer that invests in its people and provides 

opportunities and support for their advancement. 

1.3.5 RBSMI shall consider for posting an employee for a certain critical 

position only if that employee has the necessary skills, knowledge, 

qualities, experience and full desire to learn the ropes of the job. 

 

1.4 Policies 

A change in executive leadership is inevitable for Organizations and can be 

a very challenging time. Therefore, it is the policy of RBSMI to be prepared for 

an eventual permanent change in leadership either planned or unplanned to 

ensure the stability of the Bank until such time a new permanent leadership is 
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identified. The BOD shall be responsible for implementing this policy and its 

related procedures. 

It is also the policy of RBSMI that the BOD assesses the permanent leadership 

needs of RBSMI to help ensure the selection of a qualified and capable leader. 

There shall be two kinds of Succession Plan for the critical positions in the Bank: 

1.5 Interim Officer 

To ensure that RBSMI operations are not interrupted while the BOD and 

HR Mgmt. Section Head assess the leadership needs and recruit a 

permanent officer, the BOD and HR Mgmt. Section Head will appoint an 

Interim Officer. The Interim Officer ensures that the Organization continue 

to operate without disruption and that all organizational commitments 

previously made are adequately executed, including but not limited to, 

loans approved, reports due, licenses and others. 

1.6 Pool of Candidates 

It is also the policy of RBSMI to develop a diverse pool of candidates and 

consider at least two (2) finalist candidates for its permanent Officers 

position. RBSMI shall implement an external recruitment and selection 

process, while at the same time encouraging the professional 

development and advancement of current employees. The Interim 

Officer and any other interested internal candidates are encouraged to 

submit their qualifications for review and consideration by the search 

committee according to the guidelines established for the search and 

recruitment process. 

 

2 Identification of Critical Position Levels 

2.1 There shall be three (3) levels in the Organization, based on the to-date 

Main Table of Organization of RBSMI that Succession Planning meetings be 

done in coordination with the HR Mgmt. Section Head Unit every year to 

review and ensure that the critical positions of key officers are covered. There 

shall be a next in rank in case an Officer is no longer able to serve his position 
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permanently due to any of the following reasons: resignation, termination, 

retirement or incapacity. 

 

RBSMI Board has identified the three (3) levels of Succession Planning 

coverage as follows: 

2.1 Critical Position Level 1 

The Critical Position for Level 1 shall be the President. 

 

2.2 Critical Position Level 2 

The Critical Position Level 2 positions shall be the: Division Head (Head for 

Marketing, Head for Internal Audit, Compliance Officer) 

 

2.3 Critical Position Level 3 

The Critical Position Level 3 positions shall be the: Bank Officers/Office 

Heads (Branch Banking Head, Credit Administration Head, Remedial 

Management Head, Controllership Head, Corporate Services Head, IT 

Head, CorCom and Marketing Support Head, Credit Services Head, 

Branch Manager, Branch Service Officer, HR Mgmt. Section Head, Loans 

Servicing Supervisor). 

 

Appointing an Acting President 

Based on the anticipated duration of the temporary planned short 

term or long term absence, the anticipated return date, and 

accessibility of the current President, the Board of Directors shall 

appoint the Acting President as indicated in Succession Plan 

Matrix. 

Standing appointees to the position of Acting President in 

replacement of the President. 

The first priority in line to be the Acting President 

is the Vice President (1st Priority)  

           The 2nd priority in line is the Compliance Officer 

 

The Board of Directors shall see to it that the 

appointee complies all the requirements and 

qualifications needed by a President position, 

including those imposed by the Bangko Sentral 

Ng Pilipinas and other statutory agencies. 
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Implementation plan for Marketing Division and Operation and Support Group 

(Level 2 position) 

 

The President shall be responsible in reviewing every year to ensure that there shall be 

someone next in rank in case any or both of these two employees cannot serve the 

organization due to any of the reasons mentioned above. The next in rank for 

consideration of these positions shall be any qualified Department Heads in Level 3.  

 

Implementation Plan for Bank Officers/Office Heads (Level 3 position) 

 

The Heads for Marketing Division and Operation and Support Division shall be 

responsible in reviewing every year to ensure that there shall be someone to 

replace the existing positions if in case they cannot serve the organization due to 

any of the reasons mentioned above. 

 

 n. Remuneration Policy 

 

Remuneration Policy and structure for executive and non-executive directors 

 

Excerpt from the Bank’s Remuneration Policy for Directors state: 

Remuneration for Directors- upon approval of the majority of its shareholders and 

Board of Directors as a whole, both shall determine the level of remuneration or benefits 

for Directors which shall be sufficient to attract and retain directors and compensate 

them for attendance at meetings of the Board and Board Committees, commitments to 

time and specific contributions through chairmanship and membership in board 

committees. 

 

a. Personnel and Compensation Committee- this committee shall be tasked to 

recommend remuneration of the Board of Directors based on size and scope 

of the bank, industry standards and set by reference to the numerous 

responsibilities taken on by directors as well as for undertaking risks as a Board 

member. 

 

b. Remuneration Framework- to be reviewed annually to ensure that it remains 

competitive and consistent with the bank’s high performance culture, 

objectives and long-term risk assessment and strategies. 
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c. Compensation- may be in various forms, fixed by way of resolution of the Board 

of Directors. The Board may provide that only non-executive directors shall be 

entitled to such compensation. 

 

d. The Executive Director- receives remuneration as Officer and not as Director of 

the Company. 

 

e. Non-Executive Directors- shall be entitled to receive from the bank, pursuant 

to resolution of the Board, fees, and other compensation for his services as 

director. The Board shall have sole authority to determine the amount, form 

and structure of the fees and other compensation of the directors.  
 

Remuneration policy for senior management 

 

 Remuneration and compensation for all management levels of the Bank follows 

one policy only, the Bank’s Compensation and Remuneration Policy as aligned with the 

Labor Laws of the Philippines.  

 The company needs to ensure that their compensation and remuneration policy 

adheres to employment legislation including elements of compensation and 

remuneration that are regulated by provincial employment standards. 

 

OBJECTIVES: 

 

1. Establishing salary ranges – Rural Bank of San Mateo (Isabela), Inc.  need to determine 

where they have to pay specific jobs/job categories in relation to the employment 

market (industry and regional compensation norms, SEC/IC/BSP, DOLE).  

 

2. Criteria for Salary Increases- in order to ensure fair and equitable compensation 

practices, the company need to clearly establish, communicate and apply decision 

making criteria for salary increases. Decisions on salary increases can be based on a 

number of factors, such as seniority, cost of living increases, or performance (merit) 

based. 

 

3. Remuneration- theses include fixed remuneration (including fixed salary) – 

performance-based remuneration (variable salary) – pension schemes, where 

applicable, other benefits in kind, separation pay-where applicable. 

 

- The fixed remuneration is determined on the basis of the role and position 

of the individual employee, including professional experience, 

responsibility, job complexity and local market conditions. 
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- The performance-based remuneration motivates and rewards high 

performers who significantly contribute to sustainable results, perform 

according to set expectations for the individual in question, strengthen 

long-term customer relations, and generate income. 

 

PROCEDURES 

 

1. Salary reviews- to be conducted annually vis-à-vis the result of the annual 

Performance Appraisal by the members of the company’s Compensation 

Committee 

 

2. 13th Month Pay- mandatory as per government regulations and policies, to be given 

annually or semi-annually to employees whether regular or probationary in status 

 

 3. Bonus and Incentives Pay- based on performance, financial statement and 

KRA/target goal attainment, given to regular employees/ Board of Directors only. 

 

Top 4 highest paid employees of the Bank for 2021: 

1. Katrina Marie P. Pilapil – President-CEO 

2. Maritess C. Hermosura – Head-Lending Division 

3. Elsa Marie Pierangela G. Chan – Head-Internal Audit Department 

4. Relita P. Cruz – Head-Controllership Department 
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 o. Policies and procedures on related party transactions 

 

i. Overarching policies and procedures for managing related party 

transactions 

 

RB SAN MATEO (ISA), INC. shall apply strict and consistent compliance with laws 

and regulations relating to DOSRI and related party transactions as defined in BSP 

Circular No. 895. It shall ensure that every Related Party Transaction is conducted in a 

manner that will protect the Bank from conflict of interest which may arise between the 

Bank and its Related Parties. Furthermore, proper review, approval and disclosure of 

Related Party Transactions should be done in compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements.  

The policy on Related Party Transactions are embodied in the Risk Management 

System Manual in accordance with Circular No. 895 dated December 14, 2015. 

ii. Material RPTs 

Material related party transactions which are reportable to the BSP are as follows: 

1. A related party transaction is reportable to BSP  if it meets all the following 

conditions: 

1.1 The counterparty falls within the definition of related party (refer to #2 

below); and 

1.2 The nature of the transaction is among the identified reportable 

transactions (refer to #3); and 

1.3 The amount is considered “significant’’ (refer to #3 and #4). 

 

2. Related Party Shall Cover the following: 

 

2.1 DOSRI-  

The compliance, monitoring and reporting of DOSRI accounts shall continue 

to be conducted in accordance with existing regulations internal policies and 

shall not be deemed superseded, revised or amended by this policy. 

Specifically all DOSRI transaction require final approval by the Board of 

Directors. 
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2.2 Other Related Parties 

 

2.2.1 RB SAN MATEO (ISA),INC. RELATED 

a.)  Expanded Related Interest (RI) for Directors and Officers (Key Management) 

- The extent of coverage of related interest of RB SAN MATEO (ISA), INC. 

Directors whether regular or independent, and RB SAN MATEO (ISA), INC. 

Officers with a position of Vice President and higher (otherwise known as the 

Key Management personnel or KMPs), shall be expanded as follows: 

            

b.) Entities that are related to RB SAN MATEO (ISA), INC. through common 

Directors/ Senior Officers but are not classified as DOSRI or affiliate as defined 

in section a.&b. above. 

 

 

c.) Entities that are owned by the spouses and/ or 1st degree relatives of the RB 

SAN MATEO (ISA), INC. Director/ senior officer that are not classified as DOSRI 

provided ownership is at least 10%. 

d.) Entities that are owned by the 2nd to 4th degree relatives of a RB SAN MATEO 

(ISA), INC. Director/ Senior Officer that are not DOSRI provided ownership is 

more than 50% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Related interest of Under DOSRI Expanded Coverage for Related 

Party 

 Only first degree of 

consanguinity of affinity; 

legitimate or common law 

Up to the 4th degree of 

consanguinity of affinity; 

legitimate or common law 

a. Directors of RBSMI Include Include 

b.Officers of RBSMI 

with rank of SVP 

Include Include 

 Only first degree of 

consanguinity of affinity; 

legitimate or common law 

Up to the 4th degree of 

consanguinity of affinity; 

legitimate or common law 

a. Directors of RBSMI Include Include 

b.Officers of RBSMI 

with rank of SVP 

Include Include 
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3. Others 

a) Entity where the performance of its obligation with RB SAN MATEO (ISA), INC. is 

dependent on an arrangement between the said entity 

b) Any other entity which as determined by Compliance or Legal Office has a 

significant amount of influence shall be vetted by the Board of Directors to 

ensure that compliance and good governance standards are maintained. 

 

4. Amount of Threshold per Transaction 

 TYPE AMOUNT 

1. 

 

Agency arrangements/ service 

contracts / construction contract/ lease 

arrangements and other similar 

contracts 

Cumulative P1.0M per counterparty 

2. Asset purchases and sales contract 

 

P1M per transaction 

3. Loan/Lease availments, Investments & 

Joint Ventures, Write-off of Related 

Party Transaction 

P1M per transaction 

4 Investments P1M per transaction 

5 Purchase or sales of goods P1M per transaction 

6 Rendering or receiving of services 

contact 

P1M per transaction 

7 Transfer of technology P1M per transaction 

8 Such other significant transactions 

which, a determined by the Board, 

could pose material risk or potential 

abuse to the bank and its stakeholders. 

P1M per transaction 

 

Note:                        1st degree-children, parents; 

                     2nd degree - grandchildren, grandparents, siblings; 

                     3rd degree - great grandparents, great    

                                             Grand children, nieces and nephews,  

                                             uncles and aunts; 

                      4th degree - great great grandparents, great great 

                                     Grand children, first cousins 
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       c. Others

       b. DOSRI

       a. Subsidiaries and Affiliates

D. Affiliate 1

       c. Others

       b. DOSRI

       a. Subsidiaries and Affiliates

C. Subsidiary 2

       c. Others

       b. DOSRI

       a. Subsidiaries and Affiliates

B. Subsidiary 1

2 YEARS, AMORTIZED, 12% INTEREST 

RATE AND 2% BANK CHARGE
FULLY SECURED LOAN

Domingo, Edward Yutangco

RELATED PARTY OF A STOCKHOLDER 

(CLOSE FAMILY MEMBER)
BORROWINGS P 1,100,000.00

2 YEARS, AMORTIZED LOAN, 12% 

INTEREST RATE AND 2% BANK 
FULLY SECURED LOAN

Domingo, Edward Yutangco

RELATED PARTY OF A STOCKHOLDER 

(CLOSE FAMILY MEMBER)
BORROWINGS P 1,500,000.00

1 YEAR, AMORTIZED, 10% INTEREST 

RATE AND 2% BANK CHARGE
FULLY SECURED LOAN

CR DOMINGO CONSTRUCTION AND 

POWER DEVELOPMENT, INC.

RELATED PARTY OF A STOCKHOLDER 

(CLOSE FAMILY MEMBER)
BORROWINGS P 1,000,000.00

2 YEARS, AMORTIZED, 12.5% 

INTEREST RATE AND 2% BANK 

CHARGE

UNSECURED LOAN

CR DOMINGO CONSTRUCTION AND 

POWER DEVELOPMENT, INC.

RELATED PARTY OF A STOCKHOLDER 

(CLOSE FAMILY MEMBER)
BORROWINGS P 1,500,000.00

       c. Others CR DOMINGO CONSTRUCTION AND 

POWER DEVELOPMENT, INC.

RELATED PARTY OF A STOCKHOLDER 

(CLOSE FAMILY MEMBER)
BORROWINGS P 13,450,000.00

5 YEARS, AMORTIZED, 10% INTEREST 

RATE AND 2% BANK CHARGE
FULLY SECURED LOAN

       b. DOSRI

       a. Subsidiaries and Affiliates

A. Bank/QB

Amount/Contract Price Terms

Rationale for Entering 

into the

Transaction

                        Material Related Party Transactions

RURAL BANK OF SAN MATEO (ISABELA), INC.         044225

                           Name of Bank                                               Bank Code

12/31/2021

        Date

Parent Bank/QB and Subsidiary/Affiliate Related Counterparty Relationship Between the Parties Transaction Code Type of Transaction
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 p. Self-Assessment Function 

i. The structure of the internal audit and the compliance functions 

including its role, mandate/authority, and reporting process 

 

 The Bank’s Internal Audit Department has the following responsibility, authority, 

and independence: 

 

RESPONSIBILITY. The major responsibilities of the Internal Auditor includes: 

 To inform and advise the board of directors and management of the Bank 

and other allowed users of the Internal Audit Program; 
 To coordinate activities with other operating departments or divisions to 

achieve the objectives of the audit and the objectives, mission, and vision 

of the Bank; 
 To discharge the responsibilities referred to above. 

 

The Internal Auditor does not have direct responsibility nor authority over any of 

the activities to be reviewed by him/her. Therefore, the Internal Audit review does not in 

any way relieve the management of the operations and of the responsibilities assigned 

to the personnel complement. The effectiveness and efficiency of operations continues 

to be the responsibility of the Bank’s management. 

 

AUTHORITY. Management provides the Internal Auditor full access to all the records, 

properties and personnel relevant to all subjects under review. Also, the Internal Auditor 

is free to review and apprise policies, plans, procedures, and records, and to propose 

possible improvements thereto. 

 

INDEPENDENCE. Independence is essential to the effectiveness of the Internal Auditing 

function. This independence is obtained primarily through organizational status and 

objectivity. The Internal Audit Department directly reports to the Audit Committee of the 

Board of Directors. 

 

The Chief Compliance Officer has the general responsibility of assisting the board 

of directors in providing oversight in the implementation of the Bank’s compliance 

system. 

 

The Compliance function facilitates the effective management of compliance risk 

by: 

a. Advising the board of directors and senior management on relevant laws, rules 

and regulations, including information on developments in the areas; 

b. Discussion with bank personnel on compliance issues, and acting as contact 

point within the bank for compliance queries by bank personnel; 

c. Establishment of  written guidance to staff on the appropriate implementation 

of laws, rules and standards through policies and procedures and other 

documents such as compliance manuals, code of conduct, and other 

guidelines; 
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d. Identification, documentation and assessment of compliance risks associated 

with the Bank’s business activities, including new products and business units; 

e. Assessment of the Bank’s compliance procedures and guidelines, following up 

of deficiencies and formulation of proposal for amendments; 

f. Monitor and testing compliance by performing sufficient and representative 

compliance testing; and 

g. Maintenance of a constructive working relationship with the Bangko Sentral ng 

Pilipinas and other regulators. 

 

 

The Chief Compliance Officer directly reports to the Board of Directors. 

 

ii. The review process adopted by the Board to ensure effectiveness 

and adequacy of the internal control system 

 

 The Board of Directors of RBSMI has an Audit Committee that is tasked to review 

the effectiveness and adequacy of the internal control system, which is conducted on 

a regular basis, at least annually. 

 

 q. Dividend policy 

 

 The Bank follows BSP Regulations in the declaration of dividend to its stockholders. 

The amount of dividends is based on the by-laws of the bank. SECTION 5.  Earnings – The 

bank shall, at the end of the fiscal year, apply the amount of its earnings in excess of 

operating expenses during such fiscal year to (1) establishing and maintaining an 

allowance for credit losses, 2) establishing and maintaining provisions on contingencies 

and other reserves; and (3) replenishing any impairment to its capital.  Any sums 

remaining shall be the basis in the distribution of dividends to stockholders. 

    

 No declaration of dividends for the year 2021. 
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 r. Corporate Social Responsibility Initiatives 

 

The Rural Bank of San Mateo (Isabela), Inc. (RBSMI) believes that it must carry out its own 

Corporate Social Responsibility Program as a means of giving back the blessings it received to the 

community where it belongs.  

 

Rationale 

 

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is the continuing commitment by every business entity to 
behave ethically and contribute to the economic development and help in environmental 

preservation/protection while improving the quality of life of the workforce and their families as 

well as of the local community and society at large. 

 

Objectives: 

 

1. To provide assistance to community development projects of the Local Government Units 

within which the company’s offices are located; 

2. To provide assistance to projects being catered to by Non-Government Organizations; 

3. To award scholarship programs to the less fortunate but well-deserving students from the 

public schools where the company’s offices are located 

4. To extend scholarship program to children of deserving employees; 

5. To extend scholarship program to employees  

6. To donate educational materials, gadgets, tools and instruments to public schools for 

instructional purposes to aide better-learning capabilities of students. 

7. To donate materials for school improvements  

8. To extend assistance either in cash or in kind to victims of calamities, pandemic and other 

unforeseen events 

9. To conduct humanitarian programs for the community in need 

 

Funding: 

 

The amount of One Million Pesos(Php1,000,000.00) shall be appropriated by the Board of 

Directors from the Retained Earnings of the bank from which all CSR projects will be funded. The 

unused funds shall automatically be reverted back to the retained earnings of the bank at the end 

of each fiscal year. The amount of P1,000,000.00 shall be automatically renewed for appropriation 

at the beginning of each of the succeeding years. 

 

Terms and Conditions: 

 

A. Community Development Projects of the LGUs- the company shall donate either 

financially or in kind to poverty alleviation, livelihood, socio-economic projects of the 

LGUs subject for Board approval. 
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B. NGO Projects- the company shall help by donating to community development projects 

catered by NGOs in areas affected by calamities, poverty and war, subject for Board 

approval. 

C. Humanitarian programs- the company may conduct programs that may help alleviate 

poverty and address other arising concerns in every community where its corporate offices 

and other nearby towns.  

D. Scholarship Programs-  

1. The company shall choose one student belonging from the Top Ten honor roll of at 

least one public high school per year(those in the areas  

where offices of the company are located). 

2. A Memorandum of Agreement shall be entered to by and between the company and 

the chosen student scholar or in case he/she is still a minor, he/she shall be 

represented by his/her parents/guardians. Included in the MOA shall be the 

condition that if the student scholar will not be able to fulfill item no. 5 of this 

program, he/she shall be liable to refund to the bank the full amount of the 

scholarship. 

3. The company shall provide either the full or partial tuition fee of the student scholar 

for the course relevant to banking and finance subject for Board approval. 

4.  The student scholar shall maintain a grade point average of 1.75(90%) throughout 

the semester covered by the scholarship. Failure to maintain said average shall 

automatically forfeit the scholarship grant for the succeeding semester. Course 

should be related to banking. 

5. Upon graduation, the student scholar shall serve the company for an equivalent of 

one(1) year per year of scholarship.  

6. Children of well-deserving employees may apply for this scholarship program 

subject for approval by the Board. 

7. Continuing Education Program- employees who wish to pursue graduate programs 

on Master in Business Administration (MBA), Corporate Law or Bachelor of Laws 

and Letters (LlB) / Juris Doctor (JD), Certified Public Accountant (CPA) Review 

and other related courses needed in their functions within the company may avail 

of the continuing education program. Every semester availed of shall be equivalent 

to one (1) year of service to be rendered in the bank. A Memorandum of Agreement 

shall be contracted between the company and the employee-beneficiary for the 

aforementioned purpose. 

 

E. Educational materials, gadgets, tools and instruments- the company shall donate 

Educational materials, gadgets, tools and instruments to schools within areas where 

company offices are located subject for Board approval. The materials shall be given after 

the recipient school enters into a Memorandum of Agreement with the company that the 

former shall plant twenty(20) seedlings of fruit-bearing trees and shall take care of the same 

until maturity within its premises with proper documentation. 

F. Funding per project- donations either in kind or in cash shall not exceed One Hundred 

Thousand Pesos(Php100,000.00) per project as per approval of the Board. 
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In case of projects not listed above; 

  

1. Projects which are not included in the above-listed conditions shall also be subject to Board 

approval; 

2.  As well as those included in the above-written conditions which require more than One 

Hundred Thousand Pesos (Php100,000.00) amount of funding per project. 

 

In case of projects not listed above; 

Projects which are not included in the above-listed conditions shall also be subject 

to Board approval; 

As well as those included in the above-written conditions which require more than 

One Hundred Thousand Pesos (Php100,000.00) amount of funding per project. 
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DONATIONS TO RURAL HEALTH UNIT– COVID-19 PANDEMIC 
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 s. Consumer Protection Practices 

 

i. Role and responsibility of the Board and Senior Management for the 

development of consumer protection strategy and establishment of 

an effective oversight over the bank’s consumer protection 

programs 

 

Rural Bank of San Mateo (Isabela), Inc. (RBSMI) is in full support of the State’s policy 

of providing protection to its consumers, upholding their welfare and establishing 

principles and standards of conduct for the banking industry. For this, the Bank has the 

role of ensuring that the best interests of financial consumers are protected. 

 

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF OVERSIGHT BODIES 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

o The Board of Directors (BOD) has the ultimate responsibility for the level of 

customer risk assumed by Rural Bank of San Mateo (Isabela), Inc. (RBSMI) 

Accordingly, the Board approves the Bank’s overall business strategies and 

significant policies, including those related to managing and taking 

customer risks. 

 

o The Board of Directors takes steps to develop an appropriate 

understanding of the customer risks the Bank faces through briefings from 

auditors and experts external to the organization. 

 

o The Board of Directors provides clear guidance regarding the level of 

customer protection risk acceptable to the Bank and ensures that senior 

management implements the procedures and controls necessary to 

comply with the policies that have been adopted. 

 

o The BOD is responsible for developing and maintaining a sound Customer 

Protection Risk Management System that is integrated into the over-all 

framework for the entire product and service life-cycle. 

 

o Each director has a level of knowledge commensurate with the nature of 

his or her role in managing the Bank’s customer protection program. This 

can be done through attendance to trainings and seminars, interaction 

with experts and regulatory personnel knowledgeable to this line. 

 

o The Board reviews and approves appropriate customer protection policies 

to limit risks inherent in the Bank’s significant business lines, activities, or 

products, including ensuring effective oversight of any third-party providers 

that provide products and services for the Bank. 
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o The Board periodically reviews and approves customer protection risk 

exposure limits to conform to any changes in the Bank’s strategies and 

addresses the extent of protection assumed by the customers when new 

products are introduced. 

 

 

 

SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

 

o Senior management is responsible for implementing a program to manage 

the customer compliance risks associated with the Bank’s business model, 

including ensuring compliance with laws and regulations on both a long-

term and a day-to-day basis. Accordingly, management should be fully 

involved in its activities and possess sufficient knowledge of all major 

products to ensure that appropriate risk controls are in place and that 

accountability and lines of authority are clearly delineated. 

 

o Senior management also is responsible for establishing and communicating 

a strong awareness of, and need for, effective customer protection risk 

controls and high ethical standards. 

 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

 

 The BOD and Senior Management periodically review the effectiveness of 

the Customer Protection Risk Management System (CPRMS) including how 

findings are reported and whether the audit mechanism in place enable 

adequate oversight. 

 

 The BOD and Senior Management must ensure that sufficient resources are 

devoted to the customer protection program. 

 

 They must be certain the FCP weaknesses are properly addressed and 

corrective actions are taken in a timely manner. 

 

 The Board and Senior Management are sufficiently familiar with and are 

using adequate record keeping and reporting systems to measure and 

monitor the major sources of customer risk to the Bank. 

 

 The Board and Senior Management ensure that the depth of staff resources 

is sufficient to operate and manage the Bank’s customer protection 

activities soundly and that employees have the integrity, ethical values, 

and competence that are consistent with a prudent management 

philosophy and operating style. 
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 The Board and Senior Management anticipate and respond to customer 

protection risks that may arise from changes in the Bank’s competitive 

environment and to risks associated with new or changing regulatory or 

legal requirements. 

 

ii. The consumer protection risk management system of the bank 

 

The Customer Protection Risk Management System (CPRMS) is a means by which 

a Bank can identify, measure, monitor and control customer protection risks inherent in 

its operations. The risks belong to the financial customer or the Bank. 

 

The CPRMS is proportionate to the size, structure and complexity of Rural Bank of 

San Mateo (Isabela), Inc. (RBSMI) operations. It provides the foundation for ensuring the 

Bank’s adherence to CP standards of conduct and compliance with customer 

protection laws, rules and regulations in order to prevent risk to the Bank and any harm 

or financial loss to the customer.  

 

The policies and procedures of the CPRMS are embodied in the Financial 

Consumer Protection Manual of the Bank. 

 

iii. The consumer assistance management system of the bank which 

shall include the customer assistance policies and procedures as 

well as the corporate structure for handling complaint 

 

STRUCTURE 

 

Rural Bank of San Mateo (Isabela), Inc. (RBSMI) follows its existing 

operational channel in handling customer complaints.  It has 

designated its Branch Managers to serve as the Customer Assistance 

Officers (CAOs).  The CAOs then report to the HCAO for the latter to 

present and discuss the report on complaints to the President, and 

subsequently report to the Board which will provide action based on 

the recommendations of the President.  The structural chart for CAMS 

is presented below: 
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ROLES OF CUSTOMER ASSISTANCE OFFICER (CAO) 

 

The Branch Managers who are designated as CAOs shall have the 

following functions and responsibilities: 

 

a.  Receives and acknowledges customer concerns, either 

complaint or request. A Complaint/Request Form shall be 

provided to the customer to file the complaint with the 

Bank; 

b. Records customer’s concerns in a logbook. A database of 

concerns is encoded in the computer 

  

c.  Makes an initial review and investigation of concerns of 

the customer.  He/She shall see to it that the primary cause 

of the customer’s concern is identified properly; 

d. Processes concerns of the customer.  The CAO shall 

immediately address the concern of the customer.  If the 

concern requires Head CAO’s assistance, send 

immediately the concern to them; 

e.  Provides official reply to the customer.  The reply shall be 

approved by the Head CAO ; 

f.  In order to determine whether the Bank has satisfactorily 

addressed the concern of the customer, requests client 

feedback; 

Board of Directors 

President 

Head- CAO  

BMs/CAOs BMs/CAOs 
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h.  Prepares and submits a summary report to Head Customer 

Assistance Office (HCAO) 

 

 

 

Consumer Assistance Channels: 

 

 Contact Number:  09175210985 / (078) 323-0815 

 Email Address: rbsmi_consumerassistance@rbsanmateoisa.com 

 Facebook page: https://www.facebook.com/Rural-Bank-of-San-Mateo-

Isabela-Inc-405677642816604  

 

 Contact Person: Jason E. Corpuz – Customer Service Officer 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:rbsmi_consumerassistance@rbsanmateoisa.com
https://www.facebook.com/Rural-Bank-of-San-Mateo-Isabela-Inc-405677642816604
https://www.facebook.com/Rural-Bank-of-San-Mateo-Isabela-Inc-405677642816604


 

  P a g e  61 |Annual Report 2021 

 

 

SUSTAINABILITY 

 

 

On October 2020, the Board approved a 

new product line – the Renewable Energy 

Loan or the Green Energy Loan. In support 

of the nation’s drive towards 

sustainability, the Bank now caters a loan 

for financing solar panel installation for 

either agricultural, agro-industrial, 

commercial and residential purposes 

like: 

 Solar power system loan for 

agro-industrial purposes and 

agricultural application like 

irrigation through solar pumps, 

fixed or movable; 

 Solar on grid or tie grid 

electricity; 

 Solar generators, etc. 
 

The Bank is also planning to power up all 

its offices and branches through 

renewable energy or through solar 

panels by 2023. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  P a g e  62 |Annual Report 2021 

 

7. CORPORATE INFORMATION 

 

a. Organizational structure, including the name and position of key officers 

 

 

 

 NAME POSITION/DESIGNATION RANK 

1  Pilapil, Katrina Marie P.   Chief Executive Officer   President  

2 Ronquillo, Joseph John S. Chief Compliance Officer Senior Manager 

3  Chan, Elsa Marie 

Pierangela G.  

Head, Internal Audit Department  Senior Manager  

4  Hermosura, Maritess C.  Head, Lending Division   Senior Manager  
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b. List of major stockholders of the bank, including nationality, percentage of 

stockholdings and voting status 

 

Name of Stockholder Nationality  Shares Subscribed  

Percentage 

of Voting 

 and Paid  Ownership Status 

Petines, Ma. Linda N. Filipino 108,065 22.75% Active 

Mayo, Helen P. Filipino 95,467 20.10% Active 

Gapud, Nenita P. Filipino 53,724 11.31% Active 

Petines, Nelson Y. Filipino 42,945 9.04% Active 

Petines, Manuel Y. Filipino 27,958 5.89% Active 

Pilapil, Katrina Marie P. Filipino 25,349 5.34% Active 

Ramos, Ma. Alexandra P. Filipino 18,698 3.94% Active 

Petines, Soledad Filipino 18,640 3.92% Active 

Petines, Paolo N. Filipino 17,705 3.73% Active 

Total   408,553 86.01%  
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c. PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 
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d. Website 

 

The Bank has no website but it can be reached through our official Facebook page at 

https://www.facebook.com/RBSanMateoIsabela 

 

 

 

 

e. List of banking units 

 

BRANCHES ADDRESS CONTACT DETAILS 

Main Branch National Highway, Barangay 3, San 

Mateo, Isabela 

(078) 323-0815 / 323-0817 

0917-585-6033 

rbsanmateoisa@rbap.org 

Alfonso Lista, Ifugao 

Branch 

Santa Maria, Alfonso Lista, Ifugao 0977-817-5764 

Luna, Isabela Branch Centro, Luna, Isabela 0917-585-6032 

Ramon, Isabela Branch Bugallon Proper, Ramon, Isabela 0917-529-8214 

San Manuel, Isabela 

Branch 

National Highway, San Manuel, 

Isabela 

0917-529-8152 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.facebook.com/RBSanMateoIsabela
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HEAD OFFICE 

 

MAIN BRANCH 
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ALFONSO LISTA BRANCH 

 

 

LUNA BRANCH 
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RAMON BRANCH 

 

SAN MANUEL BRANCH 
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2021 Audited Financial Statements (AFS) with Auditor’s Opinion (ANNEX A) 
 

II. COMPLIANCE WITH PART V OF APPENDIX 62 OF THE MORB – DISCLOSURES IN THE ANNUAL REPORTS 

AND PUBLISHED STATEMENT OF CONDITION 

 

A. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND CAPITAL ADEQUACY: 

 

1. Tier 1 capital and a breakdown of its components 

Tier 1 Capital and a breakdown of its components 

Paid up common stock 47,500,000 

Retained earnings 100,091,179.42 

Sub-total  147,591,179.42 

 

2. Tier 2 capital and a breakdown of its components 

Tier 2 Capital and a breakdown of its components 

General loan loss provision  5,175,226 

Total Tier 2 Capital 5,175,226 

 

3. Deductions from Tier 1 (50%) and Tier 2 (50%) capital 

Deductions from Tier 1 (50%) 

Deferred tax asset, net of deferred tax liability 10,595,232.28 

Deductions from Tier 2 (50%) 

Deductions from Tier 2 Capital 0.00 

 

4. Total qualifying capital 

Total qualifying capital 142,171,173 

 

5.  Capital requirements for credit risk 

TOTAL CREDIT RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS MULTIPLY BY CAPITAL REQUIREMENT 

803,618,818.40 10% 80,361,881.84 

 

6. Capital requirements for market risk 

TOTAL MARKET RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS MULTIPLY BY CAPITAL REQUIREMENT 

0.00  0.00 

 

7. Capital requirements for operational risk 
TOTAL OPERATION RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS MULTIPLY BY CAPITAL REQUIREMENT 

99,442,222.76 10% 9,944,222.28 

 

8. Total and Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio on both solo and consolidated bases 

Total Capital Adequacy Ratio 15.74% 

Total Tier 1 CAR 15.17% 
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Independent Auditors’ Report  

 

 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of 

RURAL BANK OF SAN MATEO (ISABELA), INC. 

Barangay 3, National Highway, 

San Mateo, Isabela 

 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Qualified Opinion 

 

We have audited the financial statements of Rural Bank of San Mateo (Isabela), Inc. (the “Bank”), which 

comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021, and the statement of comprehensive 

income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

 

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

our report, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the financial 

position of the Bank as at December 31, 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 

then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS), and as modified by the 

application of the financial reporting reliefs issued by the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) and approved 

by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), as described in Note 2 to the financial statements. 

 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

 

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Bank adopted PFRS 9, Financial Instruments on 

January 1, 2018, except the impairment requirements of the new standard. PFRS 9 introduces a forward-

looking expected credit loss (ECL) model to assess impairment on debt financial assets not measured at fair 

value through profit or loss and loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. 

 

The Bank adopted Appendix 15 of the Manual of Regulations for Banks (MORB) in assessing and 

measuring impairment for its credit exposures. Appendix 15 of the MORB provides arbitrary rates for 

provisioning which is inconsistent with PFRS 9 and thus constitutes a departure from PFRS. As of 

December 31, 2021, the Bank’s total allowance on credit losses on loans and other receivables amounted to 

₱37.55 million as disclosed in Note 8. As the Bank has not implemented or assessed the impact of the ECL 

requirements of the PFRS 9, any adjustments to the amount of surplus, allowance for credit losses and 

related deferred tax assets as at December 31, 2021 have not been determined. 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA). Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audits of the Financial 

Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audits of the financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion 



Other Matter 

 

The financial statements of Rural Bank of San Mateo (Isabela), Inc. as at and for the year ended December 

31, 2020 were audited by another auditor whose report thereon dated April 26, 2021 expressed a qualified 

opinion on those financial statements due to not fully adopting PFRS 9, Financial instruments, particularly 

the forward-looking ECL model and non-adoption of PFRS 16, Leases, a single lessee accounting model 

that requires a lessee to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased 

asset and a leased liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. 

 

Emphasis of Matter 

 

We draw attention to Note 27 of the financial statements, which describes the effects of the prior period 

adjustments in the Bank’s financial statements related to adoption of PFRS 16, Leases. The prior period 

financial statements have not been amended and the predecessor auditor’s report has not been reissued, but 

the corresponding figures have been properly restated or appropriate disclosures have been made in the 

current period financial statements. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 

We also draw attention to Note 2 to the financial statements, which indicate that the financial statements 

have been prepared in accordance with PFRS, as modified by the application of the financial reporting 

reliefs issued by the BSP and approved by SEC in response to COVID-19 pandemic. The Bank had 

recognized in full the allowance for credit losses in 2021. However, the Bank still availed the relief 

excluding certain eligible loans from past due and non-performing classification in computing the 

allowance. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, 

or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with PSA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 

 

 

 



As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audits. We also:  

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.  

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to 

the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audits.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements of Rural 

Bank of San Mateo (Isabela), Inc. taken as a whole. The supplementary information required under BSP 

Circular No. 1074 in Note 30 and Revenue Regulation No. 15-2010 in Note 31 to the financial statements 

are presented for purposes of filing with the BSP and Bureau of Internal Revenue and are not a required 

part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management. The 

information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the basic financial 

statements. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic 

financial statements taken as a whole. 

 

 

DIAZ MURILLO DALUPAN AND COMPANY 

Tax Identification No. 003-294-822 

BOA/PRC No. 0234, effective until August 4, 2023 

SEC Accreditation No. 0234-SEC, Group A, issued on March 17, 2022 and  

  valid in the audit of 2021 to 2025 financial statements of SEC covered institutions  

BIR Accreditation No. 08-001911-000-2022, effective until March 14, 2025  

 

By: 

 

 

 
Elirie S. Arañas 

Partner 

CPA Certificate No. 0101773 

SEC Accreditation No. 101773-SEC, Group A, issued on June 29, 2021 and 

  valid in the audit of 2020 to 2024 financial statements of SEC covered institutions  

Tax Identification No. 207-051-549 

BSP Accreditation No. 101773-BSP, Group B, issued on May 3, 2021 and  

  valid in the audit of 2020 to 2024 financial statements of BSP covered institutions 

PTR No. 8867320 January 17, 2022, Makati City 

BIR Accreditation No. 08-001911-011-2022, effective until March 14, 2025 

 

April 22, 2022 

 



RURAL BANK OF SAN MATEO (ISABELA), INC.

Statement of Financial Position

(With comparative figures for 2020)

2021

2020

(As restated - 

see Note 27)

ASSETS

Cash and other cash items - note 6 ₱12,132,020 ₱9,235,064 

Due from Banko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) - note 6 25,621,607          25,799,179          

Due from other banks - note 6 282,215,822        314,683,148        

Investment securities at amortized cost - note 7 86,643,445          46,437,636          

Loans and other receivables (net) - note 8 587,397,342        543,455,857        

Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment (net) - note 9 26,875,163          29,326,645          

Investment properties (net) - note 10 4,711,371            2,632,828            

Deferred tax assets (net) - note 24 9,841,750            10,613,100          

Right-of-use assets (net) - note 27 435,850               691,298               

Other assets - note 11 20,038,964          3,313,961            

TOTAL ASSETS                   ₱1,055,913,334 ₱986,188,716 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities

Deposit liabilities - note 12 ₱880,884,087 ₱820,758,721 

Bills payable - note 13 -                       2,000,000            

Deposits for stocks subscription - note 14 9,481,700            5,500,875            

Retirement benefits obligation - note 16 8,235,893            13,004,111          

Accrued and other liabilities - note 15 8,488,279            8,118,995            

Income tax payable 1,956,004            2,292,235            

Lease liability - note 27 486,491               750,862               

909,532,454        852,425,799        

Equity 

Capital stock - note 17 47,500,000          47,500,000          

Surplus reserve - note 18 13,740,293          14,277,460          

Surplus free - note 18 87,776,989 76,147,071          

Actuarial loss on defined benefit obligation, net of tax - note 16 (2,636,402) (4,161,614)           

146,380,880 133,762,917 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY ₱1,055,913,334 ₱986,188,716 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements)

As at December 31



RURAL BANK OF SAN MATEO (ISABELA), INC.

Statement of Comprehensive Income

(With comparative figures for 2020)

2021

2020

(As restated - 

see Note 27)

INTEREST INCOME

Due from other banks - note 6 ₱1,292,364 ₱1,129,901 

Investment securities at amortized cost - note 7 2,526,777   2,544,078 

Loans and other receivables (net) - note 8   73,661,133   69,065,908 

   77,480,274   72,739,887 

INTEREST EXPENSE

Deposit liabilities  - note 12 (7,388,474) (9,364,702) 

Bills payable - note 13 (1,333) (473,861) 

(7,389,807) (9,838,563) 

NET INTEREST INCOME 70,090,467 62,901,324 

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES - note 22 (17,752,036) (4,218,881) 

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 52,338,431 58,682,443 

OTHER INCOME - note 20 19,197,516 9,049,973 

OPERATING EXPENSES - note 21 (54,757,462) (51,553,078) 

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 16,778,485 16,179,338 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE - note 24 (5,685,734) (4,753,749) 

NET PROFIT 11,092,751 11,425,589 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit obligation, net of tax - note 16 1,525,212 (1,985,068) 

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR ₱12,617,963 ₱9,440,521 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements)

For the Years Ended December 31



RURAL BANK OF SAN MATEO (ISABELA), INC.

Statement of Changes in Equity

(With comparative figures for 2020)

Capital Stock

(see Note 17)

Surplus Reserve 

(see Note 18)

Surplus Free 

(see Note 18)

Other 

Comprehensive 

Income (Loss) 

(see Note 16) Total

Balances as at January 1, 2020, ₱47,500,000 ₱14,450,000 ₱66,577,390 (₱2,176,546) ₱126,350,844 

as previously reported

Prior period adjustment - note 27 -                       -                    (28,448) -                       (28,448) 

Balances as at January 1, 2020,

as restated 47,500,000 14,450,000 66,548,942 (2,176,546) 126,322,396 

Transactions with owners:

Cash dividends declared -                       -                    (2,000,000) -                       (2,000,000) 

Comprehensive income:

Reversal of appropriation -                       (172,540) 172,540 -                       -                   

Actuarial loss for the year -                       -                    -                    (1,985,068) (1,985,068) 

Net income for the year -                       -                    11,425,589 -                       11,425,589 

Balances as at December 31, 2020 47,500,000          14,277,460       76,147,071       (4,161,614)           133,762,917     

 Comprehensive income:

Reversal of appropriation -                       (537,167) 537,167 1,525,212 1,525,212 

Net income for the year -                       -                    11,092,751 -                       11,092,751 

Balances as at December 31, 2021 ₱47,500,000 ₱13,740,293 ₱87,776,989 (₱2,636,402) ₱146,380,880 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements)



RURAL BANK OF SAN MATEO (ISABELA), INC.

Statement of Cash Flow

(With comparative figures for 2020)

For the Years Ended December 31

2021

2020

(As restated - 

see Note 27)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax ₱16,778,485 ₱16,179,338 

Adjutsments for:

   Interest income - notes 6 and 7 (3,819,142) (3,673,979) 

   Gain from sale of BPFFE - note 9 (497) (53,995) 

   Gain from disposal of investment properties - note 10 (677,661) (6,150,182) 

   Retirement benefit expense - note 16 2,464,390 2,166,397 

   Provision for credit losses - notes 8 and 22 17,752,036 4,218,881 

   Depreciation and amortization - notes 9, 10 and 27 3,224,804 4,160,628 

Write off of investment property and loan receivable - note 21 568,650               -                        

Interest on lease liability - note 27 44,537 62,034                  

Income before working capital changes 36,335,602 16,909,122 

Decrease (increase) in operatimg assets:

   Loans and other receivables (64,804,482) (6,303,989) 

   Other assets (16,725,003) 3,270,197 

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:

   Deposit liabilities 60,125,366 113,231,487 

   Accrued and other liabilities 369,284 (1,943,322) 

Cash generated from operations 15,300,767 125,163,495 

Interest received 3,819,142 3,673,979 

Income tax paid (5,759,019) (8,625,294) 

Contributions paid - note 16 (2,220,312) (1,638,710) 

Retirement benefits paid from book reserve - note 16 (2,978,680) (221,697) 

Net cash generated from operating activities 8,161,898 118,351,773 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from maturity of investment securities at amortized cost - note 7 90,040,965 251,040,071 

Acquisition of investment securities at amortized cost - note 7 (130,246,774) (254,015,429) 

Acquisition of BPFFE - note 9 (422,803) (345,750) 

Proceeds from disposal of BPFFE - note 9 501 54,000 

Collections from sale of investment properties - note 10 1,046,354 9,712,460 

Net cash generated from (used in) investing activities (39,581,757) 6,445,352 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments of bills payable - note 13 (2,000,000) (16,000,000) 

Proceeds from bills payable - note 13 -                       3,000,000 

Proceeds from deposit for stock subscription - note 14 3,980,825 2,369,775 

Dividends paid - note 19 -                       (2,000,000) 

Payment of lease - note 22 (308,908) (298,559)              

Net cash generated from (used in) financing activities 1,671,917 (12,928,784) 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (29,747,942) 111,868,341 

Forward



For the Years Ended December 31

2021

2020

(As restated - 

see Note 27)

Continued

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (29,747,942) 111,868,341 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

Cash and other cash items 9,235,064 11,079,410 

Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 25,799,179 25,960,634 

Due from other banks 314,683,148 200,809,006 

349,717,391 237,849,050 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR

Cash and other cash items 12,132,020 9,235,064 

Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 25,621,607 25,799,179 

Due from other banks 282,215,822 314,683,148 

₱319,969,449 ₱349,717,391 

OPERATIONAL CASH FLOWS FROM INTEREST

Interest received ₱77,518,667 ₱72,271,491 

Interest paid (7,563,044)           (8,277,668)           

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements)



RURAL BANK OF SAN MATEO (ISABELA), INC. 

Notes to Financial Statements 

As at and for the Years Ended December 31, 2021 

(With comparative figures for 2020)  

  

 

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 

 

Rural Bank of San Mateo (Isabela), Inc. (the “Bank”) was incorporated and registered with the 

Philippine and Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on June 6, 1962 with Registration 

No. 20840. On June 11, 1962, the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) granted the Bank its 

Certificate of Authority to operate as a financial institution. 

 

The Bank was formed to carry and engage in the business of extending rural credits to small 

farmers and tenants and to deserving rural industries or enterprises, to have and exercise all 

authorities and powers, to do and perform all acts, to transact all business which may legally be 

had or done by rural banks organized under and in accordance with the Rural Banks’ Act as it 

exists or may be amended; and to do all other things incident thereto and necessary and proper in 

connection with said purposes within such territory, as may be determined by the Monetary 

Board of the BSP. 

 

The Bank’s product and services are traditional deposits such as regular savings deposits and 

certificate of time deposits. The Bank also offers various types of loans such as commercial, 

agricultural, and various consumer loans and microfinance loans. 

 

The Bank’s registered office address is located at National Highway, Barangay 3, San Mateo, 

Isabela.  

 

The Bank currently has four (4) branches located as follows: 

 

Branches Address 

Alfonso Lista Branch Alfonso Lista, Ifugao 

Luna Branch Luna, Isabela 

Ramon Branch Ramon, Isabela 

San Manuel San Manuel, Isabela 

 

The accompanying financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of 

Directors (BOD) on April 22, 2022. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these consolidated 

financial statements are summarized in this note. The policies have been consistently applied to all 

the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

 

Statement of Compliance 

 

The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with Philippine 

Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs), as modified by the application of the following 

financial reporting reliefs issued by the BSP and approved by the SEC in response to the 

COVID-19 pandemic as follows: 

 

(i) Staggered booking of allowance for credit losses over maximum period of five years 

 

(ii) Exclusion of eligible loans from past due and non-performing classification until 

December 31, 2021 

 

In 2020, the Bank availed the staggered booking of allowance for credit losses and the 

exclusion of eligible loans from past due and non-performing loans. All provisions and 

requirements of PFRSs are applied by the Bank in preparation of its financial statements except 

for impairment of its loans and receivables. The Bank adopted Appendix 15 of Manual of 

Regulations for Banks (MORB) that provides arbitrary rates for provisioning based on number 

of days past due, collaterals, and type of loan. 

 

However, in 2021, the Bank decided to recognize all the remaining allowance for credit losses that 

was applied for staggered booking. 

 

PFRSs include all applicable PFRSs, Philippine Accounting Standards (PASs), and 

Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 

(IFRIC) as approved by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) and adopted by the 

SEC.  

 

Basis of Preparation 

 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. Historical cost is 

generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.  

 

The financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (₱), the Bank’s functional and 

presentation currency. All amounts are rounded to the nearest peso except when otherwise 

indicated. 
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Changes in Accounting Policies 

 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial years except for 

the following new and amended PFRS that are mandatorily effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after January 1, 2021. 

 

COVID-19-related Rent Concessions beyond June 30, 2021 (Amendments to PFRS 16). The 

amendment provides relief to lessees from applying the PFRS 16 requirement on lease 

modifications to rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. A 

lessee may elect not to assess whether a rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification if it 

meets all of the following criteria: (a) the rent concession is a direct consequence of COVID-19; (b) 

the change in lease payments results in a revised lease consideration that is substantially the same 

as, or less than, the lease consideration immediately preceding the change; (c) any reduction in lease 

payments affects only payments originally due on or before June 30, 2022; and (d) there is no 

substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. 

 

A lessee that applies this practical expedient will account for any change in lease payments resulting 

from the COVID-19 related rent concession in the same way it would account for a change that is 

not a lease modification, i.e., as a variable lease payment. 

 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after April 1, 2021. Early 

adoption is permitted. The Bank adopted the amendments beginning April 1, 2021. As there are no 

rent concessions granted to the Bank as a lessee, these amendments had no impact on the financial 

statements. 

 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 (Amendments to PFRS 9, PFRS 7, PFRS 4 and PFRS 

16). The amendments provide the following temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting 

effects when an interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free 

interest rate (RFR): 

 Practical expedient for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows as a 

result of IBOR reform 

 Relief from discontinuing hedging relationships 

 Relief from the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR instrument is designated as a 

hedge of a risk component. 

 

The Bank shall also disclose information about: (a) the nature and extent of risks to which the entity 

is exposed arising from financial instruments subject to IBOR reform, and how the entity manages 

those risks; and (b) their progress in completing the transition to alternative benchmark rates, and 

how the entity is managing that transition. 

 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021 

and apply retrospectively. These amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the 

Bank. 
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New Accounting Standards, Interpretations and Amendments to Existing Standards Effective 

Subsequent to January 1, 2021 

 

Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of the Bank’s financial statements are listed 

below. This listing of standards and interpretations issued are those that the Bank reasonably expects 

to have an impact on disclosures, financial position or performance when applied at a future date. 

The Bank intends to adopt these standards when they become effective. 

 

Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to PFRS 3). Minor amendments were made 

to PFRS 3, Business Combinations to update the references to the Conceptual Framework for 

Financial Reporting and add an exception for the recognition of liabilities and contingent liabilities 

within the scope of PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and Philippine 

Interpretation IFRIC 21, Levies. The amendments also confirm that contingent assets should not be 

recognized at the acquisition date. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2022. 

 

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to PAS 16). The 

amendments to PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment prohibits an entity from deducting from the 

cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds received from selling items produced 

while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use. It also clarifies that an entity is ‘testing 

whether the asset is functioning properly’ when it assesses the technical and physical performance 

of the asset. The financial performance of the asset is not relevant to this assessment. Entities must 

disclose separately the amounts of proceeds and costs relating to items produced that are not an 

output of the entity’s ordinary activities. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after January 1, 2022. 

 

Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to PAS 37). The amendment to 

PAS 37 clarifies that the direct costs of fulfilling a contract include both the incremental costs of 

fulfilling the contract and an allocation of other costs directly related to fulfilling contracts. Before 

recognizing a separate provision for an onerous contract, the entity recognizes any impairment loss 

that has occurred on assets used in fulfilling the contract.  

 

The above amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. The 

Bank will apply these amendments to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 

the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies the amendments. 

 

Annual Improvements to PFRS Standards 2018–2020 

 

 PFRS 9, Financial Instruments – clarifies which fees should be included in the 10% test for 

derecognition of financial liabilities. 

 PFRS 16, Leases – Lease Incentives – amendment of illustrative example 13 to remove the 

illustration of payments from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements. The objective of 

the amendment is to avoid any potential confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives 

because of how the requirements for lease incentives are illustrated.    

 PFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards – allows subsidiaries 

that have measured their assets and liabilities at carrying amounts recorded in their parent’s 

books to also measure any cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported by the 

parent. This amendment will also apply to associates and joint ventures that have taken the 

same PFRS 1 exemption. 
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 PAS 41, Agriculture, Taxation in Fair Value Measurements – removal of the requirement for 

entities to exclude cash flows for taxation when measuring fair value under PAS 41. This 

amendment is intended to align with the requirement in the standard to discount cash flows on 

a post-tax basis. 

 

The annual improvements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. 

 

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to 

PAS 12). The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception under PAS 12, so 

that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary 

differences. The amendments also clarify that where payments that settle a liability are deductible or 

tax purposes, it is a matter of judgement (having considered the applicable tax law) whether such 

deductions are attributable for tax purposes to the liability recognized in the financial statements 

(and interest expense) or to the related asset component (and interest expense). The annual 

improvements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. 

 

An entity intends to apply the amendments to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the 

earliest comparative period presented for annual reporting periods on or after January 1, 2023. The 

amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Bank. 

 

Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to PAS 8). The amendments introduce a new 

definition of accounting estimates and clarify the distinction between changes in accounting 

estimates and changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors. Also, the amendments 

clarify that the effects on an accounting estimate of a change in an input or a change in a 

measurement technique are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result from the correction 

of prior period errors.  

 

An entity applies the amendments to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting 

estimates that occur on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier adoption permitted. The amendments 

are not expected to have a material impact on the Bank. 

 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to PAS 1 and PFRS Practice Statement 2). The 

narrow-scope amendments PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements require entities to disclose 

material accounting policy information instead of significant accounting policies. The amendments 

also clarify the following: (1) accounting policy information may be material because of its nature, 

even if the related amounts are immaterial; (2) accounting policy is material if users of an entity’s 

financial statements would need it to understand other material information in the statements; and 

(3) if an entity discloses immaterial accounting policy information, such information shall not 

obscure material accounting policy information.  

 

Further, the amendment provides several paragraphs to explain how an entity can identify material 

accounting policy information and to give examples of when accounting policy information is likely 

to be material. In addition, PFRS Practice Statement 2 has been amended by adding guidance and 

examples to explain and demonstrate the application of ‘four-step materiality process’ to accounting 

policy information in order to support the amendments to PAS 1.  

 

The amendment is applied prospectively. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after January 1, 2023, with earlier application permitted. Once the entity applies the 

amendments to PAS 1, it is also permitted to apply the amendments to PFRS Practice Statement 2. 
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Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to PAS 1). The amendments 

clarify paragraphs 69 to 76 of PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, to specify the 

requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify: 

 What is meant by a right to defer settlement 

 That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period 

 That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right 

 That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument 

would the terms of a liability not impact its classification 

 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 

and must be applied retrospectively. However, in November 2021, the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB) tentatively decided to defer the effective date to no earlier than January 1, 

2024. The Bank is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current practice. 

 

Determination of Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy 

 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 

measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability 

takes place either: 

 

 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 

 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Bank. 

 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 

would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their 

economic best interest. 

 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to 

generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 

market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

 

The Bank uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 

sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs 

and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 

 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 

categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that 

is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

 

• Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable 

• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable 
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For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 

Bank determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 

categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 

whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

 

External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such as investment properties. 

Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional 

standards are maintained. 

 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Bank has determined classes of assets and liabilities on 

the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value 

hierarchy as explained above. 

 

Fair value measurement disclosures of financial and non-financial assets are presented in Note 5 to 

the financial statements. 

 

‘Day 1’ Difference 
 

Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different with the fair value from other 

observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation 

technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Bank recognizes the 

difference between the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ difference) in the statement of 

income. In cases where the transaction price used is made of data which is not observable, the 

difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in the statement of 

income when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each 

transaction, the Bank determines the appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ difference 

amount. 

 

Financial Instruments 
 

Initial recognition, measurement and classification 

 

The Bank recognizes financial assets and financial liabilities in the statements of financial position 

when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Purchases or sales of 

financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or 

convention in the market place are recognized on the settlement date.  

With the exception of receivables that do not contain a significant financing component, financial 

assets and financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value including transaction costs, 

except for those financial assets and liabilities at FVPL where the transaction costs are charged to 

expense in the period incurred. Receivables that do not contain a significant financing component 

are recognized initially at their transaction price.  

 

The Bank classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortized cost, at FVOCI and at 

FVPL. The classification of financial assets depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 

characteristics and the Bank’s business model for managing the financial assets. The Bank’s 

business model is determined at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed 

together to achieve a particular business objective. The Bank’s business model determines whether 

cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both. 

 

The Bank classifies its financial liabilities as subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR 

or at FVPL.  



Notes to Financial Statements 

Page - 8 

 

 

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 

 

Financial assets are measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

 The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial 

assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that 

are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

After initial recognition, financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method, less impairment in value. Amortized cost is 

calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an 

integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when 

the financial assets are derecognized and through amortization process. 

 

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank’s cash and other cash items, due from BSP, due 

from other banks, loans and other receivables, investment securities at amortized cost and other 

assets are classified under this category as disclosed in Notes 6, 7, 8 and 11. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and other cash items, due from BSP and due from other 

banks. These are highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that 

are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk 

of changes in value. 

 

Loans and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market and with no intention of trading. 

 

Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cost 

 

Financial liabilities are categorized as financial liabilities at amortized cost when the substance 

of the contractual arrangement results in the Bank having an obligation either to deliver cash or 

an-other financial asset to the holder, or to settle the obligation other than by the exchange of a 

fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of its own equity 

instruments. 

 

These financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any directly attributable 

transaction costs. After initial recognition, these financial liabilities are subsequently measured 

at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking 

into account any discount or premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the 

effective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are 

derecognized or impaired or through the amortization process. 

 

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank’s deposit liabilities, bills payable and accrued 

and other liabilities are classified under this as disclosed in Notes 12, 13 and 15. 

 

Amortized Cost and EIR method  

  

The amortized cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at 

initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortization using the EIR 

method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 

allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortized cost of a financial asset 

before adjusting for any loss allowance.  
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Interest income is recognized using the EIR method for debt instruments measured subsequently at 

amortized cost and at FVOCI.  

 

The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and 

points paid or received that form an integral part of the EIR, transaction costs and other premiums 

or discounts) excluding ECL, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 

appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial 

recognition.  

 

Interest income is recognized in the statements of comprehensive income. 

 

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities  

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of financial 

position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts 

and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities 

simultaneously.  

 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

 

Financial assets  

 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 

financial assets) is derecognized when:  

 

 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;  

 the Bank retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to 

pay them in full without material delay to third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or  

 the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 

transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 

retained substantially all risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.  

 

Where the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 

pass-through arrangement and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 

rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the 

Bank’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 

guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the 

asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Bank could be required to repay. 

 

Financial liabilities  

 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability was discharged, 

cancelled or has expired.  

 

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 

different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 

modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 

liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss. 
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Impairment 

 

At the end of the reporting period, the Bank assesses its expected credit losses (ECL). The 

Bank recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not 

held at fair value through profit or loss. The Bank being categorized as having simple and non-

complex operations adopted the basic guidelines in setting up of allowance for credit losses 

provided for in Appendix 15 of the Manual of Regulations for Banks in recognizing expected 

credit losses (ECL) for its loans and other receivables. The Bank looks beyond the past 

due/missed amortizations in classifying exposures and in providing allowance for credit losses. 

 

The Bank considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments, i.e. last 

amortization paid are more than 30 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Bank may 

also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates 

that the Bank is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking 

into account any credit enhancements held by the Bank. A financial asset is written off when 

there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. 

 

The Bank’s ECL measurement, as determined by the Management, is disclosed in Note 4. 

 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank did not assess the impact of ECL model that is in 

accordance with PFRS 9 due to certain limitations. 

 

Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 

 

Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently 

carried at cost less the accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. The initial cost of 

bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import 

duties, taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and 

location of its intended use and the initial estimate of the future costs of dismantling and removing 

the item and restoring the site on which it is located, the obligation for which an entity incurs either 

when the item is acquired or as a consequence of having used the item during a particular period for 

purposes other than to produce inventories during that period. Expenditures incurred after the bank 

premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and 

maintenance are normally charged against operations in the period in which the costs are incurred. 

Expenditures for additions, major improvements and renewals are capitalized. 

Depreciation of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment commences once the assets are 

available for use and computed using the straight-line basis over the estimated useful life as follows: 

 

 In Years 

Building 20 

Transportation equipment 5 

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 2 to 5 

Leasehold improvements Shorter between useful life of 20 years or lease term 

 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 

each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable 

amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
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Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements. When assets are retired 

or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation and any impairment in 

value are removed from the financial statements and any resulting gain or loss is credited or charged 

to profit or loss. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the 

carrying amount and are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Investment Properties 

 

Investment properties comprised of land held by the bank for capital appreciation and foreclosed 

properties or real and other properties acquired (ROPA). These are initially measured at cost 

including transaction costs. An investment property acquired through an exchange transaction is 

measured at fair value of the asset acquired unless the fair value of such an asset cannot be 

measured in which case the investment property acquired is measured at the carrying amount of the 

asset given up. Foreclosed properties are initially measured at acquisition cost which comprise the 

carrying amount of the related loan after adjustments for unamortized premium or discount less 

allowance for credit losses plus accrued interest and directly attributable costs. 

 

Foreclosed properties are classified under investment properties upon either: 

 

 Entry of judgment in case of judicial foreclosure; 

 Execution of sheriff’s certificate of sale in case of extra-judicial foreclosure; or 

 Notarization of the deed of dacion in case of payment in kind (dacion en pago). 

 

The difference between the fair value of the asset acquired and the carrying amount of the related 

loan is recognized in the statements of comprehensive income. 

 

Expenditures incurred after the investment properties are recognized, such as repairs and 

maintenance costs, are normally charged to income in the period in which the costs are incurred. 

 

Subsequent to initial recognition, depreciable investment properties are carried at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Land is subsequently measured at cost less 

any impairment in value. 

 

Depreciation on depreciable investment properties is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 

estimated remaining useful life of 10 years. 

 

Investment property is derecognized when they have either been disposed of or when they are 

permanently withdrawn from use and no future benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or 

losses on the retirement or disposal of investment properties are recognized in the statements of 

comprehensive income in the period of retirement or disposal. Transfers are made to or from 

investment properties only when, there is a change in use. Transfer between investment property, 

and bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment does not change the carrying amount of the 

property transferred nor does it change the cost of that property for measurement or disclosure 

purposes. 
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Other Assets 

 

Other assets include prepaid assets, supplies, accounts receivables, petty cash fund and sundry 

debits. These are resources controlled by the Bank as a result of past events and from which future 

economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity. These are recognized in the financial 

statements when it is probable that the future economic benefits will flow to the entity and the asset 

has a cost or value that can be measured reliably.  An asset’s carrying amount is written down 

immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 

recoverable amount. 

 

Impairment of Non-financial Assets 

 

At the end of each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether there is any indication that any non-

financial assets may have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 

amount of these assets is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Bank 

estimates the recoverable amount of the cash- generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a 

reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, assets are also allocated to individual 

cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units 

for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 

 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value 

in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 

asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

 

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable 

amount. An impairment loss is recognized as an expense, unless the relevant asset is carried at a 

revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

 

Related Party Relationships and Transactions 

 

Related party transactions are transfer of resources, services or obligations between the Bank and 

its related parties, regardless whether a price is charged. 

 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 

significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. These parties 

include: (a) individuals owning, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control 

or are controlled by, or under common control with the Bank; (b) associates; and (c) individuals 

owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Bank that gives them 

significant influence over the Bank and close members of the family of any such individual. 

 

In considering each possible related party relationships, attention is directed to the substance of the 

relationship and not merely on the legal form. 
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Revenue and Expense Recognition 

 

Revenue is recognized when or as control over distinct goods or services is transferred to the 

customer such as when the customer is able to direct the use of the transferred goods or services 

and obtains substantially all of the remaining benefits from the goods or services, given that a 

contract with enforceable rights and obligations exists and among others, the collectability of 

consideration is probable taking into account the customer’s creditworthiness.  

 

Revenue recognized is the transaction price that reflects the consideration which the Bank 

expects to be entitled to in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf 

of third parties. 

 

To determine whether to recognize revenue, the Bank follows a five-step process:  

 

(1) identifying the contract with a customer; 

(2) identifying the performance obligation; 

(3) determining the transaction price; 

(4) allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations; and, 

(5) recognizing revenue when/as performance obligations are satisfied. 

 

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

 

a. Revenues within the scope of PFRS 15 

 

Service Fees, Commissions, and Other Income 

 

Fees, commissions and other income are generally recognized on an accrual basis when the service 

has been provided. Penalties are recognized only upon collection or where there is a reasonable 

degree of certainty as to their collectability. 

 

Gain on sale of assets 

 

Gain on sale of assets is recognized when earned in the period of retirement or disposal. 

 

b. Revenues outside the scope of PFRS 15 

 

Interest income 

 

Interest on financial instruments is recognized based on the effective interest method of accounting. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset and 

allocating the interest income over the relevant period. 
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Expense Recognition 

 

Expenses are recognized in profit or loss when decrease in future economic benefit related to a 

decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. Expenses 

are recognized in profit or loss: 

 

 on the basis of a direct association between the costs incurred and the earning of specific items 

of income; 

 on the basis of systematic and rational allocation procedures when economic benefits are 

expected to arise over several accounting periods and the association with income can only be 

broadly or indirectly determined; or 

 immediately when an expenditure produces no future economic benefits or when, and to the 

extent that, future economic benefits do not qualify, or cease to qualify, for recognition in the 

statements of financial position as an asset. 

 

Interest expense are expenses incurred that are associated with the Bank’s deposit liabilities and bills 

payable. Non-interest expenses are costs attributable to administrative, marketing, collection and 

other business activities of the Bank. 

 

Leases 

 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 

arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent 

on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. A 

reassessment is made after the inception of the lease only if one of the following applies, (a) there is 

a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement; (b) a renewal 

option is exercised or extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or extension was initially 

included in the lease term; (c) there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is 

dependent on a specific asset; or (d) there is a substantial change to the asset. 

 

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the 

change in circumstances gives rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d), and at the date of 

renewal or extension period for scenario (b) above. 
 
The Bank leases building and a land for its branches and remote server. The Bank applies a single 
recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value items. For leases with a term of more than twelve (12) months, the Bank recognizes a right-of-
use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its 
obligation to make lease payments, unless the underlying asset is of low value. 
 
Right-of-Use Asset  
 
At the commencement date of the lease (which is when the underlying asset is available for use), the 
Bank recognizes the right-of-use assets. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at costs which 
consist of the amount of the lease liability plus any initial direct costs incurred and payments made 
at or prior to commencement date less lease incentives received and estimated costs to be incurred 
by the lessee for restoration or dismantling of the underlying asset to be suitable to the condition 
required by the terms and conditions of the lease. Subsequent to commencement date, the right-of-
use asset shall be measured at cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment 
losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. 
 
 



Notes to Financial Statements 

Page - 15 

 

 

The right-of-use asset is amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of its estimated 
useful life and the lease term as follows: 
 

  In years 

Land 20 

Building 5 

 
Lease liabilities 
 
At the commencement date of the lease, (which is when the underlying asset is available for use), 
the Bank recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present value of the lease payments payable 
over the lease term, discounted at the rate implicit in the lease if that can be readily determined. If 
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Bank shall use an incremental borrowing rate. 
 
Variable lease payments that are not included in the measurement of the lease liability are 
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which the event or condition that triggers payment 
occurs, unless the costs are included in the carrying amount of another asset under another Standard. 
 
Lease liabilities are subsequently measured to reflect changes in the lease term, exercising of a 
purchase option (using a revised discount rate), amounts expected to be paid under residual value 
guarantees (using unchanged discount rate), or future lease payments resulting from a change or a 
rate used to determine those payments (using an unchanged discount rate). Such remeasurements are 
treated as adjustments to the right-of-use asset.   
 
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 
The Bank applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of equipment 
and other rentals (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of twelve (12) months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments on short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Leases with variable lease payments 
 
The Bank recognizes payments for short-term and long-term leases with variable lease payments 
depending on the future revenue as expenses when incurred over the lease term.  
 
Employee Benefits 

 

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by the Bank in exchange for services 

rendered by employees, including trustees and management. 

 

a. Short-term Employee Benefits 

 

The Bank recognizes a liability net of amounts already paid and an expense for services rendered by 

employees during the accounting period. Short-term benefits given by the Bank to its employees 

include salaries and wages, bonus and incentives, directors’ fees, SSS, PHIC, HDMF contributions, 

accumulating and vesting credit leaves and gratuity pay. 
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b. Retirement Benefits 

 

The cost or providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method which reflects 

services rendered by employees to the date of valuation and incorporates assumptions concerning 

employees’ projected salaries. 

Retirement benefit obligation recognized in the statements of financial position is the present value 

of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. 

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future 

cash outflows using interest rates of government bonds and that have terms to maturity 

approximating to the terms of the related retirement benefit obligation. 

 

The Bank recognizes immediately the following changes in the retirement benefit obligation in the 

statements of comprehensive income: 

 Service costs comprising current service costs, gains and losses on curtailment and non-routine 

settlements; and 

 Net interest expense or income, which is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net 

defined benefit liability or asset. 

 

Remeasurements, comprising actuarial gains or losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding net 

interest and the return on plan assets, excluding net interest, are recognized immediately in the 

statements of financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to equity through “other 

comprehensive income” in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to 

profit or loss in subsequent periods. 

 

The Bank engaged the services of an actuary to determine the amount of the Bank’s retirement 

benefit obligation for the year ended December 31, 2021 (see Note 16). 

 

Income Tax 

 

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the profit or 

loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or 

directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly 

in equity, respectively. 

 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as 

reported in the statements of comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that are 

taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Bank’s 

liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted 

by the end of the reporting period. 

 

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 

applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on 

the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

 

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 

taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. 

Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward 

of unused tax credits from excess Minimum Corporate Income Tax (MCIT) over Regular Corporate 

Income Tax (RCIT) and unused Net Operating Loss Carry-over (NOLCO), to the extent that it is 

probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences 
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and carry forward of unused MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. Deferred income tax, 

however, is not recognized when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction that affects neither 

the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 

to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all 

or part of the asset to be recovered. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period 

in which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred 

tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which 

the Bank expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 

assets and liabilities. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 

tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 

taxation authority and the Bank intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 

Provisions and Contingencies 

 

Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 

of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 

expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 

value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

 

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as 

interest expense. When the Bank expects a provision or loss to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is 

recognized as a separate asset only when the reimbursement is virtually certain and its amount is 

estimable. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statements of comprehensive 

income, net of any reimbursement. 

 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements. These are disclosed unless the 

possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are 

not recognized in the financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is 

probable. Contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure that developments are appropriately 

reflected in the financial statements. If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of economic 

benefits will arise, the asset and the related income are recognized in the financial statements. 

 

Events after the Reporting Date 

 

The Bank identifies post-year-end as events that occurred after the reporting date but before the date 

when the financial statements were authorized for issue. Post-year-end event that provide additional 

information about the Bank’s financial position at the reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected 

in the financial statements. Post-year-end events are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when 

material to the financial statements. 

 

 



Notes to Financial Statements 

Page - 18 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

 

The preparation of the financial statements in compliance with PFRS requires management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. 

The judgments, estimates and assumptions used in the financial statements are based upon 

management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances at the end of the reporting period. 

Actual results could differ materially from such estimates. 

 

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 

factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. 

 

Critical Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies 

 

The Bank has made the following judgments, apart from those involving estimation, which have the 

most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements. 

 

a. Business model assessment 

 

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the business 

model and solely for payments of principal and interest test. The Bank determines the business 

model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a 

particular business objective. This assessment includes judgment reflecting all relevant 

evidence including how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance 

measured, the risks that affect the performance of the assets and how these are managed and 

how the managers of the assets are compensated. The Bank monitors financial assets 

measured at amortized cost that are derecognized prior to their maturity to understand the 

reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of the 

business for which the asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Bank’s continuous assessment 

of whether the business model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to 

be appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a change in business model 

and so a prospective change to the classification of those assets. No such changes were 

required during the periods presented. 

 

Accordingly, the Bank classifies cash and other cash items (excluding cash on hand), due from 

BSP, due from other banks, loans and other receivables, investment securities at amortized 

cost and other assets as financial assets at amortized cost since these are held solely for 

payments of principal and interest. 
 

b. Determining lease term and discount rate 
 

Determining Lease Term - The Bank has entered into contract of lease for land and buildings 
as a lessee. The Bank has exercised significant judgment in determining the lease term as the 
non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to extend 
the lease if it is reasonably certain to be extended or in any periods covered by an option to 
terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.  

 
The Bank determined that renewal periods of leases with longer periods are not included as 
part of the lease term as these are not reasonably certain to be exercised. 
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Estimating the Incremental Borrowing Rate (IBR)- Significant management judgment was 
used by the Bank in determining the discount rate, whether implicit rate, if readily available or 
IBR, to be used in calculating the present value of right-of-use asset and lease liabilities. The 
IBR is the rate of interest that the Bank would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and 
with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the ROU 
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Bank ‘would 
have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they 
need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Bank estimates the 
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to 
make certain entity-specific estimates. The incremental borrowing rate used by the Bank was 
7%. 

 

c. Distinction between investment properties and owner-occupied properties 

 

The Bank determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property.  In making its 

judgment, the Bank considers whether the property generates cash flows largely independent 

of the other assets held by an entity.  Owner-occupied properties generate cash flows that are 

attributable not only to the property but also to other assets used in operations. 
 

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainties 

 

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 

estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates assumptions 

and judgments that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

 

a. Estimating allowances for credit losses 

 

The Bank estimates the allowance for credit losses related to its loans and receivables based 

on assessment of specific accounts where the Bank has information that certain customers are 

unable to meet their financial obligations. In these cases, judgment used was based on the best 

available facts and circumstances including but not limited to, the length of relationship with 

the customer and the customer’s current credit status based on third party credit reports and 

known market factors. The Bank used judgment to record specific reserves for customers 

against amounts due to reduce the expected collectible amounts. These specific reserves are 

re-evaluated and adjusted as additional information received impacts the amounts estimated, 

notwithstanding the provisioning requirements under Manual of Regulations for Banks 

(MORB). 

 

The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if different 

judgments were made or different estimates were utilized. An increase in the allowance 

for credit losses would increase the recognized operating expenses and decrease current 

assets. 

 

Based on Management’s assessment, the Bank recognized provision for credit losses 

amounting to ₱17,752,036 and ₱4,218,881 in 2021 and 2020, respectively. The details of the 

allowance for credit losses on financial assets are presented in Note 22.  
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b. Reviewing residual values, useful lives and depreciation method of bank’s premises, furniture, 

fixtures and equipment, investment properties and right-of-use assets 

 

The Bank estimates the useful lives of its bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment, 

right-of-use asset and investment properties based on the period over which the assets are 

expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives are reviewed and updated, if 

expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear. The estimation of 

the useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment, right-of-use asset and 

investment properties is based on a collective assessment of industry practice and experience 

with similar assets. It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be materially 

affected by changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. A 

reduction in the estimated useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment, 

right-of-use asset and investment properties would increase recorded operating expenses and 

decrease noncurrent assets. 

 

In both years, Management assessed that there are no indications that there has been a 

significant change in pattern used by the Bank to consume its asset’s future economic benefit. 

The carrying amount of the Bank’s bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment, right-of-

use asset and investment properties as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 amounted to 

₱32,022,384 and ₱32,650,771, respectively (see Notes 9, 10 and 27). 
 

c. Determining impairment of non-financial asset 

 

The Bank performs an impairment review when certain impairment indicators are present. 

Determining the fair value of investment properties, and bank premises, furniture, fixtures 

and equipment, which require the determination of future cash flows expected to be 

generated from the continued use and ultimate disposition of such assets, requires the 

Bank to make estimates and assumptions that can materially affect the financial 

statements. Future events could cause the Bank to conclude that investment properties 

and bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are impaired. Any resulting 

impairment loss could have a material adverse impact on the financial condition and 

results of operations. 

 

The preparation of the estimated future cash flows involves significant judgment and 

estimations. While the Bank believes that its assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, 

significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the assessment of 

recoverable values and may lead to future additional impairment charges under PFRS. 

 

The details of allowance for impairment loss on investment properties are shown in Note 

10. 

 

d. Determining retirement benefit obligation 

 

The determination of the Bank’s obligation and cost of post-employment defined benefit 

is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such 

amounts. Those assumptions include, among other, discount rates, and expected salary 

rate increase. In accordance with PFRS, actual results that differ from assumptions are 

accumulated and amortized over the future periods and therefore, generally affect the 

recognized expense and recorded obligation in such future periods. 
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As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, retirement benefit obligation amounted to ₱8,235,893 and 

₱13,004,111, respectively (see Note 16). 

 

e. Recoverability of deferred tax assets 

 

The Bank reviews the carrying amounts at each reporting date and reduces deferred tax 

assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 

available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized prior to expiration. 

 

The Bank recognized deferred tax assets amounting to ₱9,841,750 and ₱10,613,100  as at 

December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, which Management believes to be fully 

recoverable prior to expiration (see in Note 24). 

 

4. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 

General Risk Management Principles 

 

The Bank’s financial assets comprise cash and other cash items, due from BSP, due from other 

banks, investment securities at amortized cost, loans and receivables, and other assets while 

financial liabilities comprise savings deposits, bills payable, accrued expenses and other 

liabilities to finance the Bank’s operations. 

 

The following table summarizes the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities 

recorded by category: 

 

 2021 2020 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost:   

Cash and other cash item ₱12,132,020 ₱9,235,064 

Due from BSP  25,621,607 25,799,179 

Due from other banks  282,215,822 314,683,148 

Investment securities at amortized cost 86,643,445 46,437,636 

Loans and other receivables  587,397,342 543,455,857 

Other assets*  7,846,990 258,390 

  ₱1,001,857,226 ₱939,869,274 

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:   

Deposit liabilities      ₱880,884,087 ₱820,758,721 

Bills payable  - 2,000,000 

Accrued and other liabilities**  5,696,616 5,698,657 

  ₱886,580,703  ₱828,457,378 
*excluding non-financial assets amounting to ₱12,191,974 and ₱3,055,569 in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

**excluding government-related payables and non-financial liabilities amounting to ₱2,791,663 and ₱2,420,338 in 2021 and 

2020, respectively. 

 

Credit Risk and Concentration of Assets and Liabilities and Off-balance Sheet Items 

 

Credit risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from a counterparty failure to perform and 

meet the terms of its contract with the Bank subjecting the latter to a financial loss. Credit 

risk may last for the entire tenor and may approximate to the full amount of a transaction and 

in some cases may exceed the original principal exposure. 
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Credit risk inherent in the lending activities and the Bank manages it in accordance with a 

credit risk management framework that spans for identification, measurement, control, 

monitoring and reporting. 

 

To manage credit risk, the Bank conducts credit investigation and background checking and 

follows written manuals and procedures for loan disbursements, monitoring and collection. 

Policies of loan diversification like maximum loan size, types of loans, loan structures are 

instituted to avoid concentration in a particular sector or area to lessen portfolio risk. 

 

The Management closely monitors the overall credit operations and acts on the identified 

existing and potential risks appropriately for reporting during regular meetings of the BOD. 

 

Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk before Collateral Held or Other Credit Enhancements 

 

An analysis of the maximum exposure to credit risk relating to on-balance sheet assets 

without taking into account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements is shown 

below: 

 

 2021 2020 

Cash and other cash items*  ₱242,145 ₱1,179,304 

Due from BSP  25,621,607 25,799,179 

Due from other banks  282,215,822 314,683,148 

Investment securities at amortized cost  86,643,445 46,437,636 

Loans and other receivables**  636,262,872 587,123,297 

Other assets*** 7,846,990 258,390 

 ₱1,038,832,881   ₱975,480,954 
*except for cash on hand amounting to ₱11,889,875 and ₱8,055,760 in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

**gross of unamortized discount and allowance for credit losses amounting to ₱48,865,530 and ₱43,667,440 in   2021 and 2020, 
respectively. 

***excluding non-financial assets amounting to ₱12,191,974 and ₱3,055,569 in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

 

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value, the amounts represent the current credit 

risk exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of 

changes in values. 

 

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, 

or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause 

their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, 

political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank’s 

performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographic location. 
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Credit Quality of Financial Assets 

 

The table below shows the credit quality by class of financial assets as at December 31, 2021 and 

2020. 

 

 

2021 

Neither Past 

Due nor 

Impaired 

Past Due but 

not Impaired 

 

Impaired 

 

Total 

Cash and other cash 

items* ₱242,145 ₱- ₱- ₱242,145 

Due from BSP 25,621,607 - - 25,621,607 

Due from other banks 282,215,822 - - 282,215,822 

Investment securities at 

amortized cost 86,643,445 - - 86,643,445 

Loans and other 

receivables** 537,882,860 70,393,458 16,673,921 624,950,239 

Other assets*** 7,846,990 - - 7,846,990 

 ₱940,452,869 ₱70,393,458 ₱16,673,921 ₱1,027,520,248 

 

 

2020 

Neither Past 

Due nor 

Impaired 

Past Due but 

not Impaired 

 

Impaired 

 

Total 

Cash and other cash 

items* ₱1,179,304 ₱- ₱- ₱1,179,304 

Due from BSP 25,799,179 - - 25,799,179 

Due from other banks 314,683,148 - - 314,683,148 

Investment securities at 

amortized cost 

 

46,437,636 

 

- 

 

- 

 

46,437,636 

Loans and other 

receivables** 496,115,097 67,281,585 11,326,845 574,723,527 

Other assets*** 258,390 - - 258,390 

 ₱884,472,754 ₱67,281,585 ₱11,326,845 ₱963,081,184 
*except for cash on hand amounting to ₱11,889,875 and ₱8,055,760 in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
**gross of allowance for credit losses but net of unamortized discount amounting ₱11,312,633 and ₱12,399,770 in 2021 and 2020, 

respectively. 

***excluding non-financial assets amounting to ₱12,191,974 and ₱3,055,569 in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

 

Neither past due nor impaired cash on hand and in banks are working capital cash fund placed, 

invested, or deposited in local banks belonging to the top ten (10) banks in the Philippines in 

terms of resources and profitability. Other neither past due nor impaired accounts are loans and 

other receivables and investment securities which have a very remote likelihood of default and 

have consistently exhibited good paying habits. 

 

Past due but not impaired loans and receivables and investment securities are loans and receivables 

and investment securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but the 

Bank believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of collateral available or 

status of collection of amounts owed to the Bank. 

 

 

 

 



Notes to Financial Statements 

Page - 24 

 

 

Loans with negotiated terms are loans that have been restructured due to deterioration in the 

borrower’s financial position. In respect of some of these loans, the Bank has made concessions 

that it would not otherwise consider. Once the loan is restructured, it remains in this category 

independent of satisfactory performance after restructuring. 

 

Impaired loans and other receivables and investment securities are those which the Bank 

determines that it will probably be unable to collect all principal and interest due based on the 

contractual terms of the promissory notes and securities agreements. Loans and other receivables 

that have been provided with 100% allowance for credit losses and those under litigation are 

considered impaired. The Bank holds collateral against loans receivables in the form of real estate 

and chattel mortgages, and deposit hold outs over assets. 

 

Aging Analysis 

 

An aging analysis of the Bank’s loans and other receivable, net of unamortized discount as of 

December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Current accounts ₱537,882,860 ₱496,115,097 

Past due accounts:   

1 – 30 days past due 2,404,359 12,367,567 

31 – 60 days past due 10,173,950 13,206,536 

61 – 90 days past due 831,348 9,022,050 

over 90 days past due* 73,657,722 44,012,277 

 ₱624,950,239 ₱574,723,527 
*Includes items in litigation amounting to₱1,215,000 and ₱609,637 in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

 

Measurement of allowance for credit losses  

 

As a general rule, Especially Mentioned and Substandard – Underperforming e.g., substandard 

accounts that are unpaid or with missed payment of less than ninety (90) days shall be considered 

as Stage 2 accounts, while Substandard Non-performing, Doubtful, and Loss accounts shall be 

considered as Stage 3 accounts. 

 

Individually Assessed Loans and Other Credit Exposures 

 

1. Loans and other credit exposures with unpaid principal and/or interest shall be classified and 

provided with allowance for credit losses (ACL) based on the number of days of missed 

payments, as follows: 

 

For unsecured loans and other credit exposures: 

 

No. of days unpaid/with 

missed payments 

 

Classification Minimum ACL 

 

Stage 

31 – 90 days  Substandard (underperforming) 10% 2 

91 – 120 days Substandard (non-performing) 25% 3 

121 – 180 days Doubtful 50% 3 

181 days and over Loss 100% 3 
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For secured loans and other credit exposures: 

 

No. of days unpaid/with 

missed payments 

 

Classification Minimum ACL 

 

Stage 

31 – 90 days*  Substandard (underperforming) 10% 2 

91 – 180 days* Substandard (non-performing) 10% 3 

181 – 365 days Substandard (non-performing) 25% 3 

Over a year – 5 years Doubtful 50% 3 

Over 5 years Loss 100% 3 
*When there is imminent possibility of foreclosure and expectation of loss, ACL shall be increased to 25%. 

 

Provided, that where the quality of physical collaterals or financial guarantees securing the loans 

and advances are determined to be insufficient, weak or without recoverable values, such loans 

and advances shall be treated as if these are unsecured. 

 

2. Loans and other credit exposures that exhibit the characteristics for classified accounts described 

under Sec. 143 (Credit Classification and Provisioning) shall be provided with ACL, as 

follows: 

 

Classification Minimum ACL Stage 

Especially mentioned 5% 2 

Substandard – secured 10% 2 or 3 

Substandard – unsecured 25% 2 or 3 

Doubtful 50% 3 

Loss 100% 3 

 

3. Unsecured loans and other credit accommodations classified as “Substandard” in the last two 

(2) internal credit reviews which have been continuously renewed/extended without reduction 

in principal and is not in process of collection, shall be downgraded to “Doubtful” 

classification and provided with a fifty percent (50%) allowance for credit losses. 

 

4. Loans and other credit accommodations under litigation which have been classified as 

“Pass” prior to the litigation process shall be classified as “Substandard” and provided with 

twenty-five percent (25%) allowance for credit losses. 

 

5. Loans and other credit accommodations that were previously classified as “Pass” but were 

subsequently restructured shall have a minimum classification of EM and provided with a 

five percent (5%) allowance for credit losses, except for loans which are considered non-

risk under existing laws, rules and regulations. 

 

6. Classified loans and other credit accommodations that were subsequently restructured shall 

retain their classification and provisioning until the borrower has sufficiently exhibited 

that the loan will be fully repaid. 

 

Collectively Assessed Loans and Other Credit Exposure 

 

1. Current “Pass” loans and other credit accommodations should be provided with a 

reasonable level of collective allowance, using historical loss experience adjusted for 

current conditions. 
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2. Loans and other credit exposures with unpaid principal and/ or interest shall be classified 

and provided with ACL based on the number of days of missed payments, as follows: 

 

For unsecured loans and other credit exposures: 

 

No. of days unpaid/with missed 

payments* 

 

Classification Minimum ACL 

 

Stage 

1 – 30 days Especially Mentioned 2% 2 

31 – 60 days/1st restructuring Substandard 25% 2 or 3 

61 – 90 days Doubtful 50% 3 

91 days and over/2nd restructuring Loss 100% 3 
*PAR for microfinance loans 

 

For secured loans and other credit accommodations: 

 

   ACL  

No. of days unpaid/with 

missed payments* Classification 

Other types of 

collateral 

Security by 

real estate Stage 

 

31 – 90 days 

Substandard 

(underperforming) 

 

10 

 

10 

 

2 

 

91 – 120 days 

Substandard 

(non-performing) 

 

25 

 

15 

 

3 

121 – 360 days Doubtful 50 25 3 

361 days – 5 years Loss 100 50 3 

Over 5 years Loss 100 100 3 

 

Provided, that where the quality of physical collaterals or financial guarantees securing the loans 

and advances is determined to be insufficient, weak or without recoverable values, such loans 

and advances shall be treated as if these are unsecured. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the BOD, which has established 

an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Bank’s short, 

medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Bank manages 

liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, 

by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles 

of financial assets and liabilities. 

 

The Bank seeks to manage its liquidity profile to be able to finance its capital expenditures and 

cover its operating costs. The Bank’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of 

funding and flexibility through valuation of projected and actual cash flow information. 

 

On March 15, 2019, BSP circular 1035 amended the requirement of MLR of rural banks to 20%. 

The liquidity ratio is expressed as a percentage of the eligible stock of liquid assets to its total 

qualifying liabilities. As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, minimum liquidity ratio of the Bank is 

40.68% and 59.07%, respectively.  
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The table below summarizes maturity profile of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities as at 

December 31, 2021 and 2020 based on undiscounted contractual cash flows. 

 

 

 

2021 

 

 

On Demand 

 

 

Due Within 1 

Year 

Due Beyond 1 

Year but Not 

More Than 5 

Years 

Due Beyond 5 

Year but Not 

More Than 15 

Years 

 

 

 

                Total 

Financial Assets:      

Cash and other cash items ₱12,132,020 ₱- ₱- ₱- ₱12,132,020 

Due from BSP 25,621,607 - - - 25,621,607 

Due from other banks 262,815,663 19,400,159 - - 282,215,822 

Investment securities at  

amortized cost - 40,129,516 11,513,929 35,000,000 

 

86,643,445 

Loans and other receivables* 45,390,662 203,424,510 328,952,306 47,182,761  624,950,239 

Other assets** 7,846,990 - - - 7,846,990 

 ₱353,806,942 ₱262,954,185 ₱340,466,235 ₱82,182,761 ₱1,039,410,123 

Financial Liabilities:      

Deposit liabilities  ₱817,832,441  ₱63,051,645 ₱- ₱- ₱880,884,086 

Accrued and other 

liabilities*** 

5,696,616 - - - 5,696,616 

 ₱823,529,057 ₱63,051,645 ₱- ₱- ₱886,580,702 

      

 

 

 

2020 

 

 

On Demand 

 

 

Due Within 1 

Year 

Due Beyond 1 

Year but Not 

More Than 5 

Years 

Due Beyond 5 

Year but Not 

More Than 15 

Years 

 

 

Total 

Financial Assets:      

Cash and other cash items ₱9,235,064  ₱- ₱- ₱- ₱9,235,064 

Due from BSP 25,799,179 - - - 25,799,179 

Due from other banks 289,815,624 24,867,524 - - 314,683,148 

Investment securities at 

amortized cost - 9,997,345 10,440,291 26,000,000 46,437,636 

Loans and other receivables* 50,593,250 210,968,645 268,029,759 45,131,873 574,723,527 

Other assets** 258,390 - - - 258,390 

 ₱375,701,507 ₱245,833,514 ₱278,470,050 ₱71,131,873 ₱971,136,944 

Financial Liabilities:      

Deposit liabilities ₱616,697,634 ₱195,621,246 ₱8,439,841 ₱- ₱ 820,758,721 

Bills payable - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 

Accrued and other liabilities*** 5,698,657 - - - 5,698,657 

 ₱622,396,291 ₱197,621,246 ₱8,439,841 ₱- ₱828,457,378 
*net of unamortized loan discount amounting to ₱11,312,633 and ₱12,399,770 in 2021 and 2020 respectively. 
**excluding non-financial assets amounting to ₱12,191,974 and ₱3,055,569 in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

***excluding government and other nonfinancial liabilities amounting to ₱2,791,663 and ₱2,420,339 in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

 

Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, 

foreign currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk. 

 

The Bank’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates. 
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Interest Rate Risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk to the earning or capital resulting from adverse movements in the 

interest rates. The Bank closely monitors the movements of interest rates in the market and reviews 

its asset and liability structure to ensure that exposures to fluctuations in interest rates are kept 

within acceptable limits. The Bank’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial 

liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note. 

 

The Bank follows a prudent policy on managing its assets and liabilities so as to ensure that 

exposure to fluctuations in interest rates are kept within acceptable limits. The Bank’s interest rate 

exposure management policy centers on reducing the Bank's overall interest expense and exposure 

to changes in interest rates.  

 

The Bank uses the interest rates and maturity matching analysis to monitor interest rate risk as 

follows: 

 
2021 Maturity Analysis 

 

On Demand 1-7 Days 8-30 Days 31-90 Days 

91 Days –  

1 year > 1-2 years Over 2 years Total 

Assets         

Cash and other 
cash items 

₱12,132,020 ₱- ₱- ₱- ₱- ₱- ₱- ₱12,132,020 

Due from banks 251,517,130 7,329,449 11,596,922  7,016,883  4,721,792    282,182,176 

Due from BSP 25,621,607       25,621,607 
Investment         

   Up to 4%  - - 9,997,263 20,088,701 10,043,552 - 1,000,000 41,129,516 

> 4% to 6% - - - - - 10,513,929 10,000,000 20,513,929 
> 6% to 10% - - - - - - 25,000,000 25,000,000 

> 10% to 15% - - - - - - - - 

> 15% to 20% - - - - - - - - 

> 20% to 25% - - - - - - - - 

Over 25% - - - - - - - - 

 - - 9,997,263 20,088,701 10,043,552 10,513,929 36,000,000 86,643,445 

Loans*         

   Up to 4%  - - - - - - - - 

> 4% to 6% - - - - - - - - 
> 6% to 10% 2,253,206 449,206 16,506,264 21,576,829 23,420,964 24,227,316 148,277,176 236,710,961 

> 10% to 15% 74,621,059 1,098,970 7,559,913 28,613,389 86,395,783 48,792,859 112,785,251 359,867,224 

> 15% to 20% 5,151,614 - 524,072 340,917 5,179,295 3,711,700 35,000 14,942,598 
> 20% to 25% 390,141 29,910 - 230,396 489,394 - - 1,139,841 

Over 25% - - - - - - - - 

 82,416,020 1,578,086 24,590,249 50,761,531 115,485,436 76,731,875 261,097,427 612,660,624 

Total 371,686,777 8,907,535 46,184,434 77,867,115 130,250,780 87,245,804 297,097,427 1,019,239,872 

Liability         
Deposit liabilities         

        Up to 4% 694,887,335 37,924,795 85,020,311 33,062,950 29,988,696 - - 880,884,087 

> 4% to 6% - - - - - - - - 
> 6% to 10% - - - - - - - - 

 694,887,335 37,924,795 85,020,311 33,062,950 29,988,696 - - 880,884,087 

         

Net position (₱323,200,558) (₱29,017,260) (₱38,835,877) ₱44,804,165 ₱100,262,084 ₱87,245,804 ₱297,097,427 ₱138,355,785 

*Gross loans, net of unamortized discount of ₱9,644,139 as of December 31, 2021 
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2020 Maturity Analysis 

 

On Demand 1-7 Days 8-30 Days 31-90 Days 

91 Days –  

1 year > 1-2 years Over 2 years Total 

Assets         

Cash and other 

cash items 

₱9,235,064 ₱- ₱- ₱- ₱- ₱- ₱- ₱9,235,064 

Due from banks  289,815,624   5,000,000  8,485,225  6,781,989  4,600,310 - - 314,683,148 

Due from BSP 25,799,179 - - - - - - 25,799,179 

Investment         
   Up to 4%  - - 9,997,263 - - - 1,000,000 10,997,263 

> 4% to 6% - - - - - - 10,440,291 10,440,291 

> 6% to 10% - - - - - - 25,000,000 25,000,000 
> 10% to 15% - - - - - - - - 

> 15% to 20% - - - - - - - - 

> 20% to 25% - - - - - - - - 
Over 25% - - - - - - - - 

 - - 9,997,263 - - - 36,440,291 46,437,554 

Loans          

   Up to 4%  - - - - - - - - 
> 4% to 6% - - - - - 969,557 - 969,557 

> 6% to 10% 15,713,899 5,073,251 6,119,504 5,811,275 25,797,181 3,631,520 111,062,503 173,209,133 

> 10% to 15% 23,679,979 3,871,593 8,392,150 32,969,424 107,155,677 53,264,122 143,243,864 372,576,809 
> 15% to 20% 3,349,773 - 35,752 1,073,229 8,362,873 852,387 - 13,674,014 

> 20% to 25% 90,928 - 2,059 50,551 169,045 137,677 - 450,260 

Over 25% - - - - - - - - 

 42,834,579 8,944,844 14,549,465 39,904,480 141,484,776 58,855,263 254,306,367 560,879,773 

Total 367,684,446 13,944,844 33,031,953 46,686,469 146,085,086 58,855,263 290,746,658 957,034,718 

Liability         

Deposit liabilities         
        Up to 4% 616,697,633, 29,882,981 82,114,331 57,424,804 26,199,131 - 8,439,841 820,758,721 

> 4% to 6% - - - - - - - - 

> 6% to 10% - - - - - - - - 

 616,697,633 29,892,981 82,114,331 57,424,804 26,199,131 - 8,439,841 820,768,721 

Bills payable         

        Up to 4% - - - - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 

> 4% to 6% - - - - - - - - 

> 6% to 10% - - - - - - - - 

 - - - - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 

Total 616,697,633 29,892,981 82,114,331 57,424,804 28,199,131 - 8,439,841 822,768,721 

Net position (₱249,013,187) (₱15,948,137) (₱49,082,379) (₱10,738,336) ₱117,885,955 ₱58,855,263 ₱282,306,817 ₱134,265,997 

*Gross loans, net of unamortized discount of ₱9,648,188 as of December 31, 2020 

 

Operational Risks 

 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes 

associated with the Bank’s involvement with financial instruments, including processes, 

personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from legal and regulatory requirements and generally 

accepted standards of corporate behavior. 

 

The Bank’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial 

losses and damage to the Bank’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control 

procedures that restrict initiative and creativity. 
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The primary responsibility of the development and implementation of controls to address 

operational risk is assigned to senior management within each business unit. This responsibility is 

supported by the development of overall Bank standards for the management of operational risk in 

the following areas; 

 

a) Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorization 

of transactions; 

b) Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions; 

c) Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements; 

d) Documentation of controls and procedures; 

e) Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of 

controls and procedures to address the risks identified; 

f) Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action; 

g) Development of contingency plans; 

h) Training and professional development; 

i) Ethical and business standards; and 

j) Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective. 

 

Compliance with Bank standards is supported by a program of periodic reviews undertaken by 

Internal Audit. The results of Internal Audit reviews are discussed with the management of the 

business unit to which they relate, with summaries submitted to the Audit Committee and senior 

management of the Bank. 

 

5. FAIR VALUE INFORMATION 

 

Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value 

 

The fair values of cash and other cash items, due from BSP, due from other banks, other assets 

deposit liabilities, bills payable and accrued and other liabilities measured at amortized cost 

approximates their carrying values either because these instruments are short- term in nature or 

the effect of discounting for those with maturities of more than one year is not material. 

 

The following financial assets and liabilities are not measured at fair values on recurring basis but 

the fair value disclosure is required: 

 
 

2021 

 

Carrying Value 

Fair Value  

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 ASSETS      

Investment securities 

at amortized cost 

 

₱86,643,445 

 

₱- 

 

₱86,643,445 

 

₱- 

 

₱86,643,445 

Loans and other 

receivables – net 

 

           587,397,342 

 

- 

 

587,397,342 

 

- 

 

587,397,342 

 ₱674,040,787 ₱- ₱674,040,787 ₱- ₱674,040,787 

 LIABILITY      

Lease liability ₱486,491  ₱486,491  ₱486,491 
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2020 

 

Carrying Value 

Fair Value  

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 ASSETS      

Investment securities 

at   amortized cost 

 

 ₱46,437,636 

 

₱- 

 

₱46,437,636 

 

₱- 

 

₱ 46,437,636 

Loans and other 

receivables – net 

 

543,455,857 

 

- 

 

543,455,857 

 

- 

 

543,455,857 

 ₱589,893,493 ₱- ₱589,893,493 ₱- ₱589,893,493 

 LIABILITY      

Lease liability ₱750,862 ₱- ₱750,862 ₱- ₱750,862 

 ***excluding non-financial assets amounting to ₱12,191,974 and ₱3,055,569 in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

 

Basis or assumptions in determining the fair value of financial instruments are disclosed below: 

 

a. Investment securities at amortized cost - The fair value for investment securities at amortized 

cost is based on market prices. Where this information is not available, the fair value has been 

estimated using quoted market prices for securities with similar credit, maturity and yield 

characteristics or through valuation techniques using discounted cash flow analysis. The 

discount rates used in 2021 and 2020 range from 1% to 6.125%. 

 

b. Loans and other receivables - Loans and other receivables are net of provisions for probable 

losses. The estimated fair value of loans and other receivables represents the discounted amount 

of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash flows are discounted at 

the loan’s interest rates ranging from 10% to 12% in 2021 and 2020. 

 

c. Lease liability - The fair value of the lease liability approximates its carrying amount as it is 

determined based on the present value of estimated future cash flows using prevailing market 

rates. The discount rate used is 7% as at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 

Investment property measured at cost 

 

The fair value of investment properties with carrying amount of ₱4,711,371, and ₱2,632,828, as 

at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, amounted to ₱21,925,757 and ₱12,588,864, 

which is currently categorized within Level 2. The fair value of the investment properties were 

arrived at using the market comparable approach through investigation and careful 

consideration to the extent, character and utility of the property; government assessment of real 

property; local government zoning system; sales and holding prices of similar land; “highest and 

best use” of the property and all adverse internal and external factors that may tend to affect or 

influence the value of the property. 

 

There were no changes on the valuation techniques nor any transfers to other levels for the years 

ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
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6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following: 

 

 2021 2020 

Cash and other cash items:   

Cash on hand ₱11,889,875 ₱8,055,760 

Checks and other cash items 242,145 1,179,304 

 12,132,020 9,235,064 

Due from BSP 25,621,607 25,799,179 

Due from other banks 282,215,822 314,683,148 

 ₱319,969,449 ₱349,717,391 

  

Cash and other cash items refer to cash on hand representing the total amount of cash in the 

Bank’s vault in the form of notes and coins under the custody of the cashier, including notes and 

coins in the possession of tellers while checks and other cash items account refers to the total 

amount of checks and other cash items received after the clearing cut-off time until the close of 

the regular banking hours. 

 

Due from BSP refers to the mandatory reserves representing the balance of the deposit account 

maintained with the BSP to meet reserve requirements and to serve as clearing account for 

interbank claims. Deposits with BSP does not earn interest. 

 

Under Section 252 of the Manual of Regulation for Banks (MORB), the required reserves shall 

be kept in the form of deposits placed in the banks’ demand deposit accounts with BSP. This 

further provides that such deposit account with the BSP is not considered as a regular current 

account as BSP checks for drawings against such deposit shall be limited to settlement of 

obligations with the BSP and withdrawals to meet cash requirements. 

 

Due from other banks comprise of savings deposits with interest rates ranging from 0.1% to 

0.625% and time deposits with interest rates ranging from 1% to 6%. 

 

Section 362 of the MORB states that loans and other credit accommodations as well as deposits 

and usual guarantees by a bank to any other bank, whether locally or abroad, shall be subject to 

the limits as herein prescribed or ₱100 million, whichever is higher. Provided, that the lending 

bank shall exercise proper due diligence in selecting a depository bank and shall formulate 

appropriate policies to address the corresponding risks involved in the transactions. 

 

Interest earned on deposits on local banks amounted to ₱1,292,364 and ₱1,129,901 in 2021 and 

2020, respectively. 
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7. INVESTMENT SECURITIES AT AMORTIZED COST 

 

The Bank has investments in debt securities classified as investment securities at amortized cost. 

Details are as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Retail treasury bonds ₱46,649,000 ₱46,663,000 

Treasury bills 40,292,000 - 

Less: Unamortized discount (297,555) (225,364) 

 ₱86,643,445 ₱46,437,636 

 

Movements in the account are disclosed below: 

 

 2021 2020 

Balance at January 1 ₱46,437,636 ₱43,462,278 

Acquisitions during the year 130,246,774 254,015,429 

Maturities during the year (90,040,965) (251,040,071) 

Balance, December 31 ₱86,643,445 ₱46,437,636 

 

Total interest earned on these financial assets amounted to ₱2,526,777 and ₱2,544,078 for 2021 

and 2020, respectively. No impairment was recognized as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 

Under current bank regulations, investments in bonds and other debt instruments shall not 

exceed 50% of adjusted statutory net worth plus 40% of total deposits liabilities. As of December 

31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank is compliant with such regulations. 

 

8. LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (NET)  

 

The account consists of the following: 

 

 2021 2020 

Receivable from customers:   

Small and medium enterprise ₱296,276,737 ₱302,507,010 

Agrarian reform loan 181,216,238 152,000,186 

Other agricultural credit loans 43,405,742 40,784,459 

Loans to individuals for housing purposes 21,394,518 11,436,674 

Loans to individuals primarily for personal 

use purposes 6,373,019 13,365,898 

Loans to individuals – other purposes 73,638,509 50,433,734 

Total loans 622,304,763 570,527,961 

Less: Allowance for ECL – note 22 (33,834,920) (27,549,693) 

         Unamortized discount (9,644,139) (9,648,188) 

 578,825,704 533,330,080 

Other receivables:   

Sales contract receivable 8,434,286 11,033,120 

Less: Allowance for ECL – note 22 (3,717,977) (3,717,977) 

         Unamortized discount (1,668,494) (2,751,582)  

 3,047,815 4,563,561 

Accrued interest receivable 5,523,823 5,562,216 

 ₱587,397,342 ₱543,455,857 
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Interest rates range from 10% to 12% per annum in 2021 and 2020. 

 

The breakdown of loans by status is presented as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Current loans ₱540,940,664 ₱493,498,318 

Past due loans 80,149,099 76,420,006 

Under litigation 1,215,000 609,637 

 ₱622,304,763 ₱570,527,961 

 

Interest income earned by the Bank from its loans and other receivables are disclosed below: 

 

 2021 2020 

Loans receivable  ₱72,214,817 ₱68,800,586 

Sales contract receivable 1,446,316 265,322 

 ₱73,661,133 ₱69,065,908 

 

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, loans receivable with carrying amount of nil and ₱2,000,000, 

respectively, were used as collateral for bills payable (see Note 13). 

 

Sales contract receivable refers to the amortized cost of assets acquired in settlement of loans 

through foreclosure or dacion in payment and subsequently sold on installment basis whereby 

the title to the said property is transferred to the buyers only upon full payment of the agreed 

selling price. 

 

Allowance for credit losses on loans receivables is comprised of the following: 

 

 2021 2020 

Specific loan loss ₱28,659,695 ₱23,578,476 

General loan loss 5,175,225 3,971,217 

 ₱33,834,920 ₱27,549,693 

 

The Bank applies the general approach in measuring ECLs which uses a 12-month ECL or lifetime 

expected loss allowance for all loans receivables. The Bank’s allowance for ECL has been 

determined with due consideration to the BSP guidelines on loan loss provisioning. 

 

Banks with credit operations that may not economically justify a more sophisticated loan loss 

estimation methodology or where practices fall short of expected standards shall, at a minimum, be 

subject to the following guidelines: 

 

As a general rule, Especially Mentioned and Substandard – Underperforming [e.g., substandard 

accounts that are unpaid or with missed payment of less than ninety (90) days shall be considered 

as Stage 2 accounts, while Substandard – Non-performing, Doubtful, and Loss accounts shall be 

considered as Stage 3 accounts. 
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BSP requires banks to establish specific allowance for impairment losses for classified loans and 

other risk assets in accordance with the following classification: 

 

Classification 

Required allowance 

Quantitative 

Stage Secured 

Unsecured 

(Individually 

assessed) 

Unsecured  

(Collectively 

assessed) 

Loans especially mentioned 5% 5% 2% 2 

Substandard – secured     

Underperforming 10% − − 2 

Non-performing 10-25% − − 3 

Substandard – unsecured     

Underperforming − 10%-25% 10%-25% 3 

Non-performing − 10%-25% 10%-25% 3 

Doubtful 25%-50% 50% 50% 3 

Loss 100% 100% 100% 3 

 

In addition, the Bank also provides a General Loan Loss Provision (GLLP) equivalent to 1% of the 

outstanding balance of unclassified loans other than restructured loans less loans which are 

considered non-risk under existing laws, rules and regulations.  

 

With the foregoing level of allowance for ECL, management believes that the Bank has 

sufficient allowance to cover any losses that may be incurred from the non-collection or non-

realization of its receivables and other risk assets. 

 

Regulatory Relief 

 

BSP Memorandum 2021-061 states that BSP-supervised financial institutions (BSFIs) are 

expected to conduct a comprehensive assessment of the quality of its loan portfolio before 

applying for the relief to book the allowance for credit losses on a staggered basis. BSFIs should 

assess each loan account in determining allowance for credit losses. If assessment on an 

individual account basis is not feasible, the assessment should be done on a collective basis or at 

the portfolio level.  

 

Consistent with the provisions of the Guidelines on Credit Risk Management, the propriety and 

adequacy of allowance for credit losses should be independently reviewed. BSFIs may apply for 

approval of staggered booking of allowance credit losses until March 8, 2021. Upon receipt of 

BSP approval, BSFIs are expected to immediately book the amount of allowance for credit 

losses that should be recognized in the first year of the five-year period. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Notes to Financial Statements 

Page - 36 

 

 

a) On March 5, 2021, the Bank submitted its application for staggered booking of allowance for 

credit losses for a period of 2 years, on a quarterly basis until December 31, 2022. The 

impact of staggered booking was taken up in the 2020 financial statements as follows:  

 
  

Amount with 

relief 

Impact of relief 

Increase 

(Decrease) 

 

Amount without 

relief 

Loans and other receivables ₱543,455,857 (₱3,133,679) ₱540,322,178 

Allowance for credit losses – loans 

and other receivables 

 

31,267,670 

 

3,133,679 

 

34,401,349 

Provision for credit losses 4,218,881 3,133,679 7,352,560 

Surplus free 76,188,762 (2,193,575) 73,995,187 

Deferred tax asset 10,595,230 940,104 11,535,334 

Income tax expense 4,759,427 (940,104) 3,819,323 

 

As of December 31, 2021, the Bank recognized the full amount of the provision for credit 

losses that was applied for staggered booking amounting to ₱3,133,679. 

 

b) Eligible loans excluded from past due and non-performing classification as of December 31, 

2021 and 2020 as an effect of the relief amounted to ₱25,308,662 and ₱63,063,197, 

respectively. 

 

Past Due Loans 

 

Past due loans of a bank shall, as a general rule, refer to all accounts in its loan portfolio, all 

receivable components of trading account securities and other receivables, which are not paid at 

maturity. 

 

BSP Manual of Regulations for Banks, Sec. 304, as amended by BSP Circular 941, defined the 

classification of past due loans as follows: 

 

As a general rule, loans, investments, receivables, or any financial asset, including restructured 

loans, shall be considered past due when any principal and/or interest or installment due, or 

portions thereof, are not paid at their contractual date, in which case, the total outstanding 

balance thereof shall be considered past due. 

 

Installment refers to principal and/or interest amortizations that are due on several dates as 

indicated in the loan documents. The allowance for loan losses is the estimated amount of losses in 

the Bank’s loan portfolio, based on evaluation of the collectability of loans and prior loss 

experience. 

 

Any amounts set aside in respect of losses on loans and advances in addition to those losses that 

have been specifically identified or potential losses which experience indicates to be present in the 

portfolio of loans and advances are accounted for as appropriations from retained earnings. Any 

credits resulting from the reduction of such amounts result in an increase in retained earnings and 

are not included in the determination of net profit or loss for the period. 

 

The allowance is increased by provisions charged to expenses and reduced by write-offs and 

reversals. 
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Non-Performing Loans 

 

Breakdown of non-performing loans (based on BSP Circular 941) based on days outstanding are 

as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Past due accounts:   

Less than 30 days ₱-  ₱- 

30 – 60 days - - 

61 – 90 days - - 

91 – 180 days 16,080,938 19,679,408 

Over 180 days 51,491,703 33,820,237 

 ₱67,572,641 ₱53,499,645 

 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, non-performing loans (NPLs) not fully covered by 

allowance for credit losses are as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Total Non-performing loans ₱67,572,641 ₱53,499,645 

Less: Non-performing loans covered by 

         allowance for credit losses 
  

67,310,683 

 

16,020,959 

 ₱261,958 ₱37,478,686 

 

Information regarding the Bank’s non-performing loans are as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Gross Non-performing loans ₱67,572,641 ₱53,499,645 

Ratio of gross NPLs to gross TLP (%) 10.86% 9.38% 

Net non-performing loans ₱261,958 ₱37,478,686 

Ratio of net NPLs to gross TLP (%) 0.01% 6.57% 

Ratio of total allowance for credit losses to gross 

NPLs (%) 
50.07% 51.50% 

Ratio of specific allowance for credit losses on 

gross TLP to gross NPLs (%) 
 

42.41% 

 

44.07% 

 

BSP Circular 941 defined non-performing loans (NPLs) as follows: 

 

Loans, investments, receivables or any financial asset shall be considered non- performing, even 

without missed contractual payments, when it is considered impaired under existing accounting 

standards, classified as doubtful or loss, in litigation, and/or there is evidence that full repayment 

of principal and interest is unlikely without foreclosure of collateral. All other loans, even if not 

considered impaired, shall be considered non- performing if any principal and/or interest are 

unpaid for more than 90 days from contractual due date, or accrued interests for more than 90 

days have been capitalized, refinanced, or delayed by agreement. 

 

Microfinance and other small loans with similar credit characteristics shall be considered non-

performing after contractual due date or after it has become past due. Restructured loans shall be 

considered non-performing. However, if prior to restructuring, the loans were categorized as 

performing, such classification shall be retained. 
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9. BANK PREMISES, FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND EQUIPMENT (NET) 
 

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts at the beginning and end of years 2021 and 2020, and the gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation of 

bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are shown below: 

 
December 31, 2021       

 Land  Building 

Leasehold 

improvements 

Furniture, 

fixtures and 

equipment 

Transportation 

equipment  Total 

Cost:       

Balance, January 1 ₱5,836,879 ₱27,646,782 ₱2,762,854 ₱14,232,711 ₱9,615,407 ₱60,094,633 

Additions - 121,212 - 301,591 - 422,803 

Write-off - - - (3,886,864) - (3,886,864) 

Disposal - - - (60,155) - (60,155) 

Balance, December 31 5,836,879 27,767,994 2,762,854 10,587,283 9,615,407 56,570,417 

Accumulated depreciation       

Balance, January 1  -  7,931,353  1,988,186  12,272,545  8,575,904  30,767,988 

Depreciation and amortization - 1,159,064 218,960 1,061,218 435,024 2,874,266 

Write-off - - - (3,886,849) - (3,886,849) 

Disposal - - - (60,151) - (60,151) 

Balance, December 31 - 9,090,417 2,207,146 9,386,763 9,010,928 29,695,254 

Carrying amount  ₱5,836,879 ₱18,677,577 ₱555,708 ₱1,200,520 ₱604,479 ₱26,875,163 

 
December 31, 2020       

 Land  Building 

Leasehold rights 

and 

improvements 

Furniture, fixtures 

and equipment 

Transportation 

equipment  Total 

Cost:       

Balance, January 1 ₱5,836,879 ₱27,646,782 ₱2,762,854 ₱21,301,013 ₱10,407,407 ₱67,954,935 

Additions - - - 345,750 - 345,750 

Write-off - - - (7,350,132) (682,000) (8,032,132) 

Disposal - - - (63,920) (110,000) (173,920) 

Balance, December 31 5,836,879 27,646,782 2,762,854 14,232,711 9,615,407 60,094,633 

 Accumulated depreciation       

Balance, January 1 - 6,778,569 1,769,043 17,312,018 8,656,294 34,515,924 

Depreciation and amortization - 1,152,784 219,143 1,662,127 711,607 3,745,661 

Write-off - - - (6,637,683) (681,999) (7,319,682) 

Disposal - - - (63,917) (109,998) (173,915) 

Balance, December 31 - 7,931,353 1,988,186 12,272,545 8,575,904 30,767,988 

Carrying amount  ₱5,836,879 ₱19,715,429 ₱774,668 ₱1,960,166 ₱1,039,503 ₱29,326,645 
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Management believes that there are no indications of impairment in the value of its bank 

premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment as at December 31, 2021 and 2020.  

 

Depreciation and amortization is recognized under operating expenses in the statements 

of comprehensive income. 

 

In 2021 and 2020, the Bank sold bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment for a 

total consideration of ₱501 and ₱54,000 resulting to a gain on sale amounting to ₱497 and 

₱53,995, respectively (see Note 20). 

 

No bank premises, furniture, fixture and equipment were used as collateral for liabilities as 

at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has no commitment to purchase bank 

premises, furniture, fixture and equipment. 

 

Section 109 of the MORB states that the total investment of a bank in real estate and 

improvements thereon, including bank equipment, shall not exceed fifty percent (50%) 

of the bank’s net worth. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank is compliant with 

such regulation. 

 

10. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (NET) 
 

This account pertains to real properties, such as land, held by the bank for capital 

appreciation. The account also includes real properties foreclosed from delinquent 

borrowers which are held for capital appreciation. 

 

Details of the Bank’s investment properties are as follows: 

 

2021 Land Building Total 

Cost:    

Balance, January 1 ₱4,093,720 ₱720,960 ₱4,814,680 

Additions 2,130,682 1,149,401 3,280,083 

Disposals (1,025,278) (409,344) (1,434,622) 

Write-off – note 21 (457,510) - (457,510) 

 Balance, December 31 4,741,614 1,461,017 6,202,631 

Accumulated depreciation:    

Balance, January 1 - 98,572 98,572 

Depreciation – note 23 - 95,090   95,090 

Disposal - (67,596) (67,596) 

 Balance, December 31    - 126,066 126,066 

 Allowance for impairment loss: 1,161,720 203,474 1,365,194 

   ₱3,579,894 ₱1,131,477 ₱4,711,371 
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2020 Land Building Total 

Cost:    

Balance, January 1 ₱7,860,351 ₱2,174,834 ₱10,035,185 

Additions 783,150 372,506 1,155,656 

Disposals (4,549,781) (1,826,380) (6,376,161) 

Balance, December 31 4,093,720 720,960 4,814,680 

 Accumulated depreciation:    

Balance, January 1 - 821,803 821,803 

Depreciation expense -note 23 - 159,519 159,519 

Disposal - (882,750) (882,750) 

Balance, December 31 -  98,572 98,572 

 Allowance for impairment loss: 1,693,767 389,513 2,083,280 

  ₱2,399,953 ₱232,875 ₱2,632,828 

 

The movement of allowance for impairment loss is as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Balance, January 1 ₱2,083,280 ₱1,471,696 

Additions - 711,586 

Disposals/Reversals (718,086) (100,002) 

 ₱1,365,194 ₱2,083,280 

 

In 2021, the Bank disposed certain investment properties with carrying amount of 

₱207,706 for cash proceeds of ₱457,916, realizing a gain of ₱250,210 (see Note 20). Also, 

certain investment properties with carrying amount of ₱1,159,321 were sold through 

sales contract at selling price of ₱1,950,000, gross of unamortized discount amounting to 

₱363,228, realizing a gain of ₱427,451 (see Note 20). Out of the total selling price, 

₱588,438 were collected in 2021 while the remaining balance of ₱998,333 was included 

as part of sales contract receivable. 

 

In 2020, the Bank disposed certain investment properties with carrying amount of 

₱1,956,611 for cash proceeds of ₱4,139,627, realizing a gain of ₱2,183,016, as disclosed 

in Note 20. Also, certain investment properties with carrying amount of ₱3,536,800 

were sold through sales contract at selling price of ₱9,170,000, gross of unamortized 

discount amounting to ₱1,666,034, realizing a gain of ₱3,967,166, as disclosed in Note 

20. Out of the total selling price, ₱5,572,833 were collected in 2020 while the remaining 

balance of ₱1,931,133 was included as part of sales contract receivable. 

 

The Bank acquired its investment from foreclosure of properties. In 2021 and 2020, 

transaction costs amounting to ₱520,636 and nil, respectively, were incurred in relation to 

foreclosure of properties. 

 

The fair value of unimpaired investment properties with carrying amount of ₱4,711,371, 

and ₱2,632,828, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively amounted to 

₱21,925,757 and ₱12,588,864, is currently categorized within Level 2.  

 

Real estate taxes related to the investment properties amounted to ₱37,335 and ₱44,446 

in 2021 and 2020, respectively and are included in taxes and licenses under operating 

expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 

No amount of investment properties of the Bank has been pledged to secure general 

banking facilities granted to the Bank. 
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11. OTHER ASSETS 

 

This account consists of: 

 

 2021 2020 

Sundry debits ₱10,145,258 ₱1,158,321 

Stationery and supplies on hand 1,051,580 1,034,649 

Accounts receivable 9,112,746 1,974,146 

Prepaid expense 65,052 65,052 

Petty cash fund 9,000 9,000 

Security deposits 450,000 - 

Miscellaneous assets 921,084 788,549 

 21,754,720 5,029,717 

Less: Allowance for credit losses – note 22 1,715,756 1,715,756 

 ₱20,038,964 ₱3,313,961 

 

Sundry debits represent various ATM transactions of the Bank which are not yet received as 

of the cut-off date. Security deposit pertains to services package subscription for automated 

teller machine with a term of one year. 

 

12. DEPOSIT LIABILITIES 

 

This account consists of: 

 

 2021 2020 

Savings deposits ₱717,499,534 ₱ 685,562,889 

Demand deposits 163,384,553 135,195,832 

 ₱880,884,087 ₱820,758,721 

 

Savings earn annual interest rate of 0.50%. Time deposits earn annual interest rate of 

1.5% to 4% in 2021 and 2020. 

 

Total interest expense on deposit liabilities amounted to ₱7,388,474 and ₱9,364,702 in 

2021 and 2020, respectively. Accrued interest on deposit liabilities amounted to 

₱1,445,413 and ₱1,618,650 as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively (see Note 15). 

 

Liquidity and statutory reserve 

 

Per BSP Circular No. 1092, the rates of required reserves against deposits and deposit 

substitute in local currency of rural banks effective July 31, 2020 shall be 2% for demand 

deposits and 2% for savings deposits. 

 

The Bank’s Due from BSP as compared with the reserve requirement is shown below: 

 

 2021 2020 

Due from BSP ₱25,621,607 ₱25,799,179 

Less: 2% reserve requirement  17,617,682   16,415,174  

Excess ₱8,003,925 ₱9,384,005 

 

The Bank is compliant with the BSP reserve requirement as of December 31, 2021 and 

2020. 
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13. BILLS PAYABLE 

 

Movement of the account is as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

At January 1 ₱2,000,000 ₱15,000,000 

Proceeds - 3,000,000 

Payments (2,000,000) (16,000,000) 

At December 31  ₱- ₱2,000,000 

 

On December 31, 2017, the Bank availed rediscounting facilities of Land Bank of the 

Philippines at 4.5% per annum. As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, loans receivable with 

outstanding balance of nil and ₱2,000,000, respectively, were used as collateral for bills 

payable, as disclosed in Note 8. 

 

Interest expense on bills payable for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

amounted to ₱1,333 and ₱473,861, respectively. 

 

14. DEPOSIT FOR FUTURE STOCKS SUBSCRIPTIONS 

 

In 2018, the Bank received cash from stockholders which the Bank recognized as deposit 

for future stocks subscription under liabilities in the statement of financial position since, 

the requirements under paragraph 11 of PAS 32 and Financial Reporting Bulletin No. 6 

– 2012, as amended, were not met for it to be recognized as equity. 

 

The Bank signified its intent to increase its capitalization through a special joint meeting 

of directors and stockholders held on February 13, 2019 wherein the Board of Directors 

has approved an increase of authorized shares to 1,000,000 with par value of ₱100, 

divided into 975,000 common shares and 25,000 preferred shares. As of December 31, 

2021, the Bank is still in the process of completing the required documents before 

submitting its application to SEC. 

 

In 2021 and 2020, additional subscription amounting to ₱3,980,825 and ₱2,369,775 was 

received, respectively. The balance of deposit for stocks subscription as of December 31, 

2021 and 2020 amounted to ₱9,481,700 and ₱5,500,875, respectively. 

 

15. ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES 

 

This account consists of: 

 

 2021 2020 

Accrued expenses ₱3,062,732 ₱2,655,852 

Accrued interest expense – note 12 1,445,413 1,618,650 

Accounts payable 1,188,471 1,424,155 

Deposit for redemption 911,000 851,000 

Withholding tax payable 318,863 655,387 

Due to Treasurer of the Philippines 340,485 340,485 

SSS, Philhealth and HDMF contribution 187,264 181,580 

Due to Philippine Crop Insurance Corporation 106,474 106,474 

Sundry credit 927,577 285,412 

  ₱8,488,279 ₱8,118,995 

 

Accrued expenses include accrual of salaries and employee benefits, professional fees 

and utilities. 
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Accounts payable represents various expenses incurred by the Bank for its own account 

and the third parties arising from short term indebtedness/obligations such as insurance, 

notarial and others which still outstanding at the cut-off/reporting date. 

 

Sundry credits represent various ATM transactions of the Bank which are not yet 

settled as of the cut-off date. 

 

16. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION 

 

The Bank has a funded and non-contributory defined benefit plan covering all regular and 

full-time permanent employees. Benefits are based on the employee’s years of service and 

final plan salary. The fund is administered by a trustee bank. The retirement plan meets 

the minimum retirement benefit specified under RA No. 7641, The Philippine 

Retirement Pay Law. The present value of the retirement liability under the plan is 

measured in terms of actuarial assumptions of mortality, investment yield and salary 

increase rates. The present value of the retirement benefit obligation, and the related 

current service cost and past service costs were measured using the projected unit credit 

method. 

 

Actuarial valuations are made every year to update the retirement benefit obligation or 

more frequently if factors indicate a material change in the assumptions. 

 

In determining the amounts of the defined benefit post-employment obligation, the 

following significant actuarial assumptions were used: 

 

The assumptions used to determine retirement benefits of the Bank are as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Discount rate 5.01% 3.98% 

Salary rate increase 3.00% 3.00% 

 

The amount of retirement benefit obligation recognized in the statements of financial 

position as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are determined as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Present value of defined benefit obligation ₱21,811,042 ₱25,143,341 

Fair value of plan assets (13,575,149) (12,139,230) 

Present value of unfunded obligation  ₱8,235,893 ₱13,004,111 

 

Movements in the present value of unfunded obligation for the years ended December 

31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Balance as at January 1 ₱13,004,111 ₱9,862,309 

Retirement benefits cost in profit or loss 2,464,390 2,166,397 

Remeasurement loss (gain) in OCI (2,033,616) 2,835,812 

Contributions (2,220,312) (1,638,710) 

Benefits paid directly from book reserve (2,978,680) (221,697) 

Balance as at December 31  ₱8,235,893 ₱13,004,111 
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Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation for the years ended 

December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Balance, January 1 ₱25,143,341 ₱21,316,916 

Current service cost 1,963,758 1,667,101 

Interest expense 1,000,705 1,112,743 

Benefits paid directly from book reserve (2,978,680) (221,697) 

Benefits paid from plan asset (1,369,493) (1,044,200) 

Actuarial (gain) loss – changes in financial 

assumptions 
(2,947,657) 3,497,684 

Actuarial (gain) loss – experience 1,000,327 (1,185,206) 

Actuarial (gain) – changes in demographic 

assumptions 
(1,259) - 

Balance, December 31  ₱21,811,042 ₱25,143,341 

 

Movements in fair value of plan assets for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

are as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Balance, January 1 ₱12,139,230 ₱11,454,607 

Contributions 2,220,312 1,638,710 

Interest income 500,073 613,447 

Benefits paid from plan asset (1,369,493) (1,044,200) 

Remeasurement gain (loss) – return on plan assets 85,027 (523,334) 

Balance, December 31  ₱13,575,149 ₱12,139,230 

 

Retirement benefit expense recognized in profit or loss is as follows (see Note 21): 

 

 2021 2020 

Current service cost ₱1,963,758 ₱1,667,101 

Interest on defined benefit obligation 1,000,705 1,112,743 

Interest income on plan assets (500,073) (613,447) 

 ₱2,464,390 ₱2,166,397 

 

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI) in respect of these retirement 

benefit plans are as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Actuarial (gain) loss – DBO (₱1,948,589) ₱2,312,478 

Remeasurement (gain) loss – plan assets (85,027) 523,334 

Defined benefit cost in OCI – expense  (₱2,033,616) ₱2,835,812 

 

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income were included within items that 

will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. 

 

Cumulative (gain) loss recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI) – net of tax are 

as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Beginning balance ₱4,161,614 ₱2,176,546 

Actuarial (gain) loss – DBO (1,948,589) 2,312,478 

Remeasurement (gain) loss – plan assets (85,027) 523,334 

Deferred tax effect 508,404 (850,744) 

Cumulative actuarial loss – net of tax  ₱2,636,402 ₱4,161,614 
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Allocation of plan assets (%) is as follow: 

 

 2021 2020 

Cash and cash equivalents 0.05% 0.13% 

Equity instruments 0.00% 0.00% 

Debt instruments – government bonds 58.27% 70.92% 

Debt instruments – other bonds 2.19% 2.68% 

Unit investment trust funds 36.71% 22.15% 

Other 2.78% 4.12% 

Total 100% 100% 

 

The Retirement Trust Fund assets are valued by the fund manager at fair value using 

market-to-market valuation. While no significant changes in asset allocation are expected 

in the next financial year, the Retirement Plan Trustee may make changes at any time. 

 

Expected contribution to the fund in the next financial year is as follow: 

 

 2021 2020 

Expected contribution in the next financial year  ₱2,400,000 ₱1,638,710 

 

Maturity analysis: 10-year projection of expected future benefits payments is as follow: 

 

 2021 2020 

Year 1 ₱885,999 ₱1,510,706 

Year 2 364,905 865,420 

Year 3 3,210,774 363,378 

Year 4 1,102,084 3,081,461 

Year 5 426,203 1,094,460 

Year 6 – 10 14,460,695 12,853,088 

 

Below shows the sensitivity analysis determined based on reasonably possible changes 

of each significant assumptions stated above, assuming all other assumptions were held 

constant: 

 

  

Increase/Decrease 

in assumption 

Impact on retirement 

benefit obligation 

Principal assumptions 2021 2020 

Discount rate +1% (₱2,378,473) (₱2,879,672) 

 -1% 2,853,497 3,462,216 

Salary increase rate +1% 2,883,918 3,461,486 

 -1% (2,442,482) (2,930,634) 

 

The above sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all 

other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of 

the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating sensitivity of the defined benefit 

obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the 

defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of 

the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the retirement liability 

recognized within the statements of financial position. 

 

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not 

change compared to the previous period. 
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Through its defined benefit retirement plan, the Bank is exposed to a number of risks, the 

most significant of which are as follows: 

 

a. Asset volatility – The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with 

reference to government bonds, if plan assets underperformed this yield, this will 

create a deficit. Most of the assets of the plan are equities, which are expected to 

outperform government bonds in the long-term while providing volatility and risk in 

the short-term. 

 

b. Changes in bond yield – A decrease in government bond yields will increase plan 

liabilities, although this will be partially offset by an increase in the value of the 

plans’ bond holdings. 

 

17. CAPITAL STOCK 

 

Preferred Stock 

 

Shown below are the details on preferred stock: 

 

2021 2020 

 Shares Amount Shares Amount 

Authorized capital     

at ₱100 par value 25,000 ₱2,500,000 25,000 ₱2,500,000 

 

The preference share capital of the Bank gives priority in the distribution of the assets of 

the Bank in case of liquidation. As to dividends, preferred shares are entitled to receive 

dividends on the said shares to the extent agreed upon before any dividends at all are 

paid to ordinary shareholders. Preferred shares are non-cumulative and non-participating. 

As to voting rights, preference shareholders are not entitled to vote in the normal course 

of business and decision making of the Bank except as those provided in Section X of the 

Corporation Code of the Philippines. No preference shares were issued as of December 

31, 2021 and 2020. Preferred share shall be issued only against government investment 

in the capital stock of the Bank. 

 

Common Stock 

 

Shown below are the details on the movement of common stock: 

 

2021 2020 

 Shares Amount Shares Amount 

Authorized capital     

  at ₱100 par value  475,000 ₱47,500,000 475,000 ₱47,500,000 

Issued and fully paid     

at ₱100 par value 475,000 ₱47,500,000 475,000 ₱47,500,000 

 

Ordinary shares carry one (1) vote per share and a right to dividends. 

 

Capital Management 

 

The primary objectives of the Bank’s capital management are to ensure the ability of the 

Bank to have sufficient capital to underpin the Bank’s risk-taking activities, to continue 

as a going concern, to maintain a strong credit rating and quality capital adequacy ratios, 

to ensure compliance with BSP regulations and to provide reasonable returns and 

benefits to shareholders. 
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The Bank manages its capital structure, which composed of paid-up capital and surplus 

reserve, and makes adjustments to these ratios in light of changes in economic conditions 

and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 

structure, the Bank may adjust the amount of dividend payment to shareholders, return 

capital structure or issue capital securities. 

 

Under the current banking regulations, the qualifying capital accounts of the Bank 

should not be less than an amount equal to ten percent (10%) of its risk-weighted assets. 

The qualifying capital of the Bank for purposes of determining the capital-to-risk assets is 

total capital funds excluding: 

 

(a) unbooked valuation reserves and other capital adjustments as may be required by the 

BSP; 

(b) total outstanding unsecured credit accommodations to DOSRI; 

(c) deferred tax asset; 

(d) goodwill, if any; 

(e) sinking fund for redemption of redeemable preferred stock; and 

(f) other regulatory deductions. 

 

Risk assets consists of total assets after exclusion of cash on hand, due from BSP, loans 

covered by hold-out on or assignment of deposits, loans or acceptances under letters of 

credit to the extent covered by margin deposits, and other non-risk items as determined 

by the Monetary Board of the BSP. 

 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank is in compliance with the current banking 

regulation. 

 

The regulatory capital is analyzed into two tiers which are Tier 1 Capital plus Tier 2 

Capital less allowable deductions from the total of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital. 

 

Tier 1 Capital and Tier 2 are defined as follows: 

 

a. Tier 1 Capital includes the following: 

i. paid up common stock 

ii. surplus, 

iii. surplus reserves, and 

iv. undivided profits 

 

Subject to deductions for: 

i. deferred income tax 

 

b. Tier 2 Capital includes: 

i. general loan loss provision 

 

Under the existing BSP regulations, the determination of the Bank’s compliance with 

regulatory requirements and ratios is based on the amount of the Bank’s unimpaired 

capital regulatory capital reported to the BSP, determined on the basis of regulatory 

accounting policies, which differ from PFRS in some respects.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Notes to Financial Statements 

Page - 48 

 

 

Information regarding the Bank’s “unimpaired capital” as of December 31, 2021 and 

2020 is shown below. 

 

 2021 2020 

Core Tier 1 Capital – gross ₱147,591,179 ₱137,966,222 

Less: Regulatory adjustments to Core Tier 1 10,595,232 10,595,230 

Core Tier 1 Capital – net 136,995,947 127,370,992 

Add: Hybrid Tier 1 - - 

Tier 1 Capital 136,995,947 127,370,992 

Tier 2 Capital 5,175,226 3,971,217 

 Total qualifying capital  ₱142,171,173 ₱131,342,209 

 Total risk-weighted assets  ₱903,061,041 ₱886,374,463 

 Tier 1 capital ratio  15.17% 14.37% 

 Total capital adequacy ratio  15.74% 14.82% 

 

In addition, Section 127 and Appendix 62 of the MORB discusses the guidelines 

implementing the risk-based capital adequacy framework for stand-alone thrift banks, 

rural banks and cooperative banks. The said framework was amended by BSP Circular 

No. 1079 dated March 9, 2021 and BSP Circular No. 1084 dated April 28, 2020 to 

strengthen the quality of capital of the covered entities by the introduction of other 

capital requirements such as the Common Equity Tier (CET) 1 ratio in addition to the 

existing minimum CAR of 10%. The CET1 ratio is calculated by dividing CET1 capital 

by total risk- weighted assets. 

 

The implementation of the enhanced capital standards, which include the CET1 ratio, to 

the aforementioned banks will take effect on January 1, 2023. 

 

The Bank’s leverage ratio, computed as total capital over total assets, is 13.84% and 

13.58%, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

 

18. SURPLUS 

 

Surplus – Free 

 

The table below shows the retained earnings free for the year: 

 

 2021 2020 

Retained earnings – free, beginning, as previously 

reported 
₱76,188,762 ₱66,577,390 

Prior period adjustment – note 27 (41,691) (28,448) 

Retained earnings – free, beginning, as restated 76,147,071 66,548,942 

Profit 11,092,751 11,425,589 

Reversal of appropriation 537,167 172,540 

Cash dividends declared – note 19  - (2,000,000) 

Balance, December 31  ₱87,776,989 ₱76,147,071 

 

The Bank’s retained earnings is not subject and is exempt from the provision of 

improperly accumulated earnings tax as provided under Section 29 of National Internal 

Revenue Code of the Philippines and as implemented by Revenue Regulation No. 02-

2001, and Section 34 Republic Act No. 8791 requiring banks to maintain a specific 

minimum Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR). 
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Surplus – Reserves 

 

The surplus reserves pertain to reserve set aside by Bank for contingencies and corporate 

responsibilities for the next five (5) years. 

 

The movements in surplus reserves are as follows: 

 

 20212 2021 2020 

Surplus reserves, beginning ₱ 14,277,460 ₱14,277,460 ₱14,450,000 

Reversal of appropriation (537,167) (537,167) (172,540) 

 ₱13,740,293 ₱14,277,460 

 

The reversal of appropriation in 2021 and 2020 pertained to donations to areas affected 

by typhoons and expenditures related to COVID-19 health measures. 

 

19. DIVIDENDS DECLARED 

 

Under Section 124 of the MORB, the liability for dividends declared shall be taken up in 

the bank’s books upon its declaration. However, for dividend declarations that are subject 

to prior BSP verification, the liability for dividends declared shall be taken up in the 

bank’s books upon receipt of BSP’s advice thereof. A memorandum entry may be made 

to record the dividend declaration on the date of approval by the board of directors. 

 

On August 25, 2020, the Bank, through Board Resolution No. SBM20210825-01, declared 

cash dividend amounting to ₱2,000,000 to its ordinary shareholders on record as of 

December 31, 2019. This was also paid on year 2020. 

 

There was no declaration of cash dividend in 2021. The management plans to apply for 

increase in authorized capital stock in 2022 and declare stock dividends. 

 

20. OTHER INCOME 

 

This account consists of the following: 

 

 2021 2020 

Recovery on charged-off assets ₱9,562,335 ₱768,940 

Gain from disposal of investment properties – note 10 677,661 6,150,182 

Service charge 519,093 236,627 

Payment services 117,188 88,311 

Intermediation services 84,895 30,065 

Gain from sale of BPFFE – note 9 497 53,995 

Miscellaneous income 8,235,847 1,721,853 

 ₱19,197,516 ₱9,049,973 

 

Recovery on charged off assets pertains to recoveries from previously written-off 

accounts and those accounts with allowance for losses. 

 

Miscellaneous income pertains to filing fees and income from bills payments. 
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21. OPERATING EXPENSES 

 

Details of operating expenses are shown below: 

 

 2021 

2020 (As 

restated – 

 Note 28) 

Compensation and fringe benefits ₱28,230,372 ₱26,302,778 

Taxes and licenses 7,482,528 6,741,459 

Depreciation and amortization – note 23 3,224,804 4,160,628 

Insurance 2,264,336 2,130,840 

Security, messengerial and janitorial services 1,597,290 1,613,610 

Information technology expense 1,336,901 1,287,297 

Power, light and water 1,158,225 1,104,204 

Fuel and lubricants 1,081,590 828,605 

Representation and entertainment 904,612 831,157 

Litigation expense 765,711 671,525 

Fines and penalties 666,348 - 

Management and other professional fees 598,613 794,117 

Write-off – notes 10 and 22            568,650  - 

Repairs and maintenance expense 565,996 498,238 

Postage, telephone, cable and telegrams 512,537 496,399 

Advertising and publicity 394,834 366,868 

Stationery and supplies used 352,553 435,231 

Travel expense 329,960 529,193 

Supervision fees 161,372 160,555 

Donation and charitable contributions 93,566 309,236 

Interest on lease liability – note 27 44,538 62,034 

Membership fees and dues 28,561 334,394 

Miscellaneous expense 2,393,565 1,894,710 

 ₱54,757,462 ₱51,553,078 

 

Miscellaneous expense pertains to expenses incurred in staff trainings, meetings and 

conferences, auxiliary collection fees, team building and other expenses. 

 

Compensation and fringe benefits consists of: 

 

 2021 2020 

Salaries and wages ₱18,791,994 ₱17,692,059 

Other fringe benefits 3,743,774 3,674,907 

Retirement benefits – note 16 2,464,390 2,166,397 

Government contributions 1,670,214 1,429,415 

Directors’ fee 1,560,000 1,340,000 

 ₱28,230,372 ₱26,302,778 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Notes to Financial Statements 

Page - 51 

 

 

 

22. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES 

 

Allowance for credit losses is comprised of the following: 

 
2021 Loans and 

receivables 

Sales contract 

receivables 

Accounts 

receivable 

 

Total 

Balance, January 1 ₱27,549,693 ₱3,717,977 ₱1,715,756 ₱32,983,426 

Provision 17,752,036 - - 17,752,036 
Write-off – note 21 (111,140) - - (111,140) 

Reversal (8,155,669) - - (8,155,669) 

Transfer (3,200,000) - - (3,200,000) 

Balance, December 31 ₱33,834,920 ₱3,717,977 ₱1,715,756 ₱39,268,653 

 
2020 Loans and 

receivables 

Sales contract 

receivables 

Accounts 

receivable 

 

Total 

Balance, January 1 ₱28,498,015 ₱760,645 ₱1,733,130 ₱30,991,790 

Provision 1,261,549 2,957,332 - 4,218,881 

Write-off (1,210,064) - - (1,210,064) 

Reversal (288,221) - (17,374) (305,597) 

Transfer (711,586) - - (711,586) 

Balance, December 31 ₱27,549,693 ₱3,717,977 ₱1,715,756 ₱32,983,426 

 

23. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION 

 

Breakdown of depreciation and amortization is as follows: 

 

  

2021 

2020 

 -As restated 

Bank premises, furniture, fixtures 

and equipment - note 9 
 

₱2,874,266 

 

₱3,745,661 

Right of use of assets - note 27 255,448 255,448 

Investment properties - note 10 95,090 159,519 

 ₱3,224,804 ₱4,160,628 

 

24. INCOME TAX 

 

Under Philippine tax laws, the bank is subject to percentage and other taxes (included in 

taxes and licenses in the comprehensive income) as well as income taxes. Percentage 

and other taxes paid consist principally of gross receipts tax (GRT) and documentary 

stamp tax. The Bank’s liability will be based on regulations to be issued by tax 

authorities. 

 

Income taxes include the corporate income tax and final tax paid which represents the 

final withholding tax on gross interest income from government securities and other 

deposit substitutes. These income taxes, as well as the deferred tax benefits and 

provisions, are presented as provision for income tax in the statements of income. 

 

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended December 31 are as 

follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Current income tax ₱4,658,958 ₱4,997,750 

Final tax  763,828 634,440 

Deferred tax expense (benefit) 262,948 (878,441) 

 ₱5,685,734 ₱4,753,749 
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The reconciliation of income tax expense computed at the statutory income tax rate to 

income tax expense as shown in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income is 

as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Income before income tax ₱16,778,485 ₱16,179,338 

Tax expense at 25% and 30% for the years 2021 

  and 2020 4,194,621 4,859,478 

Tax effect of: 

Interest income subject to final tax  
 

(954,785) 

 

(1,102,193) 

Effect of change in tax rate on temporary 

differences 
1,768,850 - 

Disallowed interest expense 190,957 363,724 

Non-deductible expense 137,478 3,978 

Others - (5,678) 

 ₱5,337,121 ₱4,119,309 

Final tax 763,828 634,440 

 ₱6,100,949 ₱4,753,749 

 

Corporate Recovery and Tax Incentives for Enterprises (CREATE) Act was signed into law 

on March 26, 2021 and took effect on April 11, 2021 which reduced the RCIT rate from 

30% to 25% or 20% depending on the amount of total assets or total amount of taxable 

income. In addition, the minimum corporate income tax rate (MCIT) was changed from 2% 

to 1% of gross income for a period of three years starting July 1, 2020.  

 

As clarified by Philippine Interpretations Committee Q&A No. 2020-07, the approval of 

CREATE is considered a non-adjusting event for financial reporting purposes as at and for 

the year ended December 31, 2020.  The income tax rates used in preparing the financial 

statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020 are 30% and 2% for RCIT and 

MCIT, respectively. 

 

The effect of the reduction of income tax rates was recognized in 2021 financial statements 

such as follows: 

 

  Amount 

Current income tax expense ₱5,074,173 

Effect of change in tax rate (415,215) 

Current income tax expense as presented in the    

   statements of comprehensive income ₱4,658,958 

 

The Bank’s deferred tax assets, net of deferred tax liability as of December 31, 2021 and 

2020 are as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Deferred tax assets   

Allowance for credit losses  ₱7,770,116 ₱6,693,997 

Retirement benefit obligation 2,058,973 3,901,233 

Lease liability 121,623 225,259 

 9,950,712 10,820,489 

Deferred tax liability   

Right of use asset (108,962) (207,389) 

Net ₱9,841,750 ₱10,613,100 

 

Management believes that the Bank will generate income in the future to which they can 

fully utilize the deferred tax assets. Total unrecognized deferred tax asset on allowance 

for credit losses related to year 2018 and below amounted to ₱3,826,015. 
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25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank has loans and other transactions with certain 

directors, officers, stakeholders and related interests (DOSRI). Under the Bank’s policy, 

these loans and other transactions are made substantially on the terms as with other 

individuals and businesses of comparable risks. 

 

a. DOSRI Loans 

 

The General Banking Act and BSP regulations limit the amount of the loans to each 

DOSRI as follows: 

 

 The individual ceiling for credit accommodations of a bank to each of its 

directors, officers and related interests shall be equivalent to his outstanding 

deposits and book value of his paid-in capital in the lending bank. The unsecured 

credit accommodations to each of the Bank’s directors and officers shall not 

exceed 30% of his total credit accommodations. 

 

 The aggregate ceiling for credit accommodations, whether direct or indirect, to 

directors and officers of a bank shall not exceed 15% of the total loan portfolio 

of the Bank or its combined capital accounts net of deferred income tax, unbooked 

valuation reserves and other capital adjustments required by the BSP, whichever 

is lower. The total unsecured direct and indirect borrowings of directors and 

officers shall not exceed 30% of the aggregate ceiling or the outstanding 

direct/indirect credit accommodations thereto, whichever is lower. 

 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has no DOSRI and other related 

party loans. 

 

b. Deposit liabilities 

 

Deposit liabilities from the Bank’s related parties, which include stockholders, 

amounted to ₱16,313,509 and ₱16,477,156 as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, 

respectively. These are subject to normal banking terms and conditions and are insured 

by PDIC up to ₱500,000 per depositor. The Bank incurs interest expense ranging from 

0.25 to 0.5% per annum in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

 

c. Deposit for future stocks subscription 

 

The Bank has deposit for stocks subscription from its stockholders amounting to 

₱9,481,700 and ₱5,500,875 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively (see Note 

14). 

 

d. Lease of office space 

 

The Bank leases a lot from its president under a 20-year contract for a monthly 

rental of ₱5,000 beginning March 31, 2009, without escalation clause (see Note 27). 

The lease is generally payable in cash on a monthly basis. 

 

e. Remuneration of key management personnel 

 

The remuneration of key management consists of: 

 

 2021 2020 

Short-term employee benefits ₱16,639,513 ₱14,998,965 

Post-employment benefits 2,220,312 1,638,710 

 ₱18,859,825 ₱16,637,675 
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26. NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS – RECONCILIATION OF 

CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

 

The following table shows the reconciliation analysis of liabilities arising from financing 

activities for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 

 

2021 

January 1, 

2021 

 

Cash flows 

Non-cash 

changes 

December 31, 

2021 

Bills payable ₱2,000,000 (₱2,000,000)  ₱- ₱- 

Deposit for stock 

subscription 5,500,875 3,980,825 - 9,481,700 

Lease liability 750,862 (308,908) 44,537 486,491 

Total liabilities from 

financing activities ₱8,251,737 ₱1,671,917 ₱44,537 ₱9,968,191 

 

 

2020 

January 1, 

2020 

 

Cash flows 

Non-cash 

changes 

December 31, 

2020 

Bills payable ₱15,000,000 (₱13,000,000) ₱ – ₱2,000,000 

Deposit for stock 

subscription 

 

3,131,100 

 

2,369,775 

 

– 

 

5,500,875 

Dividends payable – (2,000,000) 2,000,000 – 

Lease liability 987,387 (298,559) 62,034 750,862 

Total liabilities from 

financing activities 

 

₱19,118,487 

 

(₱12,928,784) 

 

₱2,062,034 

 

₱8,251,737 

 

In 2021, cash flows related to bills payable is net of cash inflow amounting to nil and 

cash outflow amounting to ₱2,000,000. 

 

In 2020, cash flows related to bills payable is net of cash inflow amounting to ₱3,000,000 

and cash outflow amounting to ₱16,000,000. 

 

27. LEASES 

 

On July 1, 2017, the Bank entered into a 5-year lease agreement with the owner of the 

building located at National Highway, Bugallon Proper, Ramon, Isabela. The monthly 

rent is ₱14,500 with 5% escalation clause annually. 

 

On March 25, 2018, the Bank entered into a 5-year lease agreement with the owner of a 

building located in Alfonso Lista, Ifugao. The monthly rent is ₱2,500 without an 

escalation clause. 

 

The lease agreement for the lot in San Mateo branch was entered into by the Bank for a 

20-year contract with the President for a monthly rental of ₱5,000 beginning March 31, 

2009, without escalation clause. 
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Prior period adjustment 

 

In 2021, the Bank adopted PFRS 16, Leases which was effective beginning January 1, 

2019. The effects of the adoption of the new standard in the Bank’s statement of financial 

position and statement of comprehensive income are as follows: 

 

  January 1, 2020 

 

As previously 

reported 

Effects of prior 

period adjustment As restated 

Statement of financial position    

Right-of-use asset ₱- ₱946,746 ₱946,746 

Deferred tax asset (net) 8,871,723 12,192 8,883,915 

Lease liability - 987,386 987,386 

Retained earnings 66,577,390 (28,448) 66,548,942 

 

  December 31, 2020 

 

As previously 

reported 

Effects of prior 

period adjustment As restated 

Statement of financial position    

Right-of-use asset ₱- ₱691,298 ₱691,298 

Deferred tax asset (net) 10,595,230 17,870 10,613,100 

Lease liability - 750,862 750,862 

Retained earnings 76,188,762 (41,691) 76,147,071 

Statement of comprehensive income    

   Operating expenses (51,534,155)  (18,923) (51,553,078) 

   Net income 11,438,834 (13,245) 11,425,589 

 

Right-of-Use-Asset 

 

The reconciliation of right-of-use assets recognized from the aforementioned lease 

agreements as at December 31 is as follows: 

 

 2021 
2020 (As 

restated) 

Cost   

Balance at beginning and end of year ₱1,202,194 ₱1,202,194 

Accumulated depreciation   

Balance at beginning of year 510,896 255,448 

Depreciation – note 21 255,448 255,448 

Balance at end of year 766,344 510,896 

Carrying amount ₱435,850 ₱691,298 

 

Lease Liabilities 

 

The movement in lease liabilities as at December 31 is as follows: 

 

 

restated -2021 

2020 (as 

restated) 

Beginning balance- as restated ₱750,862 ₱987,387 

Interest expense – note 21 44,537 62,034 

Payments (308,908) (298,559) 

Ending balance ₱486,491  ₱750,862 
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The Bank had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Not later than one year ₱160,355 ₱259,554 

Later than one year but not later than five years 196,205 323,658 

Later than five years 38,001 70,906 

 ₱394,561 ₱654,118 

 

28. PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS 

 

In the normal course of the Bank’s operations, there are various outstanding commitments 

to extend credit, which are not reflected in the Banking financial statements. Management 

does not anticipate material losses from these commitments. 

 

The Bank filed several legal actions against loan borrowers who defaulted in payment on 

their outstanding loan balance. Management believes that those actions will yield positive 

result in favor of the Bank and does not anticipate material losses. 

 

29. MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

 

The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analyzed according to when they 

are expected to be recovered or settled. 

 

December 31, 2021 

Less than 12 

months 

Over 12 

months Total 

Assets    

Cash and other cash items ₱12,132,020 ₱- ₱12,132,020 

Due from BSP 25,621,607 - 25,621,607 

Due from other banks 282,215,822 - 282,215,822 

Loans and other receivables  221,197,538 366,199,804 587,397,342 

 Investment securities at  

   amortized cost 40,129,516 46,513,929 

 

86,643,445 

Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and 

equipment (net) - 26,875,163 26,875,163 

Investment properties (net) - 4,711,371 4,711,371 

Deferred tax assets (net) - 9,841,750 9,841,750 

Right-of-use assets (net) - 435,850 435,850 

Other assets 20,038,964 - 20,038,964 

Total assets ₱601,335,467 ₱454,577,867 ₱1,055,913,334 

Liabilities    

Deposit liabilities ₱880,884,087 ₱- ₱880,884,087 

Deposits for stock subscription - 9,481,700 9,481,700 

Retirement benefits obligation - 8,235,893 8,235,893 

Accrued and other liabilities 8,488,279 - 8,488,279 

Income tax payable 1,956,004 - 1,956,004 

Lease liability 176,166 310,325 486,491 

Total liabilities ₱891,504,536 ₱18,027,918 ₱909,532,454 
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December 31, 2020 

Less than 12 

months Over 12 months Total 

Assets    

Cash and other items ₱9,235,064 ₱- ₱9,235,064 

Due from BSP 25,799,179 - 25,799,179 

Due from other banks 314,683,148 - 314,683,148 

Loans and receivables  139,519,056 403,936,801 543,455,857 

Investment securities at amortized cost 9,997,345 36,440,291 46,437,636 

Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and 

equipment (net) 

- 29,326,645 29,326,645 

Investment properties (net) - 2,632,828 2,632,828 

Deferred tax assets (net) - 10,613,100 10,613,100 

Right-of-use assets - 691,298 691,298 

Other assets             

3,313,961  - 

           

3,313,961 

Total assets ₱502,547,753 ₱483,640,963 ₱986,188,716 

Liabilities    

Deposit liabilities ₱812,318,880 ₱8,439,841 ₱820,758,721 

Bills payable 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 

Deposits for stock subscription - 5,500,875 5,500,875 

Retirement benefits obligation - 13,004,111 13,004,111 

Accrued and other liabilities 8,118,995 - 8,118,995 

Income tax payable 2,292,235 - 2,292,235 

Lease liability 264,370 486,492 750,862 

Total liabilities ₱824,994,480 ₱27,431,319 ₱852,425,799 

 

30. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REQUIRED UNDER BSP CIRCULAR NO. 

1074 

 

On January 8, 2021, the Monetary Board (MB) amended BSP Circular No. 1074, 

requiring Banks to include the additional information on the following: 

 

(a) Basic Quantitative Indicators of Financial Performance 

 

The key financial performance indicators follow (in %): 

 

 2021 2020 

Return on average equity   

= Net income after tax 7.92% 8.79% 

 Average total equity   

   

Return on average assets   

= Net income after tax 1.09% 1.23% 

 Average total assets   

   

Net interest margin   

= Net interest income 7.53% 7.45% 

 Average interest earning assets   

 

(b) Capital Instruments Issued 

 

Description of capital instrument issued by the Bank is disclosed in Note 17. 
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(c) Significant Credit Exposures 

 

Disclosures as to industry/economic sector are as follows (net of unamortized discount): 

 

2021 2020 

Peso Amount % Peso Amount % 

Agricultural, forestry and fishing ₱256,572,004  41.88% ₱234,033,354 41.73% 

Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 

motor vehicles and motorcycles  167,387,664  27.32% 

 

172,644,909 

 

30.78% 

Real estate activities  50,962,824  8.32% 22,682,945 4.04% 

For household consumption  35,428,077  5.78% 13,035,945 2.32% 

Construction  31,318,418  5.11% 32,857,476 5.86% 

Transportation and storage  21,405,871  3.49% 15,785,264 2.82% 

Accommodation and food service 

activities  15,927,537  2.60% 

 

16,318,077 

 

2.91% 

Education  8,384,237  1.37% 13,294,383 2.37% 

Information and communication  5,384,916 0.88% 13,211,529 2.36% 

Mining and Quarrying  4,505,149  0.74% - 0% 

Manufacturing  4,379,871  0.71% 1,256,977 0.22% 

Professional, scientific and technical 

activities  4,272,589  0.70% 

 

6,631,465 

 

1.18% 

Electricity, gas, steam and air- 

conditioning supply  1,427,555  0.23% 

 

2,180,981 

 

0.39% 

Financial and insurance activities  1,051,245  0.17% 1,373,528 0.24% 

Administrative and support service 

activities  349,217  0.06% 129,293 0.02% 

Human health and social work activities  291,136  0.05% - 0% 

Other service activities  3,609,168  0.59% 15,443,647 2.76% 

Total  ₱612,657,478 100% ₱560,879,773 100% 

 

The BSP considers the concentration of credit exists when the total loan exposure to a 

particular industry or economic sector exceeds 30% of the total loan portfolio or 10% 

of Tier 1 Capital which is equivalent to ₱13,699,595 and ₱12,737,099, as of 

December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

 

In 2021 and 2020, the Bank is exposed to credit risk concentration on agricultural, 

forestry and fishing and wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and 

motorcycles amounting to more than 27.32% and 30% of the total loan portfolio, 

respectively. The Bank is also exposed to credit risk concentration on agricultural, 

forestry and fishing, wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and 

motorcycles, construction, real estate activities, accommodation and food service 

activities, transportation and storage, education, information and communication, for 

household consumption and other service activities amounting to more than 10% of 

Tier 1 Capital. 

 

(d) Information on Related Party Loans 

 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has no DOSRI and other related party 

loans, as disclosed in Note 25. 
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(e) Breakdown of Total Loans 

 

As to Security 

 

As to security, loans are classified into (net of unamortized discount): 

 

 2021 2020 

Secured by real estate mortgage ₱486,455,732 ₱473,092,446 

Secured by chattel mortgage 75,317,049 49,006,018 

Secured by deposit 19,803,658 7,616,971 

Secured 581,576,439 529,715,435 

Unsecured 31,084,185 31,164,338 

 ₱612,660,624 ₱560,879,773 

 

As to Status 

 

Breakdown of loans as to performing and non-performing status per product is as 

follows: 

 

2021 Performing Non-performing Total 

Commercial loan ₱197,410,143 ₱25,091,032 ₱222,501,175 

Farmers loan 145,312,561 21,785,192 167,097,753 

Livestock and poultry 32,810,928 2,421,114 35,232,042 

Truck and equipment 

loan 
31,897,245 2,435,948 34,333,193 

Farm equipment loan 22,276,616 2,897,835 25,174,451 

Real estate loan 23,045,966 - 23,045,966 

Building construction 15,785,090 5,529,678 21,314,768 

Back-to-back loan 19,375,731 - 19,375,731 

Pabahay loan 16,128,632 1,706,129 17,834,761 

Consumer loan 14,859,688 2,545,061 17,404,749 

Financial back-up 13,889,399 2,999,605 16,889,004 

Fringe benefit loan 6,260,860 31,675 6,292,535 

Motorcycle financing 2,416,156 - 2,416,156 

Selfie loan 1,511,246 44,474 1,555,720 

Magsasaka loan 1,034,495 - 1,034,495 

Salary loan 561,289 72,015 633,304 

Hold out loan 427,926 - 427,926 

Motorcycle loan 51,244 - 51,244 

Education 32,769 12,882 45,651 

 ₱545,087,984 ₱67,572,640 ₱612,660,624 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Notes to Financial Statements 

Page - 60 

 

 

2020 Performing Non-performing Total 

Commercial loan ₱219,381,238 ₱24,790,088 ₱244,171,326 

Farmers loan 142,491,478 12,685,819 155,177,297 

Consumer loan 26,664,456 4,404,226 31,068,682 

Livestock and poultry 24,025,473 258,173 24,283,646 

Truck and equipment loan 18,952,518 1,040,303 19,992,821 

Building construction 15,925,214 3,248,052 19,173,266 

Real estate loan 15,900,706 417,665 16,318,371 

Pabahay loan 12,979,502 – 12,979,502 

Farm equipment loan 8,856,566 3,546,127 12,402,693 

Financial back-up 8,553,515 2,780,918 11,334,433 

Back-to-back loan 6,647,414 – 6,647,414 

Fringe benefit loan 3,380,408 210,999 3,591,407 

Selfie loan 1,231,391 44,474 1,275,865 

Hold out loan 969,558 – 969,558 

Motorcycle financing 796,806 – 796,806 

Salary loan 401,619 72,801 474,420 

Magsasaka loan 126,507 – 126,507 

Motorcycle loan 68,729 – 68,729 

Education 27,030 – 27,030 

 ₱507,380,128 ₱53,499,645 ₱560,879,773 

 

(f)  Aggregate Amount of Secured Liabilities and Assets Pledged as Security 

 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, bills payable amounting to nil and 

₱2,000,000, respectively, are secured by pledge of loans receivable with outstanding 

balance of nil and ₱2,000,000, respectively. 

 

(g) Contingencies and Commitments Arising from Off-balance Sheet Items 

 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has contingencies and commitments arising 

from off-balance sheet items as described in Circular No. 1074 as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 

Items held for safekeeping ₱3,271 ₱2,713 

Items held as collateral 854 985 

 ₱4,125 ₱3,698 

 

31. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION UNDER REVENUE REGULATIONS 15 – 

2010 

 

Revenue Regulations (RR) No. 21 – 2002 prescribing additional procedural and/or 

documentary requirements in connection with the preparation and submission of financial 

statements accompanying income tax returns was amended under RR 15 – 2010. The 

amendment that became effective on December 28, 2010 requires the inclusion in the notes 

to financial statements, information on taxes and license fees paid or accrued during the year 

in addition to what is required under the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards and such 

other standards and/or conventions. 

 

Below are the additional information required by RR 15 – 2010. This information is 

presented for purposes of filing with the BIR and is not a required part of the basic financial 

statements. 
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(a) Gross Receipts Tax 

 

In lieu of the Value-Added Tax (VAT), the Bank is subject to Gross Receipt Tax 

(GRT) imposed on all banks and non-bank financial intermediaries pursuant to 

Section 121 of the Tax Code, as amended.  

 

In 2021, the Bank reported total GRT paid amounting to ₱4,699,796. 

 

(b) Withholding Taxes 

 

Withholding taxes paid or accrued for the years ended December 31, 2021 consists of: 

  

Final withholding tax ₱1,391,125 

Withholding tax on compensation 1,273,438 

Expanded withholding tax 321,260 

 ₱2,985,823 

 

(c) Documentary Stamp Tax (DST) 

 

DST incurred by the Bank for the year ended December 31, 2021 amounted to 

₱1,383,569. 

 

(d) All Other National and Local Taxes 

 

All other local and national taxes paid by the Bank and presented as part of operating 

expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 consist of: 

  

Capital gains tax ₱732,000 

Business permit 526,526 

Real property tax 90,599 

Registration fees 24,845 

Annual registration 2,500 

Others 22,693 

 ₱1,399,163 

 

(e) Tax Assessments 

 

In 2021, the Bank settled its 2018 tax assessment amounting to ₱593,848, of which 

₱116,440 pertains to interest. As of December 31, 2021, there are no ongoing tax 

assessments. 

 

Revenue Regulations (RR) No. 34-2020 

 

The Bank is not covered by the requirements and procedures for related party transactions 

provided under RR no. 34-2020, Prescribing the Guidelines and Procedures for the 

Submission of BIR Form No. 1709, Transfer Pricing Documentation (TPD) and other 

supporting documents. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 



 

 

 

SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS 

 

RURAL BANK OF SAN MATEO (ISABELA), INC. 

As of December 31, 2021 

 

Ratio Formula Current Year 
Prior  

Year 

Current ratio Current Assets 67.45% 60.30% 

Current Liabilities 

    

Acid test ratio Quick Assets 40.39% 43.16% 

Current Liabilities 

    

Solvency ratio Net Income + Depreciation and Amortization 1.57% 1.83% 

Total Liabilities 

    

Debt-to-equity ratio Total Liabilities 621.35% 637.27% 

Total Equity 

    

Asset-to-equity ratio Total Assets 721.35% 737.27% 

Total Equity 

    

Interest rate coverage ratio Earnings before Interest and Taxes 327.05% 264.64% 

Interest Expense 

    

Return on equity Net Income 7.92% 8.79% 

Average Total Equity 

    

Return on assets Net Income 1.09% 1.23% 

Average Total Assets 

    

Net profit margin Net Income 14.32% 15.71% 

Revenue 
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